
 

 1 

 

The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 

Committee of the Whole Meeting  

 
January 26, 2026, 3:00 p.m. 
Cultural Centre 
2674 Dunsmuir Avenue 
 
Council Present: Mayor Vickey Brown 
 Councillor Neil Borecky 
 Councillor Troy Therrien 
 Councillor Nick Ward 
  
Regrets: Councillor Sean Sullivan 
  
Staff Present: Michelle Mason, Chief Administrative Officer 
 Courtney Simpson, Director of Development and Bylaw Services 
 Annie Berard, Director of Corporate Services 
 Kevin McPhedran, Director of Community Services 
 Rachel Parker, Corporate Officer 
 Jason Wallace, Manager of Municipal Projects 
 Chris Baker, Manager of Bylaw, Permits and Licencing 
 Mike Williamson, Fire Chief 
Guests: Inspector Scott Mercer, OIC, Comox Valley 
_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

1. Call to Order 

Mayor Brown called the meeting to order at 3:00 p.m. and recognized the unceded 
traditional territory of the K’ómoks First Nation and offered gratitude for the care and 
stewardship of this land since time immemorial.  

2. Agenda 

2.1 Agenda for Committee of the Whole meeting, January 26, 2026 

Moved by: Borecky 
Seconded by: Ward 

THAT the Committee approve the Agenda for the January 26, 2026 Committee of 
the Whole Meeting.  

Carried Unanimously 
 

Page 5 of 422



 

 2 

3. Delegation 

3.1 Comox Valley RCMP- New Detachment Build 

Inspector Mercer reviewed the request for support for a new Comox Valley 
RCMP detachment.  

Discussion took place on the preference for all integrated services to be located 
at the same facility, available funding from local governments,  expectation that a 
new location will be required and possibility of a local government providing 
land.  Discussion further took place on expectation that the building would be 
owned by local government and leased to the RCMP, and may house the 911 call 
centre.  The funding model will be explored with options and costing formulas 
and would be not less that $50+million. Information on the current cost share 
formula will be determined and shared.  

4. Reports 

4.1 Strategic Priorities, Fourth Quarter October to December 2025 

Inspector Mercer reviewed the RCMP quarterly report and the increase to 
property crime and mischief was highlighted and particular problem areas with 
two businesses and two residences. Discussion took place on bike patrol, Lake 
Park incidents, social/health related incidents and new integrated crisis response 
partnership with Island Health, proactive patrols to tackle problem areas.  

Discussion on other department quarterly reports, including new development 
tracker, step code building bylaw, asset management plan, liquid waste 
management plan approval from the Ministry not yet received, Lake park 
damaged shelter in campground area, heavy rain impact on new wastewater 
treatment plant, solid waste cart system review, Nikkei Park landscaping and 
deposits, and bylaw compliance stats.  

5. Question Period 

There were no questions.  

6. Closed Portion 

Moved by: Therrien 
Seconded by: Borecky 

THAT Council close the meeting to the public at 4:32 p.m. pursuant to Section 90(1) of 
the Community Charter to consider:  

• (g) litigation or potential litigation affecting the municipality; 

• (i) the receipt of advice that is subject to solicitor-client privilege, including 
communications necessary for that purpose; 

Page 6 of 422



 

 3 

• (l) discussions with municipal officers and employees respecting municipal 
objectives, measures and progress reports for the purposes of preparing an 
annual report under section 98 [annual municipal report]; 

Carried Unanimously 
 

7. Adjournment 

Moved by: Borecky 
Seconded by: Therrien 

THAT Council adjourn the meeting at 5:19 p.m. 

Carried Unanimously 
 

 
 
_________________________ 

Mayor 

 

_________________________ 

Certified Correct by Corporate Officer 

 

Page 7 of 422



 1 

 

The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 

Regular Council Meeting Minutes 

 
January 26, 2026, 5:30 p.m. 
Cultural Centre 
2674 Dunsmuir Avenue 
 
Council Present: Mayor Vickey Brown 
 Councillor Neil Borecky 
 Councillor Troy Therrien 
 Councillor Nick Ward 
  
Regrets: Councillor Sean Sullivan 
  
Staff Present: Michelle Mason, Chief Administrative Officer 
 Courtney Simpson, Director of Development and Bylaw Services 
 Annie Berard, Director of Corporate Services 
 Kevin McPhedran, Director of Community Services 
 Rachel Parker, Corporate Officer 
 Joel Clarkston, Engineering Technologist 
_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

1. Call To Order 

Mayor Brown called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. and recognized the unceded 
traditional territory of the K’ómoks First Nation and offered gratitude for the care and 
stewardship of this land since time immemorial.  

2. Agenda 

2.1 Agenda for Regular Council Meeting, January 26, 2026 

Motion  26-024 

Moved by: Borecky 
Seconded by: Therrien 

THAT Council approve the agenda for the January 26, 2026 Regular Council 
Meeting.  

Carried Unanimously 
 

3. Minutes 

3.1 Adoption of Minutes 

Page 8 of 422



Regular Council minutes January 26, 2026 

 2 

Motion  26-025 

Moved by: Therrien 
Seconded by: Ward 

THAT Council adopt the following minutes:  

• Regular Council Meeting, January 12, 2026 

Carried Unanimously 
 

4. Delegations 

None 

5. Correspondence 

5.1 Comox Valley RCMP - New Detachment Build 

Motion  26-026 

Moved by: Borecky 
Seconded by: Therrien 

THAT Council receive the correspondence from Inspector Scott Mercer regarding 
letter of support request for new detachment and direct staff to write a letter of 
support. 

Carried Unanimously 
 

6. Unfinished Business 

7. Reports 

7.1 2025 Roads and Utilities Capital Works Tender Results  

Motion  26-027 

Moved by: Ward 
Seconded by: Therrien 

THAT Council approve the award of the 2025 Roads and Utilities Capital Works 
Tender to Knappett Industries in the amount of $1,769,929.00 (excluding GST); 
and  THAT Council Authorize the Chief Administration Officer to execute the 
contract; 

THAT Council approve an additional funding of $701,600 for a total expenditure 
of $2,088,700 for the 2025 Roads and Utilities Capital Works, to be funded 
through: 

• $1,085,500 from Linear Asset Renewal Reserve 

Page 9 of 422



Regular Council minutes January 26, 2026 

 3 

• $705,000 from Community Works Fund 

• $200,000 from Growing Communities Fund 

• $87,400 from DCC – Water 

• $10,800 from other revenue; and 

THAT Council approve changing the funding for the CRI roof repairs and / or 
replacement project included in the 2026 budget to have $200,000 funded from 
the Facility Asset Renewal Reserve instead of the Growing Communities Fund; 
and 
 
THAT Council direct staff to bring forward an amendment to the adopted 2026-
2030 Financial Plan Bylaw to reflect these expenditures and funding 
reallocations. 

Carried Unanimously 
 

8. Bylaws 

8.1 Zoning Bylaw No. 1238, 2025 – Third Reading  

Motion  26-028 

Moved by: Ward 
Seconded by: Borecky 

THAT Council amend proposed Zoning Bylaw No. 1238, 2025 in Table 9.6(2) "End-
of-Trip Facility Requirements," row "Dwelling Units Hostel Hotel Motel", in 
column “Number of Long-Term Bicycle Parking Spaces” in the second row to 
change from "4-15" to "7-15", to which footnote 1 applies.  

Carried Unanimously 
 

Motion  26-029 

Moved by: Ward 
Seconded by: Therrien 

THAT Council amend proposed Zoning Bylaw No. 1238, 2025 in Table 9.6(2) "End-
of-Trip Facility Requirements," row "Dwelling Units Hostel Hotel Motel", in 
column "Number of Long-Term Bicycle Parking Spaces" in the first row from "0-3" 
to read "0-6". 

Carried Unanimously 
 

Motion  26-030 

Page 10 of 422



Regular Council minutes January 26, 2026 

 4 

Moved by: Therrien 
Seconded by: Borecky 

THAT Council amend proposed Zoning Bylaw No. 1238, 2025:  
 
a.    in Section 4 Definitions, to the definition of Cultural and Community Services, 
by adding “Indigenous services” after “community halls,” and before “social 
clubs”; 
b.    in Section 4 Definitions, to the definition of Lot Line, delete substitute Figure 
4-4. Lot Lines with the following:  

 

c.    in Section 4 Definitions, add the following definition in alphabetical order: 
“LOT LINE, CORNER CUT-OFF means a lot line that is common to a lot and the 
intersection of two highways.”; 
d.    in Section 4 Definitions, substitute the definition of “Lot Line, Exterior Side” 
with the following: “means a lot line abutting a highway other than a lane, which 
that is not the front, or rear, or corner cut-off lot line.”; 
e.    in Section 4 Definitions, to the definition of Lot Line, Front, add “,excluding 
the corner cut-off lot line,” after “line” and before “shall”; 
f.    in Section 4 Definitions, to the definition of Lot Line, Side, add “corner cut-
off” after “rear,” and before “or exterior”; 
g.    in Section 4 Definitions, to the definition of Lot Width, substitute Figure 4-5. 
Lot Width with the following:  

 

h.    in Section 4 Definitions, delete the definition of Sign, Real Estate; 
i.    in Table 5.4(1) and all subsequent tables in this Bylaw, substitute the word 
“footnote” with “conditions”; 
j.    in Table 5.4(1), to condition 11, delete “cantilevered”, and add “and 

Page 11 of 422



Regular Council minutes January 26, 2026 

 5 

cantilevered” at the end of the sentence;  
k.    in Table 6.5(2) Home Occupation Regulations, add new condition 1 as follows 
and renumber the subsequent conditions, and the reference numbers in the 
table, accordingly: 
 
“Where there are two or fewer dwelling units on a lot, a home occupation may: 

 
•    be conducted within a dwelling unit or accessory building; 
•    occupy 50.0 m2 or 25% of the GFA of all buildings on the lot, 
whichever is less; 
•    employ a maximum of one non-resident employee; and 
•    allow for a maximum of two clients at any given time.” 

 
l.    in Table 6.5(2) Home Occupation Regulations, condition 5, by adding the word 
“out” after “carried” and before “in”; 
m.    in section 9.3 Location, Siting, Dimension, and Design standards, so 
subsection (5), insert “parking” after “no” and before “or loading”; 
n.    in Table 9.4.1(1) Parking Requirements – Village Core, by substituting Table 
9.4.1(1) with the following:  

Page 12 of 422



Regular Council minutes January 26, 2026 

 6 

 

o.    in Table 9.4.1(2) Parking Requirements – All Other Areas, to the “Care 
Facility, Child” row, by substituting “greater” with “lesser”, and to the “Recreation 
Services, Indoor”, by substituting “10.0” with “7.0”; 
p.    in Section 9.5 Bicycle Parking, subsection (5), substitute the reference to 
“Table 9.5.(5)” with “Table 9.5(6)”; 
q.    in Table 9.5(4) Minimum Standards for Bicycle Parking, by deleting “a 
hydraulic” and replacing it with “an assisted”, and in the row labelled “Location”, 
by adding “Where seven or more long-term bicycle parking spaces are required,” 
before “must have an entry door that is a minimum width of 0.9 metres”; 
r.    in Table 9.5(6) Bicycle Parking Requirements, to the rows labelled “Cultural 
and Community Services”, “Education Services”, “Entertainment Facility”, “Food 
Services”, “Gas Station”, “Health Services”, “Licensed Premises”, “Personal 
Services”, and “Retail Sales”, substitute “6.0” with “2.0”; 
s.    in Table 10.2(1), footnote 2, by deleting “but not limited to”, by deleting 
“hogs”, and adding “but specifically excluding hogs, pigs, and peacocks” after 
“rabbits” and before the period, and by adding new condition 6 as follows 
“Subject to the secondary suite regulations prescribed in Section 6.8 of this 
Bylaw.”;  
t.    in Table 10.5(1), footnote 3, by adding “for one dwelling unit” after “setback” 

Table 9.4.1(1) Parking Requirements – Village Core 

Use Minimum Number of 
Parking Spaces 

Maximum Number of 
Parking Spaces 

RESIDENTIAL AND RESIDENTIAL-RELATED USES 

Principal 
Dwelling Units 

One detached dwelling unit 
1.0 space per dwelling unit 

Two attached dwelling units 

Three or more attached 
dwelling units 

0.8 spaces per dwelling 
unit 

1.2 spaces per dwelling 
unit 

Secondary  
Dwelling Units 

Secondary Suites 1.0 space per dwelling unit 

Home 
Occupation 

Minor 
n/a 

n/a 

Short-Term Rental 
Accommodation 

0.6 spaces per sleeping 
unit 

ALL OTHER USES 

Care Facility, Child n/a 

Care Facility, Community n/a 

Cultural and Community Services n/a 

Education Services n/a 

Entertainment Facility n/a 

Farmer’s Market n/a 

Food Services n/a 

Health Services n/a 

Hostel | Hotel | Motel 

0.8 spaces per sleeping 
unit, plus  

parking space 
requirements of any 

ancillary uses  

1.5 spaces per sleeping 
unit, plus  

parking space 
requirements of any 

ancillary uses 

Page 13 of 422



Regular Council minutes January 26, 2026 

 7 

and before “is 2.0 metres”;  
u.    in Table 11.2(1) Permitted Uses, to the row for Veterinary Service, by 
removing the condition 12. 
v.    in Table 11.2(1) Permitted Uses, to the list of conditions by: 

 
 
i.    Adding new condition 15 as follows, and renumbering the subsequent 
conditions and the reference numbers in the table accordingly: “Subject 
to the mobile vending regulations prescribed in Section 6.6 of this Bylaw.”, 
and further, that this condition is added the “Mobile Vending” row in this 
table; 
ii.    adding new condition 18 as follows and renumbering the subsequent 
conditions and the reference numbers in the table accordingly: “Subject 
to the cannabis retail regulations prescribed in Section 6.3 of this Bylaw.” 
and further, that this condition is added to the “Retail, Cannabis” row in 
this table. 
iii.    adding new condition 22 as follows and renumbering the subsequent 
conditions and the reference numbers in the table accordingly: “Subject 
to the secondary suite regulations prescribed in Section 6.8 of this Bylaw.” 
and further, that this condition is added to the “Secondary Suite” row in 
this table; 

 

w.    in Table 12.2(1) Permitted Uses, to the list of conditions by:  

 
 
i.    adding new condition 4 as follows and renumbering the subsequent 
conditions and the reference numbers in the table accordingly: “Subject 
to the mobile vending regulations prescribed in Section 6.6 of this Bylaw.”, 
and further, that this condition is added the “Mobile Vending” row in this 
table; 
ii.    adding new condition 5 as follows and renumbering the subsequent 
conditions and the reference numbers in the table accordingly: “Subject 
to the refuse disposal facility regulations prescribed in Section 6.7 of this 
Bylaw.”, and further, that this condition is added the “Refuse Disposal 
Facility” row in this table; 
 

 
x.    in Table 13.2(1) Permitted Uses, to the list of conditions by adding new 
condition 4 as follows and renumbering the subsequent conditions and the 
reference numbers in the table accordingly: “Subject to the mobile vending 
regulations prescribed in Section 6.6 of this Bylaw.”, and further, that this 
condition is added the “Mobile Vending” row in this table; 

Page 14 of 422



Regular Council minutes January 26, 2026 

 8 

y.    in Part 15 Interchange Zones, by substituting Figure 15-1. Interchange Zones 
and Sub-Areas with the following:  

 

z.    in Table 15.2(1) Permitted Uses, to the list of conditions by adding new 
condition 11 as follows and renumbering the subsequent conditions and the 
reference numbers in the table accordingly: “Subject to the secondary suite 
regulations prescribed in Section 6.8 of this Bylaw.” and further, that this 
condition is added to the “Secondary Suite” row in this table; and 
aa.    in the table of contents titled “Contents”, page numbers are updated as 
needed as a result of the amendments to the bylaw; and 

THAT Council give third reading to Zoning Bylaw No. 1238, 2025 as amended; and 

THAT Council submit Zoning Bylaw No. 1238, 2025 to the Minister of 
Transportation and Transit for approval. 

Carried Unanimously 
 

9. New Business 

None 

Page 15 of 422



Regular Council minutes January 26, 2026 

 9 

10. Notices, Motions and Announcements 

Matters considered here may include notices or motions to hold a meeting of the 
Committee of the Whole, a Village Hall meeting, a Public Hearing, and noticed of motion 
introduced by a Council Member. Check cumberland.ca/meetings to confirm meetings. 

• Notice of Motion:  Councillor Therrien gives notice that the following motion will 
be introduced for Council debate and consideration at the meeting of February 
9, 2026: That Council amend the Open Meeting Video Recording Policy in section 
2 to read: 

2.  Open Council meetings and open Committee of the Whole meetings will be 
recorded and live streamed through a link on cumberland.ca, the Village of 
Cumberland website; 
And to delete section 2.1. 

• Village Hall, February 2, 2026 at 7:00 p.m. in the Cultural Centre 

11. Question Period 

A question was received on the Zoning Bylaw.  

12. Closed Portion 

Motion  26-031 

Moved by: Therrien 
Seconded by: Ward 

THAT Council close the meeting at 6:37 p.m. to the public pursuant to Section 90 of the 
Community Charter to consider:  

• (2) (d) a matter that, under another enactment, is such that the public must be 
excluded from the meeting. 

• (l)discussions with municipal officers and employees respecting municipal 
objectives, measures and progress reports for the purposes of preparing an 
annual report under section 98 [annual municipal report]. 

  

Carried Unanimously 
 

13. Adjournment 

Motion  26-032 

Moved by: Therrien 
Seconded by: Borecky 

THAT Council adjourn the meeting at 7:47 p.m. 

Page 16 of 422



Regular Council minutes January 26, 2026 

 10 

Carried Unanimously 
 

 
 
_________________________ 

Mayor 

 

_________________________ 

Certified Correct by Corporate Officer 

 

Page 17 of 422



Page 1 of 3 
 

The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 
Heritage Committee 

December 4, 2025 at 4:00 p.m. 
Masonic Hall, 2687 Dunsmuir Avenue, Cumberland, BC 

Members Present:  Meaghan Cursons, Chair 
Eric Pattison 

   Marianne Bell   
   Lois Harris 
   Hugh McLean 
   Councilor Neil Borecky 
  
Regrets:    Kaili Zevenbergen 

Staff:  Jasmeen Kaur Sidu, Planning Technician 
Karin Albert, Senior Planner 
Courtney Simpson, Director of Development and Bylaw Services  

  
 
The chair called the meeting to order at 4:06pm. 

1. Approval of Agenda 

Moved by: Harris 
Seconded by: Borecky 

THAT the agenda for December 4, 2025 be approved. 

Carried Unanimously 

2. Minutes 

Moved by: Harris 
Seconded by: Borecky 
THAT the minutes of the October 16, 2025 meeting be adopted.  

Carried Unanimously 

3. Unfinished Business 

 None. 

4. New Business 

4.1 Council Referral HAP 2502-2687 Penrith Avenue, the Abbey Studio  

Jasmeen presented on the HAP for the fence at the Abbey Studio. 

 

 

Page 18 of 422



Page 2 of 3 
 

Discussion: 

• Recognition of the important function the building serves in the community as 
a meeting and event space. 

• The change made is fairly minor. 
• There are currently five different types of fences due to alterations and 

additions over time.  It is not unusual to see changes to buildings, what is 
“historic” is often messy. 

• Appearance of fences and railings is hodge podge and could have been 
thought out better. 

• The recent additions/improvements in wood could be stained to create unity 
across the different installations. The black metal gate will recede and be 
visually neutral. 

Moved by: Pattison 
Seconded by: Harris 

THAT the Heritage Committee recommend that Council approve HAP 2502 with 
the condition that all the front facing wood be stained a dark historic colour.  

Carried  
One abstention 

4.2 Statement of Significance for the Abbey Studio and Cumberland Electric Co. 
Hydro Plant Remnants 

Discussion 

The two Statements of Significance shared earlier this year with the Committee 
have been finalized. 

Moved by: Borecky  
Seconded by: McLean 

THAT the Heritage Committee recommend to Council to add the Abbey Studio and 
Cumberland Electric Co. Hydro Plant Remnants to the Cumberland Community 
Heritage Register.  

 
4.3 Presentation on Heritage Conservation Plan – 3831 Moncton St., Richmond, BC 

Hugh McLean presented on a conservation plan for Ikeda Dry Goods in Steveston.   

The building is similar to some of the commercial buildings in Cumberland. It is 
small and modest, representing early commercial buildings in the community.  

Page 19 of 422



Page 3 of 3 
 

Steveston is also a Heritage Conservation Area.  Cumberland’s Historic Village 
Commercial Core has a lot in common with Steveston. As part of a Heritage 
Revitalization Agreement (HRA), the owners of the property at 3831 Moncton 
Street, were able to obtain additional density on the property for a proposed 3-
storey boutique hotel behind the Ikeda Dry Goods building on the same lot.  As 
part of the HRA, the owners were also able to get funding from the City of 
Richmond to restore the historic building. Hugh explained the restoration work 
that was undertaken. 

 
5. Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Heritage Committee is scheduled for Thursday, January 
15, 2026 at 4:00 p.m. 

 
6. Adjournment 

 The meeting was adjourned at 5:50pm. 

Page 20 of 422



 

1 
 

The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 

Heritage Committee 

January 15, 2026 at 4:00 p.m. 

Masonic Hall, 2687 Dunsmuir Avenue, Cumberland, BC 

Members Present:  Meaghan Cursons, Chair (to 5:05pm) 
Eric Pattison, Chair (after 5:05pm) 

   Marianne Bell, Secretary   
   Lois Harris 
   Councillor Neil Borecky 

Regrets:    Kaili Zevenbergen 
   Hugh McLean 

Staff:  Jasmeen Kaur Sidhu, Planning Technician 
Karin Albert, Senior Planner 

Applicant (HAP 2025): Rachel Parker, Village of Cumberland  

Consultant (JCLP): James Goodwin, Lanarc Consulting 

Public:   6 members of the public   

 

The chair called the meeting to order at 4:05 pm 

1. Approval of Agenda 

Moved by:  
Seconded by:  

THAT the agenda for January 15, 2026 meeting be approved. 

Carried Unanimously 

2. Minutes 

Moved by:  
Seconded by:  

THAT the minutes of the December 4, 2025 meeting be adopted with the following 
corrections: 

Bullet 5 is corrected to read: “The recent additions/improvements could be stained to 
create unity across the different installations. The black metal gate will recede and be 
visually neutral. 

Page 21 of 422



 

2 
 

The resolution is corrected to read:  

THAT the Heritage Committee recommend that Council approve HAP 2502 with 
the condition that all street facing wood be stained a dark historic colour. 

Carried Unanimously 

3. Unfinished Business 

 None. 

4. New Business 

 5:05 pm: Ms. Cursons left the meeting and handed the chair over to Eric Pattison. 

4.1  Council Referral: Japanese Canadian Legacy Project (JCLP) – Japanese Town 
 Shelter Concepts 

Mr. Goodwin provided an overview of the JCLP funding projects for the Japanese 
cemetery and the shelter at the No. 1 Japanese townsite.  

Discussion: 

Question regarding whether Japanese families have been consulted on the JCLP projects.   
-  Do not know. The JCLP and the Cumberland museum are advising on the project. 

JCLP set very specific parameters for the project. 

Japanese Cemetery 

• Questions regarding size of original cemetery and concern about changing the 
perimeter fencing. 

Further discussion deferred to 4.2 

Shelter 

• Was there a baseball field at No. 1 Japan town?  – Not a proper field but the 
game was played there as well as elsewhere in the Village. 

• Dug out concept with valence preferred. 
• More accurately reflects what might have been built in Cumberland in the past. 
• Not appropriate to use Torii gate shape for ball field seating. 
• Who are the users of the shelter?  Why is the seating linear? Design doesn’t 

further gathering, community or sense of place. Looking out at what…? 
• Concern about orientation of shelter, it faces East. Does it shelter from sun and 

rain? Hottest sun in the day is from the South and West.  
• Shelter should look into the park 
• Simplify the design 

Page 22 of 422



 

3 
 

• Make sure it is accessible 
• O.K. to have it close to the parking lot. 
• Could be used by seniors attending the Obon ceremony to honor their ancestors. 

Helps them stay out of the rain. For that group, having the shelter closer to the 
parking lot is preferable.  

• What is the pathway surfacing material? - Same as existing pathways. 
• Can the pathway alignment be more organic? E.g. have a slight curve? Seems 

more in keeping with Japanese landscape design. 

Mr. Goodwin thanked the group for the comments and will seek to incorporate the 
suggestions into the final design. 

4.2 Council Referral: HAP 2505 Japanese Cemetery  

Ms. Sidhu presented on the HAP for the design and location of a replacement fence and 
location of interpretive signage at the Japanese Cemetery.  

Discussion: 

• Committee members questioned decision to reduce the perimeter fencing, 
would like to see the entire fence replaced where it currently is.  

• Cemetery volunteers have noticed indentations in the ground in the area to be 
excluded. Might have had graves there in the past.  

• The proposed large rocks won’t keep out vehicles or people. 
• Research of aerial photography suggests original cemetery was smaller. Also cost 

of fencing is prohibitive. Not in budget. 
• The Village contacted the Japanese Canadian Legacy Project (JCLP) and may be 

able to get additional funding.  
• If can’t get additional funding, the fencing could be phased. This does not need 

to be in the resolution if long term goal is to fence the entire property. 
• New fencing should closely follow the design of the fence in the historic 

photographs. Fence should be 6 instead of 8 inches above the ground. 
• Concern regarding the concrete support – chosen to ensure a design that ensures 

a long-life span for the fence.  

Moved by: Bell 
Seconded by: Borecky 

That the Heritage Committee recommend that Council approve the HAP2505 subject to 
the following: 

Page 23 of 422



 

4 
 

a. That the fence include the whole property, the entire existing perimeter location, 
and  

b. Fence design to follow more closely the design of the fence in the photographs. 

 Carried Unanimously 
 
5. Adjournment 
 
 The meeting adjourned at 5:35 pm. 
 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Page 24 of 422



Page 25 of 422



COUNCIL 
REPORT 
 

Page 1 of 6 

 
REPORT DATE: January 28, 2026 
MEETING DATE: February 9, 2026   

File No. HAP2502 
TO: Mayor and Councillors 

FROM: Jasmeen Kaur Sidhu, Planning Technician  

SUBJECT: Heritage Alteration Permit, 2687 Penrith Avenue 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

THAT Council approve the heritage alteration 
permit (HAP2502) for the property described 
as Lot 12, Block 3, District Lot 21, Nelson 
District, Plan 522 (2687 Penrith Avenue).  

 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to request approval 
of a heritage alteration permit (HAP) to separate 
commercial and residential unit entrances and 
deck areas.     

To do so, the applicant requests the following 
heritage alterations:  

• Removal of a portion of the fence and 
addition of a new wooden gate to create residential access to the rear yard 

• Installation of a new portion of the fence, matching the existing fence and a new metal 
gate to secure residential access at the street frontage 

• Installation of a divider to separate the commercial and residential deck space  
 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION  

Date Resolution 
November 9, 
2025 

THAT Council refer the heritage alteration permit (HAP2502) application for 
the property described as Lot 12, Block 3, District Lot 21, Nelson District, 
Plan 522 (2687 Penrith Avenue) to the Heritage Committee.  

January 12, 
2026 

THAT Council add the following, each documented with a Statement of 
Significance, to the Community Heritage Register: 

• The Abbey Studio: 2687 Penrith Avenue,  

Subject Property 

Page 26 of 422



Page 2 of 6 

• The Cumberland Electric Light and Co. Hydro Plant Remnants: 
49.61140° N, 125.05434° W (Cumberland Community Forest Park).  

• The Marocchi Building: 3276 Second Street; and  
• The Tarbell Building: 2705 Dunsmuir Avenue; and  

THAT staff submit all the required documentation to the BC Heritage 
Branch.  

 
BACKGROUND 

Built in 1895, the Church of St John the Evangelist is a one-storey, wood-framed, front-gabled 
building with Gothic windows, joined by a side-gabled hall added in 1941. As part of Cumberland’s 
historic “Church Row,” it holds both historic and aesthetic value for its Gothic Revival Style, 
reflected in its pointed windows and steep roof. Following declining church membership, the site 
was sold in 1994 and transformed into “The Abbey,” later know as Abbey Studio, a cultural venue 
for art, music, and film. Since then, the owner has continued this legacy while converting the hall 
into a long-term residence. Over the years, the building has gone through many alterations like 
addition of storage room and deck. Recently, the deck was renovated (See attachment 2).  
 
Proposed Development  

On the side of the building facing First 
Street, there are two entrances: one for 
the commercial unit and the other for 
the residential unit. A shared deck with 
steps and a ramp provides access to 
both entrances.  
 
The owner recently completed deck 
repairs under a building permit. As the 
deck footprint was proposed to remain 
unchanged and the permit scope was 
limited to repairs, a HAP was not 
required at that time. However, during 
construction the applicant expanded 
the scope of work by installing a divider 
on the deck to create two separate deck 
spaces- one for the commercial unit and one for the residential unit. 
 
More recently, the applicant removed a portion of the existing fence and installed a new wooden 
gate in its place to create residential access to the rear yard. In addition, a new fence matching the 
existing one was added along with a metal gate to secure the residential access and deck area. All 
these changes required a HAP.  
 
Official Community Plan  

The Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 1230, 2025 (OCP) designates the property as Commercial 
Mixed Use which supports a mix of uses on a single property. The property is also within HCA1- 
Historic Commercial Core and hence requires a HAP. The HCA is intended to provide long-term 

Proposed Development - already existing as application is 
retroactive.  

Residential Commercial 

Page 27 of 422



Page 3 of 6 

protection of the Historic Village Commercial Core (HVCC), which contains resources with special 
heritage value or heritage character. The proposed development complies with the OCP 
designation; A detailed discussion on compliance with the HCA guidelines is found below, under 
the Analysis section.  
 
The application was received prior to adoption of the new OCP, accordingly, the analysis has been 
undertaken with reference to the former bylaw. The HCA guidelines of the former bylaw 
considered in the initial review of this application include: 
 
11.2.2, 1.c) The retail/commercial appearance of the street level of a building shall not be 
significantly altered from the original.  
 
11.2.2, 3.c) Where construction of a new fence is contemplated, owners or designates are 
encouraged to erect a fence or wall of historic appearance (e.g., various styles of pickets or 
stonewalls) 
 
Relevant HCA guidelines under the new bylaw include:  
 
11.13, G, 2.e) the retail/commercial appearance of the street level of a building must not be 
significantly altered from the original.  
 
11.13, G, 4.d) Fences must be compatible with the architectural style of building(s) on the property. 
Chain link and corrugated metal fencing is not permitted.  
 
Of the two guidelines referenced, only one has substantially changed between the former and 
current bylaws. While the overall intent of the guidelines remains consistent, the wording has 
been revised and reflects a shift in emphasis from “historic appearance” to “architectural style of 
building”. For this application, the change of wording does not result in any material difference in 
the analysis or to the overall assessment of the application. Although the new bylaw no longer 
specifically encourages fencing of a historic appearance, it continues to require that fencing be 
compatible with the architectural style of the building which has been considered in the evaluation 
of this application.   
 
Zoning Bylaw  

As per the Zoning Bylaw No. 1027, 2016 (Zoning Bylaw), the property is zoned as VCMU-1 Village 
Commercial Mixed-Use Zone. The proposed development is consistent with Zoning Bylaw 
regulations.  
 
Community Heritage Register 

The Abbey Studio is registered as a heritage property under the Cumberland Community Heritage 
Register and has a Statement of Significance (SoS).  
 
ANALYSIS  

General Guidelines  

Page 28 of 422



Page 4 of 6 

While the alterations are relatively minor, they 
impact the overall visual appearance and 
character of the building. The general design 
guidelines in the HCA state that the commercial 
appearance of a building’s street level should not 
be significantly altered from its original form. The 
changes introduce a clear visual and spatial 
separation between the commercial and 
residential parts of the building. Overall, the 
alterations primarily support the residential use 
by dividing shared spaces and enhancing privacy 
for the residential unit.  

Landscaping Guidelines  

The previous HCA guideline required that 
where construction of a new fence is 
contemplated, owners or designates are 
encouraged to erect a fence or a wall of 
historic appearance (e.g., various styles of 
pickets or stone walls). Historic 
photographs from 1940 indicate that the 
property featured a picket fence with 
substantial posts and a base that appeared 
to be constructed of stone or brick (see 
Schedule A).  

The new HCA guideline requires fences to 
be compatible with the architectural style 
of the building. Picket fences were a 
common type of fences used with Gothic  

The Heritage Committee noted that the 
HCA guidelines (previous OCP) do not 
assign a particular time period to the 
“historic appearance” requirement and 
believe that the style is consistent with 
Cumberland’s history generally, and 
supported approval of the HAP if there is a modification to stain the woodwork in a consistent, 
dark historic colour (see Attachment 4).  

Following the Heritage Committee meeting, staff prepared AI-generated renderings illustrating 
potential dark brown stain options for the woodwork. These renderings show that staining the 
woodwork a single, consistent dark shade would be visually more cohesive. This approach would 
help the recent alterations appear more finished and reduce the perception of visual clutter. The 
owner may choose to extend this treatment to the remaining fencing by staining it a darker brown 
to achieve a more unified appearance across the property. This is offered as a future consideration 
only and is not proposed as a condition. The existing black metal gate would complement and 
visually neutralize the darker stained wood. The applicant has confirmed their agreement to 

Fence as installed 

 Wooden picket gate and Black metal gate as installed 

Divider, wooden fence and metal gate as installed  

Page 29 of 422



Page 5 of 6 

implement the Heritage Committee’s recommendation by staining the woodwork a darker shade 
of brown.   

 

  

 

 

PUBLIC NOTIFICATION AND CONSULTATION 

Pursuant to the Village’s Development Application Procedures Bylaw No. 1187, 2023, the following 
notifications were undertaken: 

• On October 14, 2025, the applicant posted a development application sign on the subject 
property.  

The application was considered by the Heritage Committee on December 4, 2025. The committee 
noted that while the alterations are minor, they look inconsistent and made the following 
recommendation: 

That the Heritage Committee recommend that Council approve HAP2502 with the 
condition that all the front-facing wood be stained a dark historic colour.  

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

No financial implications are associated with this HAP.  
 
OPERATIONAL IMPLICATIONS 

The review of HAP applications is part of the services provided by the Development Services 
Department. 
 
CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 

No climate change implications are associated with the proposal.  
 
ALTERNATIVES 

1. THAT Council issue the heritage alteration permit. 

2. THAT Council deny the heritage alteration permit.  

Existing and newly added woodwork at present AI generated render showing recommended staining 
and neutralized black gate 

Page 30 of 422



Page 6 of 6 

3. THAT Council request further information or changes related to the heritage alteration 
permit.  

If changes are requested, specific direction about the type of changes will assist the 
applicant.  

 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 

☐ Diverse & Healthy Community 
☐ Sustainable Service Delivery & Asset Management 
☐ Community Planning 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Schedule A- pictures showing deck through the years  
2. Statement of Significance  
3. Heritage alteration permit  
4. Heritage Committee minutes, December 4, 2025 

 
CONCURRENCE 

Courtney Simpson, Manager of Development Services CS 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
J. Sidhu 
____________________ 
Jasmeen Kaur Sidhu  
Planning Technician  
 

M. Mason 
____________________ 
Michelle Mason 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
 

Page 31 of 422



Page 1 of 1 

 
Schedule A 
Deck over the years-  
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Source: Street View 

Photo of Catholic Church in 1983. Source: 
Cumberland Museum & Archives C050-015 

Source: Painting made by Jasmeen  

Source: current photo clicked by Cathy Stoyko, recent additions 

1940  

Picket Fence  

1983  

No Deck, 
only porch  

2012 Deck with wide steps 
and railing on one side  

2024

Deck with narrow 
steps and railing on 

both sides  

2025

   
  

Deck with narrow steps, railing as per 
BCBC, new proposed additions of fence, 

divider, and metal gate.   

Page 32 of 422



 
Village of Cumberland 

 
Statement of Significance 
Church of St. John the Evangelist (now the Abbey Studio) 
2687 Penrith Avenue, Cumberland BC ~ 1895, 1911, 1941 

 
Prepared by Elana Zysblat, CAHP  ::  Ance Building Services  ::  July 2025 

Page 33 of 422



 
 

Prepared by Elana Zysblat, CAHP :: Ance Building Services Co. Inc. :: ancebuildingservices.com               Page 2 
 

 

Page 34 of 422



 
 

Prepared by Elana Zysblat, CAHP :: Ance Building Services Co. Inc. :: ancebuildingservices.com               Page 3 
 

Description  
 
The Church of St. John the Evangelist, completed in 1895, is a one storey front-gabled building with 
gothic windows built in two stages: 1895 and 1911. Attached to the east elevation is a one-storey 
side-gabled hall built in 1941. These wood-framed buildings are located on the corner of Penrith 
Avenue and First Street in Cumberland, British Columbia. 
 
Heritage Values 
 
Completed and consecrated in 1895, the Church of St. John the Evangelist (now known as the Abbey 
Studio) has historic value as an important component of Cumberland’s ‘Church Row’ which was 
established between 1894 and 1895 along Penrith Avenue. Lots were donated to congregations of 
the community by the mine owners, Union Colliery Co., for the purpose of building churches. 
Together and individually, these church buildings represent the initial settlement of Union townsite 
in the 1890s, to be renamed Cumberland in 1893; the predominance of the Christian faith amongst 
its early European settlers; and the location of the first townsite lots to be developed between Allen 
and Ulverston Avenues and First and Third Streets. 
 
This historic place is valued for its association with the Anderton brothers of Comox (known for 
building the 1885 St. John the Baptist Catholic Church in Comox) who constructed the church in 
August 1894. Their sister, Mary Paul, was the first church organist. It is further valued for its 
association with the women of the Catholic congregation, their leadership and mobilization, 
through which they fundraised for the construction of the expansion of the church in 1911 and for 
their organization as an Altar Society in 1925 and as part of the Catholic Women’s League in 1944. 
 
Abbey Studio has aesthetic value for its Gothic Revival architectural style, which was popular 
amongst the 1890s churches in Cumberland, as it was implemented in different iterations in all four 
original local churches. Although the Catholic Church building was the smallest and lost its 
character-defining bell-tower after a 1946 earthquake, its tall, gothic windows (with pointed arch 
tops) and its steep-pitched gable roofs are indicative of this architectural style. 
 
This historic place has social and cultural value for its transformation from sacred site to a 
cherished cultural venue in the 1990s, as a general dwindling in membership and attendance led 
the Bishop to amalgamate all Comox Valley Catholic parishes into one Catholic community in 1985, 
leaving the Catholic church and hall to be increasingly underused. The last ever Sunday and 
Christmas Eve masses at the Church of St. John the Evangelist were held in 1984, and the last 
weekday mass was held in 1990. In 1994 the property was sold to private ownership and under a 
series of passionate owner-entrepreneurs, the site was rebranded as “The Abbey” in 2004 and 
ultimately became known as Abbey Studio - a cultural venue housing art shows, concerts, movies, 
and workshops. Like the Waverley Hotel, the Abbey became a renowned BC live music and 
performance venue with local and international artists gracing the stage. This legacy has been 
consistently maintained since 2003 under owner and on-site seasonal resident Cathy Stoyko who 
has additionally converted the hall space into a long-term residential rental. 
 
Character-Defining Elements 
 

• Church use from 1895 to 1990 (105 years) 
• Institutional and community use in Hall (including summer school) from 1941-1990 (49 

years) 

Page 35 of 422



 
 

Prepared by Elana Zysblat, CAHP :: Ance Building Services Co. Inc. :: ancebuildingservices.com               Page 4 
 

• Cultural use since 1994 
• Partial residential use (sacristy attic and attached 1941 hall building) since 2003 
• Original corner location at Penrith and First, along Cumberland’s ‘Church Row’ 
• Wood frame construction 
• Institutional design and form as expressed in its formal facade and public entrance with 

double doors and pointed-arch church-sized windows on Penrith and First elevations. 
• Gothic Revival style, as expressed in its tall, pointed arch wood-sash windows and its 

steeply pitched gable roof. 
• Evidence of three phases of construction, with two distinct attached church buildings and a 

side-gabled hall attached to the east side of the church. 
• Interior Elements: large, open sanctuary space; stained, wood-clad, coved ceiling; painted 

wood-clad walls; wood trim around windows and doors. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36 of 422



 
 

Prepared by Elana Zysblat, CAHP :: Ance Building Services Co. Inc. :: ancebuildingservices.com               Page 5 
 

Appendix A – Current Photographs 

  

Front view  
(Penrith Ave) 

Side view  
(First Street) 

Page 37 of 422



 
 

Prepared by Elana Zysblat, CAHP :: Ance Building Services Co. Inc. :: ancebuildingservices.com               Page 6 
 

  

Former United and Catholic Churches in the snow. Source: Gesa Ward via Abbey 
Studio Facebook page 

 Current view of the interior, looking towards the entrance doors 

Page 38 of 422



 
 

Prepared by Elana Zysblat, CAHP :: Ance Building Services Co. Inc. :: ancebuildingservices.com               Page 7 
 

Source: Abbey Studio Facebook page  

Three views of cultural events at the Abbey Studio.  
 

Page 39 of 422



 
 

Prepared by Elana Zysblat, CAHP :: Ance Building Services Co. Inc. :: ancebuildingservices.com               Page 8 
 

Appendix B – Historic Photographs 
  

Penrith Avenue showing “Church Row” in 190? And the Cumberland Public School 
on First Street. The Catholic Church outlined in red (prior to 1911 extension with 
bell tower). Source: BC Archives B-07600 

Cumberland Public School group photo (div. 6, grade 4 & 5) in 1935, showing 
Catholic Church in background. Source: Cumberland Museum & Archives C240-128  

Page 40 of 422



 
 

Prepared by Elana Zysblat, CAHP :: Ance Building Services Co. Inc. :: ancebuildingservices.com               Page 9 
 

  

Above: Cumberland’s new 
fire truck with Catholic 
Church in background, 
1932. Source: Cumberland 
Museum & Archives 
2015.208.001 - Banks 
Family Album 1930s pg128 
 
 
Left: Photo of Catholic 
Church. Source: Roman 
Catholic diocese of Victoria, 
1939 or 1940 pamphlet. 
Page 24 dedicated to 
Cumberland Church. 

Page 41 of 422



 
 

Prepared by Elana Zysblat, CAHP :: Ance Building Services Co. Inc. :: ancebuildingservices.com               Page 10 
 

  

Left: Pipe band marching in 
may 1960s. Catholic Church 
now without bell tower. 
Note the third small rear 
gable, to be demolished this 
same decade. Source: 
Cumberland Museum & 
Archives C080-028 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Below: Photo of Catholic 
Church in 1983. Source: 
Cumberland Museum & 
Archives C050-015  

Page 42 of 422



 
 

Prepared by Elana Zysblat, CAHP :: Ance Building Services Co. Inc. :: ancebuildingservices.com               Page 11 
 

  

Two images of the Catholic Church in 1994, the year it was sold to private hands. The lower image 
with boarded up windows. Source: Cumberland Museum & Archives - 2687-89 Penrith Avenue 
folder. 

Page 43 of 422



 
 

Prepared by Elana Zysblat, CAHP :: Ance Building Services Co. Inc. :: ancebuildingservices.com               Page 12 
 

  

Top: Catholic Church in 1995. Bottom: Catholic Church in 1996 (note gable cross 
has been removed)  
Source: Cumberland Museum & Archives - 2687-89 Penrith Avenue folder. 

Page 44 of 422



 
 

Prepared by Elana Zysblat, CAHP :: Ance Building Services Co. Inc. :: ancebuildingservices.com               Page 13 
 

  

1921 Fire Insurance Plan cropped to show the corner of Penrith and 
First. The subject property is outlined in red. This plan was revised in 
1939 and 1941 and thus shows the newly constructed church hall. Also 
visible is the Priest’s House at the rear, deconstructed in 1981. 
 
Source: Courtenay Archives 

Page 45 of 422



 
 

Prepared by Elana Zysblat, CAHP :: Ance Building Services Co. Inc. :: ancebuildingservices.com               Page 14 
 

Appendix C – History Notes 

 
1899 - Priest house (also known as the Glebe House) was built at the rear of the property to 
accommodate the Catholic priest when he’s come from Comox to conduct services every other 
week. For the majority of its history, this house was actually rented to local residents.  

1911- expansion 

1938 - Exterior renovated,  involving the staining of the shingle cladding in brown and the trim 
painted white. 

1941 - hall built 

1946 (June 23rd) - A 7.0 magnitude earthquake demolished 75% of the chimneys in the 
communities of Cumberland, Union Bay, and Courtenay. The 1911 Bell tower on the Church of St. 
John the Evangelist collapsed during this event and was never rebuilt. The cross from the bell tower 
steeple was reinstalled on the church gable. 

1960s - Gabled extension at rear removed. Church stuccoed. 

1981 - Priest House dismantled and rebuilt at Brown’s River Boy Scout Camp. 

1996 -  The cross, originally on the bell tower and relocated to the gable in 1946, was removed from 
the gable. This was two years after the deconsecration of the church and its sale to private 
ownership. 

2003 and later - conversion of attached 1941 hall building to private residence (rental) and of space 
above sacristy for seasonal owner accommodation. 

 

  

Page 46 of 422



 
 

Prepared by Elana Zysblat, CAHP :: Ance Building Services Co. Inc. :: ancebuildingservices.com               Page 15 
 

Research Resources 

Courtenay Archives: 

• Catholic Churches newspaper clippings 

• 1954 Courtenay Historical Society paper “Work of the Catholic Church in the Comox Valley” 

• Fire insurance plan 

 

Cumberland Archives: 

• Roman Catholic diocese of Victoria, 1939 or 1940 pamphlet. Page 24 dedicated to 
Cumberland Church. 

• Archival photos 

• Newspaper clippings 

• Research notes 

• Fire insurance plans  

 

Barr, Jennifer. Cumberland & Heritage: The Beginnings of Cumberland 1892-1899  

BC Archives - archival photographs 

Cumberland Heritage Commission - oral histories 

https://www.ctkparish.ca/history 

https://www.facebook.com/TheAbbeyStudio/about 

Old Cumberland Facebook Group 

Site visit March, 2025 

Page 47 of 422

https://www.ctkparish.ca/history
https://www.facebook.com/TheAbbeyStudio/about


 

Corporation of the  
Village of Cumberland 

 HERITAGE ALTERATION PERMIT 
 

1. This Heritage Alteration Permit (HAP2502) is issued subject to compliance with all of the 
bylaws of the Village of Cumberland applicable thereto, except as supplemented by this 
Permit for separating entrances and deck areas for commercial and residential units on 
the side facing First Street. 

2. This Heritage Alteration Permit applies to and only to those lands within the Village of 
Cumberland described below: 
 

Legal Description: LOT 12, BLOCK 3, DISTRICT LOT 21, NELSON DISTRICT, PLAN 522  

Folio:  000029.000 PID: 008-970-408 

Civic Address: 2687 Penrith Avenue 

3. The land described herein shall be developed strictly in accordance with the following 
terms and conditions and provisions of this permit: 

 HCA1 – Historic Village Commercial Core (Heritage Conservation Area) 

a. Portion of fence to be removed and a wooden picket gate installed to create 
residential access to rear yard as shown in Schedule A.  

b. Fence matching existing fence to be installed only in front of the residential unit 
entry facing First Street as shown in Schedule A.  

c. Black coloured metal gate to be installed within the new portion of the fence as per 
Schedule A.  

d. Divider to be installed on the edge of the deck towards residential unit as shown in 
Schedule A.  

e. All street facing wood be stained as per Schedule A.  

4. Security  

 None.   

5. Expiry  

Subject to the terms of the permit, if the Owner of this Heritage Alteration Permit does 
not substantially start any construction with respect to which the permit was issued 
within 2 years after the date it is issued, the permit lapses.   

TO: Catherine D Stoyko    AGENT: Owner 

OF: PO BOX 1196, Cumberland, BC, V0R1S0 

Page 48 of 422



6.. Timing and Sequencing of Development 
 None. 

7. List of Reports or Plans attached as Schedules 

a. SCHEDULE A 

8.  Contaminated Sites Regulation 
A site disclosure statement was not submitted as this permit does not authorize any 
activity likely to disturb soil on the land. 

9. This Permit is not a Building Permit. 

CERTIFIED as the HERITAGE ALTERATION PERMIT approved and issued by resolution of the 
Council of the Corporation of the Village of Cumberland on 2025-11-10 
 

________________________________ 
Courtney Simpson 

Director of Development and 
Bylaw Services 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49 of 422



 
Schedule A 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

New Divider New picket gate 

Page 50 of 422



 
 

Woodwork to be stained a dark shade of brown as shown in rendering  

Page 51 of 422



Page 1 of 3 
 

The Corporation of the Village of Cumberland 
Heritage Committee 

December 4, 2025 at 4:00 p.m. 
Masonic Hall, 2687 Dunsmuir Avenue, Cumberland, BC 

Members Present:  Meaghan Cursons, Chair 
Eric Pattison 

   Marianne Bell   
   Lois Harris 
   Hugh McLean 
   Councilor Neil Borecky 
  
Regrets:    Kaili Zevenbergen 

Staff:  Jasmeen Kaur Sidu, Planning Technician 
Karin Albert, Senior Planner 
Courtney Simpson, Director of Development and Bylaw Services  

  

 
The chair called the meeting to order at 4:06pm. 

1. Approval of Agenda 

Moved by: Harris 
Seconded by: Borecky 

THAT the agenda for December 4, 2025 be approved. 

Carried Unanimously 

2. Minutes 

Moved by: Harris 

Seconded by: Borecky 

THAT the minutes of the October 16, 2025 meeting be adopted.  

Carried Unanimously 

3. Unfinished Business 

 None. 

4. New Business 

4.1 Council Referral HAP 2502-2687 Penrith Avenue, the Abbey Studio  

Jasmeen presented on the HAP for the fence at the Abbey Studio. 

 

 

Page 52 of 422



Page 2 of 3 
 

Discussion: 

• Recognition of the important function the building serves in the community as 

a meeting and event space. 

• The change made is fairly minor. 

• There are currently five different types of fences due to alterations and 

additions over time.  It is not unusual to see changes to buildings, what is 

“historic” is often messy. 

• Appearance of fences and railings is hodge podge and could have been 

thought out better. 

• The recent additions/improvements in wood could be stained to create unity 

across the different installations. The black metal gate will recede and be 

visually neutral. 

Moved by: Pattison 

Seconded by: Harris 

THAT the Heritage Committee recommend that Council approve HAP 2502 with 

the condition that all the front facing wood be stained a dark historic colour.  

Carried  
One abstention 

4.2 Statement of Significance for the Abbey Studio and Cumberland Electric Co. 

Hydro Plant Remnants 

Discussion 

The two Statements of Significance shared earlier this year with the Committee 

have been finalized. 

Moved by: Borecky  

Seconded by: McLean 

THAT the Heritage Committee recommend to Council to add the Abbey Studio and 

Cumberland Electric Co. Hydro Plant Remnants to the Cumberland Community 

Heritage Register.  

 

4.3 Presentation on Heritage Conservation Plan – 3831 Moncton St., Richmond, BC 

Hugh McLean presented on a conservation plan for Ikeda Dry Goods in Steveston.   

The building is similar to some of the commercial buildings in Cumberland. It is 

small and modest, representing early commercial buildings in the community.  

Page 53 of 422



Page 3 of 3 
 

Steveston is also a Heritage Conservation Area.  Cumberland’s Historic Village 

Commercial Core has a lot in common with Steveston. As part of a Heritage 

Revitalization Agreement (HRA), the owners of the property at 3831 Moncton 

Street, were able to obtain additional density on the property for a proposed 3-

storey boutique hotel behind the Ikeda Dry Goods building on the same lot.  As 

part of the HRA, the owners were also able to get funding from the City of 

Richmond to restore the historic building. Hugh explained the restoration work 

that was undertaken. 

 

5. Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Heritage Committee is scheduled for Thursday, January 

15, 2026 at 4:00 p.m. 

 

6. Adjournment 

 The meeting was adjourned at 5:50pm. 

Page 54 of 422



COUNCIL 
REPORT 
 

Page 1 of 4 

 
REPORT DATE: 1/23/2026 
MEETING DATE: 2/9/2026 

File No. 6800 
TO: Mayor and Councillors 

FROM: Karin Albert, Senior Planner 

SUBJECT: Cumberland Community Heritage Register Additions Project 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT Council receive the Cumberland Community Heritage Register Additions Project report for 
information. 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to update Council on the Heritage Register Additions Project, 
identified in the 2026 Heritage Committee Workplan. The Project will identify heritage resources 
recommended for addition to the Cumberland Community Heritage Register. Each resource will be 
described with a short heritage value statement, a preliminary list of character-defining elements, 
basic research findings and a current photograph. Council may suggest sites or direct that specific 
sites be included on the list of heritage resources. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION 

None.  

BACKGROUND 

Section 15 of the Local Government Act gives local governments the authority to establish a 
community heritage register. A heritage register is an important tool to identify, record, 
acknowledge, and understand the significance and value of heritage resources in a community. It 
also supports heritage planning and conservation. 

Cumberland’s Community Heritage Register was established by a resolution of Council in October 
2017. At the same meeting, Council added four heritage resources to the Register.  

As per Policy 1.6 Heritage Committee Terms of Reference, one of the mandates of the Heritage 
Committee is to:  

 b) work with Village staff and consultants in maintaining and updating the heritage registry. 

Since establishment of the Register, the Heritage Committee has provided advice and participated 
in the research and documenting of additional heritage resources. Heritage resources added to the 
Register include buildings, cultural landscapes and engineering works. Each heritage resource is 

Page 55 of 422



Page 2 of 4 

documented with a Statement of Significance (SoS) that provides a short description and identifies 
the values and character defining elements of the resource. Once completed, the heritage 
resource and SoS are presented to Council with a recommendation to add the resource to the 
Register. Following the Council resolution, staff submit the heritage resource and accompanying 
SoS to the Province of BC for addition to the provincial Register of Historic Places. Cumberland’s 
Community Heritage Register currently lists 24 heritage resources (Attachment 1: Cumberland 
Community Heritage Register). The Register is available on the Village website including the full 
SoS’s. 

As a result of the time and resources required to research and write an SoS, the process to add 
heritage resources to Register has been slow. On average, two to three heritage resources are 
added each year. While an SoS is the most comprehensive way to document and recognize a 
heritage resource (and is required to also add the resource to the Canadian Register of Historic 
Places), local governments can add heritage resources to their heritage register without a full SoS.  
Instead of an SoS, a Register listing can be accompanied by a short description, a value statement 
and preliminary character-defining elements.  

At their September 21, 2023 meeting, the Heritage Committee identified the importance of 
including all significant local heritage resources on the Register as a way to increase understanding 
and recognition of Cumberland’s heritage. There are a number of benefits to having a building and 
its character-defining elements listed on the Register. First and foremost, it instills pride and 
creates property owner awareness of the significance of their building to the community’s 
heritage. This is an important first step in encouraging owners to seek to conserve the heritage 
values when renovating their building. When renovating, owners are eligible for equivalency 
provisions in the BC Building Code Heritage Building Supplement. Register listings also help the 
Village and anyone involved in heritage planning and interpretation to communicate Cumberland’s 
rich history and heritage to the community.  

On the regulatory side, upon receipt of application for a building permit or demolition permit, 
Council may, by resolution, issue a temporary protection order in relation to properties on the 
Heritage Register for up to 60 days. The 60-day period is to allow for time to collect information, 
conduct an inspection of the heritage features of the property and enter into discussion with the 
applicant about conservation options, without unduly delaying an application for approval. 

In early 2024, the Heritage Committee reviewed the 164 listings in the Heritage Inventory, volume 
2 of the Village’s Heritage Management Plan, to identify heritage resources that should be added 
to the Register. The Inventory lists natural features, buildings, neighbourhoods, cultural 
landscapes, engineering works, cultural events, and people. The entries in the Inventory were 
identified by Cumberland residents as having heritage value as part of the planning process that 
led to the Village of Cumberland Heritage Management Plan, 2016. Since only tangible heritage 
assets can be listed on a heritage register, the Committee completed an initial review of the 
Inventory to select the heritage assets eligible for a heritage register listing. 

As further work on this project requires considerable time researching the resources and finalizing 
the preliminary list, the Committee requested funding for the project in their 2026 workplan so 
that the Village can hire a heritage professional to assist with the work (Attachment 2: Heritage 
Committee Work Plan, 2026). The project is included in the 2026-2030 Financial Plan and the 
Village was successful in its application for matching grant funding from the Heritage Legacy Fund. 
Funding was confirmed in November 2025 and the Village has until November 30, 2026 to 
complete the project. 

Page 56 of 422

https://cumberland.ca/cumberlands-community-heritage-register/
https://cumberland.ca/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Cumberland-Inventory-05-December-2016.pdf
https://cumberland.ca/heritage-management-plan/


Page 3 of 4 

The first step will be to review the preliminary list of 26 heritage resources with the Heritage 
Committee and a heritage consultant and finalize the list (Attachment 3: Preliminary List of 
Heritage Resources for Addition to the Heritage Register). Once finalized, the consultant will work 
to develop value statements and identify character-defining elements. The final list of heritage 
resources with accompanying documentation will be presented to Council in fall 2026 for review 
and possible addition to the Heritage Register. 

PUBLIC NOTIFICATION AND CONSULTATION 

Property owners will be informed of the project, including what it means to have their property on 
the Heritage Register, and be invited to submit information about their building and attend 
Committee meetings where the project is discussed. Owners will also receive a draft of the 
documentation for comment. 

Engagecomoxvalley.ca will be used to post information and allow owners to sign up for 
notifications and progress updates. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The project is included in the 2026-2030 Financial Plan. The total project cost is budgeted at 
$10,000. Just under 50% ($4,752) is funded by the provincial Heritage Legacy Fund.  

OPERATIONAL IMPLICATIONS 

Implementation of the project will involve primarily Development Services staff and the Heritage 
Committee. Finance staff will assist with grant reporting. Heritage conservation planning is part of 
the regular services provided by the Development and Bylaw Services department. 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 

Registration of a heritage resource on the Community Heritage Register is an important tool to 
create awareness of the heritage value of a property and encourage its conservation. Heritage 
conservation is inherently sustainable, as it minimizes the need to demolish buildings and keeps 
building materials out of the landfill, conserves embodied energy and minimizes the need for new 
building materials. 

ALTERNATIVES 

1. Council may provide suggestions for heritage resources that could be reviewed as part of 
the Heritage Register Additions Project for further consideration.  

2. Council may provide direction on one or more specific heritage resources to be included in 
the Heritage Register Additions Project. 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 

☐Diverse and Healthy Community 

☐Sustainable Service Delivery and Asset Management 

☒Community Planning 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Cumberland Community Heritage Register 

Page 57 of 422



Page 4 of 4 

2. Heritage Committee Work Plan, 2026 
3. Preliminary List of Heritage Resources for Heritage Register Additions Project 

CONCURRENCE 

Courtney Simpson, Manager of Development Services CS 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

K. Albert 

____________________ 
Karin Albert 
Senior Planner 
 

M. Mason 

____________________ 
Michelle Mason 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Page 58 of 422



 

 

Cumberland Community Heritage Register and Designations by Bylaw 

10 Oct 2017: Resolution 17-559 – Council adoption of Community Heritage Register Policy and Community Register 

Register 
Listing 
No. 

Borden  
No.* 

Feature 
 

Village 
Owned 

Heritage 
Committee 
Recommendation 

Council Resolution to 
Add to Register 

Designation Bylaw Statement of 
Significance 

1 DjSg-9 Memorial Arch - No record found None Bylaw 818   07 Nov 2006 - 

2 DjSg-8 Old Post Office - Yes 17-559     10 Oct 2017 Bylaw 837    06 Nov 2006 Yes 

3 DjSg-5 Cumberland Municipal Cemetery Yes Yes 17-629     13 Nov 2017 Bylaw 882 - 26 Nov 2007 Yes 

4 DjSg-6 Cumberland Japanese Cemetery Yes No record found No record found Bylaw 883   26 Nov 2007 Yes 

5 DjSg-7 Cumberland Chinese Cemetery Yes No record found No record found Bylaw 884   26 Nov 2007 - 

6 DjSg-12 Chinatown, Coal Creek Historic Park Yes Yes 17-559     10 Oct 2017  Yes 

7 DjSg-16 Fan House, No. 5 Mine - Yes 17-559     10 Oct 2017  Yes 

8 DjSg-13 Cumberland United Church - Yes 18-317     28 May 2018  Yes 

9 - Camp Road Neighbourhood - Yes 19- 391    09 Sep 2019  Yes 

10 DjSg-18 Ilo Ilo Theatre - Yes 19-391     09 Sep 2019  Yes 

11 DjSg-14 Saito House - Yes 19-391     09 Sep 2019  Yes 

12 - Coal Beach and No. 4 Mine - Yes 20-60       24 Feb 2020  Yes 

13 DjSg-17 The Big Store - Yes 20-60       24 Feb 2020  Yes 

14 DjSg-19 King George Hotel - Yes 21-202    14 Jun 2021  Yes 

15 DjSg-20 The Waverley Hotel - Yes 22-309    14 Mar 2022  Yes 

16 DjSg-21 Cumberland Community Church - Yes 22-309    14 Mar 2022  Yes 

17  DjSg-23 Cumberland Drug Store - Yes 24-108    13 May 2024  Yes 

18 - 00 Survey Benchmark TBC Yes 24-108    13 May 2024  Yes 

19 DjSg-24 Bevan Houses - Yes 24-108    13 May 2024  Yes 

20 DjSg-25 Wellington Colliery Railway Partially Yes 24-108    13 May 2024  Yes 

21  Abbey Studio - Yes 26-008    12 Jan 2026  Yes 

22  Cumberland Electrical Light and Co. 
Hydro Plant Remains 

Yes Yes 26-008    12 Jan 2026  Yes 

23  Marocchi Building - Yes 26-008    12 Jan 2026  Yes 

24  Tarbell Building - Yes 26-008    12 Jan 2026  Yes 

* The Borden Number is a unique identifier for each archaeological and heritage site in Canada. The identifier consists of two parts, four letters (formatted AaBb) and a number    

separated by a dash. The letters represent the Borden block which is the geographical location of the site. The number indicates the sequence of when it was identified. 

Page 59 of 422



Page 3 of 3 
 

2026 HERITAGE COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 
 

 Task Description Resource Request 

1. Referrals from Council As requested by Council. -  

2. Participation in OCP Review Process  Review and comments on Draft OCP -  

3. Statements of Significance Masonic Hall 

Cultural landscape 

Pending funding may need 
to defer to 2027 

4. Additions to Heritage Register Complete heritage inventory review, identify heritage 
values and character defining elements of heritage 
resources recommended for addition to the Community 
Heritage Register. 

$5,000 Village/$5,000 
Heritage Legacy Fund 

5. Heritage interpretation at community 
events 

Lead walks at community events, promoting heritage 
conservation and the Heritage Committee with 
promotional support from Village. 

Promotional support from 
Village. 

6. Building/street naming policy Pending Council direction and staff resources to update 
the Village’s street naming policy, provide input on 
process, goals, and appropriate street names that 
reflect Cumberland’s history and diversity. 

 

7. Alley sign project Review status of alley sign project and identify whether 
there is a role for the Committee in reviewing possible 
names and signs for additional alleys. 

 

8. Collation of heritage documents / 
building files 

Collaborate with museum to identify Cumberland 
heritage site/building documents that exist, identify 
where they should be stored (digitally or otherwise) and 
develop workplan for heritage management actions. 

- 

9. Committee Terms of Reference Provide feedback to Village on future updates to the 
Heritage Committee Terms of Reference (scope, 
attendance, etc). 

- 

 

Page 60 of 422



Preliminary List of Heritage Resources for Heritage Register Additions Project

Categories A - Buildings and Structures Note, sites in italics to be reviewed to confirm 

B - Engineering Works they meet criteria for a heritage register listing.

C - Cultural Landscapes

Inven-

tory #
Name of Site

Location or 

Address

Cate-

gory
Value 1 Value 2 Value 3 Theme 1 Theme 2 Theme 3

23 No. 6 Mine Park B/C Cultural - 

Cumberland mining 

history

Valuable 

recreational land

Mining coal, cutting 

wood

Developing a village

35 Orchards and 

Orchard Remnants

Old Orchard / 

Rotary Park

C Ecological Remnants of 

historical small-scale 

fruit production

Contribution to 

maintenance by 

Rotary Club - valued 

community 

involvement

Land of plenty Quiet life, active 

pursuits

36 Alleyways B/C Culturally rich 

landscape resource

Quiet life, active 

pursuits

Developing a village

39, 97, 

118

Three cairns / Black 

Community and 

old house sites

C Commemorates 

historical aspects of 

the community

Reminder of the 

presence of sizeable 

Black population in 

early Cumberland

Reminder of the 

segregation and 

connections 

between ethnic 

populations

Mining coal, cutting 

wood

Creating a diverse 

community; 

Developing a 

Village

43 Mining Air Shafts 

and Tunnels

B Marks the 

infrastructure for the 

transportation of 

coal to market

Mining coal, cutting 

wood

Fan House at 

Maple Lake

A Cultural - 

Cumberland mining 

history

50 Village Park C Marks the 

management of coal 

in Cumberland's 

history

Encompasses all 

Cumberland 

recreation 

Mining coal, cutting 

wood

Developing a village

Page 61 of 422



Inven-

tory #
Name of Site

Location or 

Address

Cate-

gory
Value 1 Value 2 Value 3 Theme 1 Theme 2 Theme 3

52 Maryport 

Streetscape 

(formerly 

Fernwood Heights)

A Strong landscape 

that helps define the 

character of 

Cumberland

Early residential 

streetscape

Developing a 

village

Doctor's Row Windermere 

Avenue across 

from 

Cumberland 

Lodge

A Major contributor to 

the villiage's 

character

Valuable context for 

Dunsmuir Avenue 

commercial core

Developing a 

village

58 Masonic Hall A Landmark on 

Dunsmuir Avenue 

next to the Ilo-Ilo 

Theatre

Now one of the 

Masonic Lodges in 

the community

Remnant of old 

enduring 

Cumberland 

community society

Quiet life, Active 

pursuits

Developing a village

62 No. 1 Mine C Landscape is a 

reminder of the 

origins of 

Cumberland's 

community 

Mining coal, cutting 

wood

Developing a village

64 Scotts Slope 

Original Portal and 

Switch Room

A/B Extension of #4 Mine 

slope

Access by narrow 

gauge railway 

trestle

Rare artifact of coal 

mining

Mining coal, 

cutting wood

Developing a 

village

72 Liquor Store A Front façade brick 

facing from Union 

Bay coke ovens

Developing a 

village

74 Japanese Temple A Historical evidence of 

early Japanese-

Canadian presence in 

Cumberland

Developing a 

village

Creating a diverse 

community

76 Bickle House 2750 Dunsmuir 

Avenue

A Landmark Example of early 

residential 

development of 

consequence

Developing a 

village

Page 62 of 422



Inven-

tory #

Name of Site Location or 

Address

Cate-

gory

Value 1 Value 2 Value 3 Theme 1 Theme 2 Theme 3

77 Brides' Houses A Unique starter 

homes in old 

Cumberland 

neighbourhoods, 

usually set at back of 

property

Contributor to 

unique character of 

older 

neigbhourhoods

Valuable cultural 

history

Developing a 

village

81 Municipal Hall A Presence of Village of 

Cumberland 

government on 

central village street

Historical 

government site

Developing a 

village

Governing change

85 Cumberland 

Recreation Centre 

and Big Gym

A Landmark Historic place of 

community activities

Developing a 

village

88 Old Royal Bank A Enduring landmark Adaptive re-use to 

serve today's 

economic 

opportunities

Developing a 

village

98 Italian and Eastern 

European 

Neighbourhoods / 

Union Camp

Is this Camp 

Road? If so, it's 

on Register

A Marks settlement of 

Italians at Union 

Camp

Recorder of the 

hierarchy of 

settlements 

between historic 

ethnic populations

Developing a 

village

Creating a diverse 

community

49 Jerusalem 

neighbourhood

Derwent 

Avenue

A Example of early 

residential 

development 

Example of culturally 

diverse population 

(Jewish citizen 

engaging in land 

development)

Developing a 

village

Creating a diverse 

community

108 Old Government 

Precinct with 

Hospital

A/C Continued use of the 

site for hospital use 

since laying out of 

townsite

Developing a 

village

Page 63 of 422



Inven-

tory #

Name of Site Location or 

Address

Cate-

gory

Value 1 Value 2 Value 3 Theme 1 Theme 2 Theme 3

110 VLA Developments 

veteran's housing 

on Penwrith and 

Maryport avenues

A/C Part of history of 

residential 

development in the 

old residential 

neighbourhoods

Developing a 

village

113 42nd Street 

Subdivision 

neighbourhood

Cumberland 

Road

Important remnant 

of the history of 

settlement of the 

Cumberland region

Historical growth 

and development of 

the Village through 

new areas and 

subivisions

Developing a 

village

Creating a diverse 

community

157 Ginger Goodwin 

and Beginning of 

the Labour 

Movement

Gravestone at 

Cumberland 

Cemetery

C Part of the pride in 

the mining history

Pride in the history 

of fighting for 

miners' rights

Creating a diverse 

community

158 Joe Naylor Gravestone at 

Cumberland 

Cemetery

D Pride in the mining 

history

Pride in the history 

of fighting for 

miners' rights

Creating a diverse 

community

Page 64 of 422



COUNCIL 
REPORT 
 

Page 1 of 4 

 
REPORT DATE: 1/23/2026 
MEETING DATE: 2/9/2026 

File No. 3180-20 
TO: Mayor and Councillors 

FROM: Karin Albert, Senior Planner 

SUBJECT: Regional Growth Strategy Minor Amendment - Referral 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT Council direct staff to submit a referral response to the Comox Valley Regional District in 
support of Bylaw No. 810, being the Comox Valley Regional District Regional Growth Strategy 
Bylaw No. 120, Amendment No. 2. 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to inform Council of the referral from the Comox Valley Regional 
District (CVRD) on the proposed amendments to the Comox Valley Regional District Regional 
Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 (RGS) and seek a Council resolution on a response. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION 

None.  

BACKGROUND 

The RGS is an overarching policy document that guides long-term planning in the Comox Valley 
Regional District. It was developed by the CVRD in partnership with the City of Courtenay, Town of 
Comox and Village of Cumberland and adopted by the Regional Board in March 2011. The vision of 
the RGS is that “The Comox Valley will continue to evolve as a region of distinct, well-connected 
and well-designed urban and rural communities. As stewards of the environment, local 
governments, the K’ómoks First Nation, public agencies, residents, businesses and community and 
non-governmental organizations will work collaboratively to conserve and enhance land, water 
and energy resources and ensure a vibrant local economy and productive working landscapes.” 

The RGS sets goals, objectives and policies for a 20-year time frame. The eight goals are: 

 Goal 1 Housing: Ensure a diversity of housing options to meet evolving demographics and 
needs 

 Goal 2: Ecosystems, Natural Areas and Parks: Protect, steward and enhance the natural 
environment and ecological connections and systems.  

Page 65 of 422

https://www.comoxvalleyrd.ca/RGS


Page 2 of 4 

 Goal 3: Local Economic Development: Achieve a sustainable, resilient and dynamic local 
economy that supports Comox Valley businesses and the region’s entrepreneurial spirit.  

 Goal 4: Transportation: Develop an accessible, efficient and affordable multi-modal 
transportation network that connects Core Settlement Areas and designated Town 
Centres, and links the Comox Valley to neighbouring communities and regions.  

 Goal 5: Infrastructure: Provide affordable, effective and efficient services and infrastructure 
that conserves land, water and energy resources.  

 Goal 6: Food Systems: Support and enhance the agricultural and aquaculture sectors and 
increase local food security.  

 Goal 7: Public Health and Safety: Support a high quality of life through the protection and 
enhancement of community health, safety and well-being.  

 Goal 8: Climate Change: Minimize regional greenhouse gas emissions and plan for 
adaptation. 

The RGS is implemented within each community through official community plans, infrastructure 
plans, and regulatory tools such as zoning. The recently adopted Village of Cumberland Official 
Community Plan (OCP) is aligned with the goals of the RGS, as summarized in the Regional Context 
Statement in the OCP. 

While the RGS goals, objectives and policies have stood the test of time and continue to be 
relevant, much of the data and context in the 2011 document are out of date.  

In May 2023, the CVRD Board initiated an update of the data and context in the RGS through a 
minor amendment process. The minor amendment process can be used for administrative and 
contextual updates that do not change the vision, goals, or policy direction of the RGS. The 
decision to undertake a minor amendment process must be supported by two-thirds of the Board 
members present at the Board meeting where the question is considered. The minor amendment 
bylaw can be adopted by the Regional Board without the requirement for acceptance by municipal 
Councils.  

The proposed minor amendments to the RGS are captured in Bylaw No. 810. Bylaw 810 updates 
the population, demographics and employment projections, municipal and settlement expansion 
area boundaries, references to the K’ómoks treaty process, and greenhouse gas emission targets. 
Bylaw 810 also deletes outdated references, such as references to Sage Hills and to the Comox 
Valley Economic Society and updates terminology, such as changing “stakeholders” to “interested 
parties.” Newer organizations that have formed since the RGS was originally adopted, such as the 
Mid Island Farmers Institute, are added where relevant. Bylaw No. 180 also removes static policy 
indicators, instead referencing the online RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard. A few policies 
are updated to modernize them but not change the substance. Finally, in Part 5, section 5.1 (5) (p. 
119) language is added to develop action plans to guide implementation of RGS goals. This is done 
to clarify and reflect an already established practice and to facilitate implementation of the goals. 
An annotated version of Bylaw No. 810 showing the proposed amendments to RGS Bylaw No. 120 
is attached (Attachment 1: Annotated Bylaw No. 810). 

On page 13, under 2.3 Major Trends, paragraph 6, Bylaw No. 810 identifies that the transportation 
sector accounts for 57 per cent of all emissions in the Comox Valley. This update does not 
reference the year that the statistic was gathered. This is a small oversight and the CVRD is 

Page 66 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


Page 3 of 4 

encouraged to provide the date of this statistic and any other statistics that may not have been 
dated for the benefit of future readers. 

ANALYSIS 

Bylaw No. 810 does not change the vision, goals or objectives of the RGS. It makes minor changes 
to a few policies to update information and align with events that have occurred since adoption of 
the RGS but does not change the substance of the policies. The amendment that adds the 
development of action plans for each of the eight RGS goals is an implementation tool not 
previously identified but its earlier omission does not imply that it should not be used. Action plans 
are an important tool that supports the intent of the RGS and strengthens its implementation.  

Council support for Bylaw No. 810 is recommended. 

PUBLIC NOTIFICATION AND CONSULTATION 

As part of its process to amend the RGS, the CVRD Board approved a consultation plan at their 
March 5, 2025 meeting that included three groups: K’ómoks First Nation and other Indigenous 
communities;  member municipalities and the Intergovernmental Advisory Committee; and 
agencies and the general public. 

Information on the RGS amendment process is available on the CVRD website at 
https://www.comoxvalleyrd.ca/projects-initiatives/past-current-projects/regional-growth-
strategy-minor-amendment.  A public hearing on Bylaw No. 810 is scheduled for February 17, 
2026. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no financial implications of Bylaw No. 810 for the Village. 

OPERATIONAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no new operational implications of Bylaw No. 810 for the Village. Participation in the 
implementation of the goals and policies of the Regional Growth Strategy affecting municipalities, 
including the development of action plans directed at a specific goal, is part of the regular services 
of the Development and Bylaw Services department. 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 

Bylaw 810 updates information on international, provincial and regional climate change data, 
provincial regulatory changes and greenhouse gas emission targets, and CVRD action on climate 
change since adoption of the RGS in 2011. As Bylaw 810 does not propose to change goals, 
objectives or policies, it does not change the direction of the RGS on climate change.  

ALTERNATIVES 

1. THAT Council direct staff to communicate to the Comox Valley Regional District that the 
following amendments proposed by Bylaw No. 810 to the Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw 
No. 120 are not supported by the Village of Cumberland Council: 

a. ________________ 

b. ________________ 

Page 67 of 422



Page 4 of 4 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 

☐Diverse and Healthy Community 

☐Sustainable Service Delivery and Asset Management 

☒Community Planning 
 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Letter from CVRD Chair Will Cole-Hamilton, December 18, 2025 
2. Annotated Bylaw No. 810, 2025 

CONCURRENCE 

Courtney Simpson, Manager of Development Services CS 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
K. Albert 
____________________ 
Karin Albert 
Senior Planner 
 

M. Mason 
____________________ 
Michelle Mason 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 

Page 68 of 422



Office of the Chair 
 
770 Harmston Avenue, Courtenay, BC, V9N 0G8 
Tel: 250-334-6000     Fax: 250-334-4358 
Toll free:  1-800-331-6007 
www.comoxvalleyrd.ca 

The Comox Valley Regional District respectfully acknowledges the land on which it operates is  
on the unceded traditional territory of the K’ómoks First Nation, the traditional keepers of this land. 

File: 6410-20/RGS Minor Amendment 
 

December 18, 2025 
 

Sent via email only 
City of Courtenay 
Town of Comox 
Village of Cumberland 
Strathcona RD 
Regional District of Nanaimo 
qathet RD 
Alberni Clayoquot RD 
 
 
Dear Mayors and Councils / Chairs and Boards: 
 
Re: Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Minor Amendment Bylaw Referral 
 
Further to our notification letter dated November 7, 2025, I am writing to advise that on 
December 9, 2025, the Board gave first and second reading to Bylaw No. 810, Comox 
Valley Regional District Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010, Amendment No. 
2, and directed that a statutory public hearing be held. The public hearing is scheduled 
for February 17, 2026, in the CVRD Civic Room (770 Harmston Avenue, Courtenay), 
starting at 6 pm.  
 
Written comments will be accepted until the close of the public hearing.  
 
To support your review, the same online folder referenced in the earlier letter remains 
available. It contains the draft bylaw, an annotated version showing changes, and related 
staff reports. Should you have any questions regarding the minor amendment process or 
substance, please contact CVRD staff. 
 
Contact Information 
For questions or further details, please contact: 
Alana Mullaly, General Manager of Planning and Development Services 
Email: amullaly@comoxvalleyrd.ca | Phone: 250-334-6051 
 
 
 

Page 69 of 422

https://cvrdagendaminutes.comoxvalleyrd.ca/Agenda_minutes/CVRDBoard/BRD/09-Dec-25/20251202%20Warren%20SR%20RGS%20Amendment%20Board%20First%20and%20Second%20Readings.pdf
https://cvrdagendaminutes.comoxvalleyrd.ca/Agenda_minutes/CVRDBoard/BRD/09-Dec-25/20251202%20Warren%20SR%20RGS%20Amendment%20Board%20First%20and%20Second%20Readings.pdf
https://cvrdagendaminutes.comoxvalleyrd.ca/Agenda_minutes/CVRDBoard/BRD/09-Dec-25/20251202%20Warren%20SR%20RGS%20Amendment%20Board%20First%20and%20Second%20Readings.pdf
https://ln5.sync.com/dl/04d533b20/vq6s8pyg-zqz9cupr-bmu2tb9c-6qv26ryy
mailto:amullaly@comoxvalleyrd.ca


Page 2 
 

Comox Valley Regional District 

Background 
• In May 2023, the CVRD Board initiated an RGS amendment process under the minor 

amendment provisions of the Local Government Act, and affected local governments 
were notified in August 2023. 

• In March 2025, the Board confirmed that the proposed amendment meets the criteria 
for a minor amendment under both the LGA and the RGS Bylaw and approved the 
consultation plan. Feedback within the scope of a minor amendment has been 
incorporated; broader comments have been recorded for the next comprehensive 
RGS review, anticipated in 2027. 

• On November 7, 2025, a statutory 30-day written notice was sent to you to advise you 
of the date, time, and location of the Board’s intention to give the bylaw first reading. 

• On December 9, 2025, the Board gave first and second reading to Bylaw No. 810 and 
directed that a statutory public hearing be held. The bylaw referral is now being 
provided to all affected local governments. 

 
Please provide any comments to Alana Mullaly by the close of the public hearing on 
Tuesday, February 17, 2026.  
 
Scope of the Amendment 
As noted in the earlier letter, this amendment does not change the growth framework, 
vision, goals, or policies of the RGS. Its purpose is to update Census information, 
integrate the Board’s Indigenous Relations strategic driver, remove obsolete references, 
and revise mapping to reflect municipal boundary changes. The limited scope of the 
amendment includes: 
 
• Update population and employment projections. 
• Update maps to reflect lands incorporated into municipalities. 
• Update language to reflect the K’ómoks First Nation treaty process and include a 

reference to the Board’s Indigenous Relations strategic driver. 
• Apply the Indigenous Relations strategic driver to Part 4 (1)(c). 
• Update greenhouse gas emissions reduction targets. 
• Remove static policy indicators and integrate them into the online RGS Performance 

Monitoring Dashboard. 
• Delete obsolete references, including the former Comox Valley Economic 

Development Society. 
• Add a reference to develop action plans for each of the eight RGS goals. 
 
Thank you for your continued collaboration on regional planning matters. 
 
 
 
 

Page 70 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/
https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


Page 3 

Comox Valley Regional District 

Sincerely, 

Will Cole-Hamilton 
Chair 
Enclosure via Sync 

cc: Alana Mullaly, General Manager of Planning and Development Services 
Geoff Garbutt, CAO City of Courtenay 
Jordan Wall, CAO Town of Comox 
Michelle Mason, CAO Village of Cumberland 
David Leitch, CAO Strathcona RD 
Douglas Holmes, CAO RD of Nanaimo 
Al Radke, CAO qathet RD 
Daniel Sailland, CAO Alberni Clayoquot RD 

Page 71 of 422

https://ln5.sync.com/dl/04d533b20/vq6s8pyg-zqz9cupr-bmu2tb9c-6qv26ryy


  

 

 

Comox Valley Regional 
District Regional 

Growth Strategy Bylaw 
No. 120, 2010 

 
The following is a consolidated copy of the Comox Valley Regional District 
Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 bylaw and includes the 
following bylaws: 

 
Bylaw 
No.  

Bylaw Name Adopted Purpose 

120 Comox Valley Regional 
District Regional Growth 
Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 

March 29, 
2011 

Regional Growth 
Strategy 

539 Comox Valley Regional 
District Regional Growth 
Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 
2010, Amendment No. 1 

December 18, 
2018 

Text amendments to 
Schedule A of the RGS 

810 Comox Valley Regional 
District Regional Growth 
Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 
2010, Amendment No. 2 

 Minor amendment as 
part of the Five-Year 
Review 

 
This bylaw may be incomplete due to pending updates or revisions and is 

provided for reference purposes only. Titles and "whereas" clauses may differ 
from the original bylaws to enhance clarity and highlight historical changes 

and conditions. THIS BYLAW IS NOT SUITABLE FOR LEGAL PURPOSES. To access 
the complete and official version of the bylaw, please contact the Corporate 

Legislative Officer at the Comox Valley Regional District. 
 
 

Last Updated:  August 19, 2025

Page 72 of 422



  

 

COMOX VALLEY REGIONAL DISTRICT 
BYLAW NO. 120 

 
A bylaw to adopt the Comox Valley regional growth strategy 

 
WHEREAS the Local Government Act provides that a regional board may develop, 
adopt, implement, monitor and review a regional growth strategy under part 25 of the 
Act; 
 
AND WHEREAS the board of Comox Valley Regional District initiated the preparation 
of a regional growth strategy by resolution dated March 25, 2008; 
 
AND WHEREAS the board gave written notice of the initiation to affected local 
governments and the Minister of Community and Rural Development on April 7, 2008; 
 
AND WHEREAS the board established an intergovernmental advisory committee for 
the regional district when the regional growth strategy was initiated; 
 
AND WHEREAS the board adopted a consultation plan on January 27, 2009, to provide 
opportunities for early and ongoing consultation in accordance with the Act, and 
during the development of the strategy the board provided the opportunities for 
consultation required by the Act;  
 
NOW THEREFORE the board of the Comox Valley Regional District in open meeting 
assembled enacts as follows: 
 
Adoption of regional growth strategy 

1. Schedule ‘A’ attached to and forming part of this bylaw is adopted as the 
“Regional Growth Strategy for Comox Valley Regional District”. 

 
Severability 

2. If any section, subsection, clause or phrase of this bylaw is for any reason 
declared invalid by a Court of competent jurisdiction, the decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining sections, subsections, clauses or phrases of 
this bylaw. 

 
Bylaw citation and effective date 

3. This Bylaw No. 120 may be cited as “Comox Valley Regional District Regional 
Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010” and takes effect on the date adopted. 

  

Page 73 of 422



 

 
 
 

Schedule ‘A’ 
Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy 

Bylaw No. 120, 2010 
  

Note that only substantial changes are 
highlighted in gray. Grammatical, formatting, 
and other administrative changes (without 
altering the objectives and policy frameworks) 
are not highlighted for readability. 

 
The yellow highlighted annotated text boxes 
show changes made since the first draft was 
presented to the CVRD Board in March 2025. 

 
The green highlighted annotated text boxes 
show changes recommended by K’ómoks First 
Nation. 

 

Page 74 of 422



 

  

Page 75 of 422



 

 
 
 
 

Page 76 of 422



 

 

Contents 
 
List of Acronyms        X 
Part 1:  Introduction        X 
Part 2:  Context        X 

2.1 Setting the Stage        X 
2.2 K’ómoks First Nation      X 
2.3 Major Trends       X 
2.4 Population, demographics and employment   X 
  

Part 3:  Regional Policies       X 
 3.1 Vision        X 
  3.2 Policy Areas       X 

1. Housing       X 
2. Ecosystems, Natural Areas & Parks    X 
3. Local Economic Development     X 
4. Transportation        X 
5. Infrastructure        X 
6. Food Systems       X 
7. Public Health and Safety     X 
8. Climate Change      X 

 
Part 4: Managing Growth        X 
 4.1 A Strategy for Managing Growth     X 
 4.2 Collaborative Regional and Local Planning    X 
 4.3 Linking Growth Management and Regional Conservation  X 
 4.4 Growth Management Principles     X 
 4.5 Land-Use Categories and Designations    X 
  Core Settlement Areas        X 

Municipal Areas        X  
Settlement Nodes      X 
K’ómoks First Nation Lands     X 
Settlement Expansion Areas     X 

  Rural Areas         X 
Rural Settlement Areas      X 
Agricultural Areas      X 

  Resource Areas and Parks      X 
  Resource Areas        X 
  Provincial Parks        X 
  

Added a list of 
acronyms to 

improve 
readability 

Page 77 of 422



 

 

Part 5: Implementation and Monitoring     X 
5.1 Implementation Process       X 
 Review OCPs, Prepare and Include Regional Context Statements X 
 Develop and Adopt Implementation Agreements   X 
 Create Monitoring and Evaluation Program   X 
 Plan for Five-year Review     X 
 Undertake Additional Studies and Projects   X 

 5.2 Amendments to the RGS      X 
 Standard Amendments      X 
 Minor Amendments       X 
 Criteria for Minor Amendments     X 
 Minor Amendment Process      X 

 5.3 Roles and Responsibilities      X 
 
Glossary         X 
 
Appendices         X 
 Appendix A: Principles/Policy Objectives Matrix   X 
 
Maps 
Map No. 1  Context Map 
Map No. 2 K’ómoks First Nation Traditional Territory 
Map No. 3 K’ómoks First Nation Reserve Lands 
Map No. 4 Regional Conservation Framework 
Map No. 5 Growth Management Map 
 

Page 78 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 1  Page 79 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 2  

List of Acronyms 

 
ALC*  Agricultural Land Commission   
ALR*  Agricultural Land Reserve   
BC  British Columbia   
CEEI*  Community Energy Emissions Inventory   
CVRD  Comox Valley Regional District   
EFP*  Environmental Farm Plan   
ESA  Environmentally Sensitive Area   
GHG*  Greenhouse Gas   
IA*  Implementation Agreement   
ISMP* Integrated Stormwater Management Plan   
OCP  Official Community Plan   
RCS*  Regional Context Statement   
RGS  Regional Growth Strategy   
SC  Steering Committee   
SEI*  Sensitive Ecosystem Inventory   
TAC  Technical Advisory Committee   
WSA  Water Sustainability Act   
WSP  Water Sustainability Plan   
ZND*  Zero Net Deforestation   
 
* Terms with asterisks are defined in the Glossary  

  

Added a list of 
acronyms to 

improve 
readability 

Page 80 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 3  

 

 
 

01 Introduction 
  
  

 

Page 81 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 4  

Part 1:  Introduction 
 
The Comox Valley Regional District (CVRD) was established in February 
2008. The CVRD encompasses the Village of Cumberland, the Town of 
Comox and the City of Courtenay along with the electoral areas of Baynes 
Sound (A), Lazo North (B), and Puntledge-Black Creek (C)1 as shown on 
Map No. 1 Context Map. Within the region’s boundaries there is a 
population of approximately 71,300 people as of 2021. As of 2023, most of 
this population resides in the municipal areas (49,450 or 69 per cent), but 
there is also a growing population in the electoral areas of Baynes Sound, 
Lazo North, and Puntledge-Black Creek (21,850 or 31 per cent). 
 
By 2041, it is estimated that the population in the Comox Valley will grow 
to 92,790 people. This growth comes with associated needs and impacts 
that require regional coordination on issues that cross local government 
boundaries. These regional issues include provision of a range of housing 
options, protecting and enhancing the health of the natural environment 
and ecological connections, supporting the local economy, developing an 
efficient multi-modal transportation network, providing regional services, 
ensuring food security, public health planning and addressing climate 
change. Part 3 of this plan sets out goals and strategies for addressing 
these issues. The purpose of the Regional Growth Strategy (RGS) is to 
promote coordination among the municipalities and regional district on 
these issues that cross municipal boundaries and create clear, reliable 
links with the provincial ministries and agencies whose resources are 
needed to carry out projects and programs to help implement the RGS. 
 
The Comox Valley RGS reflects a partnership between the CVRD, the City 
of Courtenay, Town of Comox and Village of Cumberland. Adopted in 
2010, the RGS was informed by a draft Regional Water Supply Strategy, a 
draft Regional Sewer Strategy, and a draft Sustainability Strategy. The RGS 
serves to inform the provincial government of local priorities and 
objectives to encourage them to align their program delivery in support 
of these local priorities. 

 
1 Denman and Hornby Islands (part of Electoral Area A) are not included in the Comox Valley RGS. 
Land use planning for these areas is managed by the Islands Trust. (Some data includes Denman 
and Hornby Islands due to data source methodology; these instances are clearly identified.)   

Statistics 
updated 

Information 
updated 

General 
changes in 

this Part 
include 

updating 
statistics and 
legislations. 

Page 82 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 5  

The purpose of the RGS is to build consensus among local governments 
on future policies regarding land use activities and development over a 
20-year period, as legislated by Part 13 of the Local Government Act (RSBC, 
2015, c.1). The RGS provides a framework for decision-making and land 
use with the aim of preserving the region’s high quality of life. Specifically, 
the following key elements form the RGS as required by Provincial 
legislation: 
 

1. a vision statement on the future of the region over a 20-year time 
frame; 

2. population and employment projections for the region; and, 
3. actions to be taken in relation to specific matters: housing; 

ecosystems, natural areas, and parks; local economic development, 
transportation, infrastructure, food systems, public health and 
safety, and climate change.  

 
The RGS comprises five parts with supporting maps. Parts 1 and 2 
introduce the RGS process, context, and summarize the issues that the 
RGS policies address. Part 3 provides the eight RGS goals with associated 
policies and explanatory text. The explanatory text is provided to bring 
further clarity and intent to the policies, and they form part of the RGS 
bylaw. Part 4 provides direction on managing growth through the specific 
regional land use designations associated with Map No. 5: Growth 
Management Map. Part 5 provides details on the implementation and 
monitoring process of the RGS. Each of the Parts to the RGS are linked 
and should be read together as a single comprehensive policy framework 
for managing growth throughout the Comox Valley. Most specifically, the 
growth management policies in Part 4 must be read together and 
understood within the context of the Part 3 policies that provide guidance 
on the eight main goals of the RGS and Part Five policies that provide 
guidance on how to implement the RGS. 

Provincial 
Legislation 

updated 

Page 83 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 6  

  

Page 84 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 7  

  
02 Context 
    
 2.1 Setting the stage X 

 2.2 K’ómoks First Nation X 

 2.3 Major trends X 

 2.4 Population, demographics and employment X 

Page 85 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 8  

Part 2:  Context 
 
2.1  Setting the Stage (2008 – 2009) 
 
The RGS process required substantial intergovernmental support and 
interaction. The partnership and working process to develop the RGS 
included provincial representation and guidance. All four Comox Valley 
local governments were involved through a technical advisory committee 
(TAC), a steering committee (SC), and an intergovernmental advisory 
committee. 
 
The RGS issues and policies were also developed through ongoing 
consultation. In addition to focus group meetings with non-profits, 
businesses and service providers, a series of three public open houses 
and working sessions were held in each of the local government areas 
throughout Comox Valley during the day and evening. Following the open 
houses, materials were toured to civic centres throughout the Comox 
Valley. A series of workshops were also held in local high schools to 
engage youth in the long-term planning and thinking about their 
communities. Through video, photography and mapping, youth worked 
together to tell their own stories about places they care about in their 
communities. Issues were captured on video and displayed at the first 
round of open houses. Materials related to the RGS, including the youth 
workshops, open houses and three videos that documented the RGS 
process and public feedback are available on the CVRD website at 
www.comoxvalleyrd.ca. 
 
 
2.2  K’ómoks First Nation  
 
The CVRD acknowledges and respects that boundaries of the regional 
district reside entirely within the traditional territory of the K’ómoks First 
Nation illustrated on Map No. 2 K’ómoks First Nation Traditional Territory. 
The K’ómoks First Nation traditional territory extends from the south side 
of the Englishman River drainage, north along the height of land on the 
Vancouver Island Range, east along the height of land on the north side 
of Salmon River Valley, across the Johnstone Strait to Call Inlet, and 

General 
changes in this 

part include 
updates to 

demographic 
and other 

socio-
economic 

data, along 
with related 
tables and 

graphs. 

Page 86 of 422

http://www.comoxvalleyrd.ca/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 9  

Traditional 
Territories of 
First Nations 

updated 

Treaty 
ratification 
updated. 

 

Indigenous 
Relations as a 

CVRD Strategic 
Driver added 

 “and a 
revitalized 

relationship 
with all levels 

of 
government” 
removed and 
the year 2028 

added 

southeast down the centre of the Strait of Georgia back to the south side 
of the Englishman River, including islands and portions of the mainland. 
The Province of British Columbia’s Consultative Areas Database identifies 
the following Nations with overlapping traditional territory: We Wai Kai 
First Nation, Wei Wai Kum First Nation, Tla’amin Nation, 
Da'naxda'xw/Awaetlala First Nation, Tlowitsis Nation, Mamalilikulla First 
Nations, Homalco First Nation, Qualicum First Nation and Kwiakah First 
Nation. 
 
K’ómoks First Nation ratified their Treaty on March 8, 2025. This 
significant milestone is an important step toward self-governance. The 
CVRD recognizes that a future review of the RGS will require close 
collaboration with K’ómoks First Nation as their Treaty Lands will form an 
important part of growth and development in the region. While the 
ratification process with the provincial and federal governments will 
continue over the next several years, the CVRD will continue to work 
alongside the K’ómoks First Nation during the transition to self-
government. This includes ensuring that our planning documents remain 
nimble and able to incorporate input in future. The federal and provincial 
governments will proceed with their respective ratification processes 
through legislation. The K’ómoks Treaty will be signed and come into 
effect on Effective Date in 2028. K’ómoks First Nation reserve lands within 
the CVRD are identified on Map No. 3 K’ómoks First Nation Reserve Lands 
and Map No. 5: Growth Management. 
 
The CVRD acknowledges the importance of the K’ómoks First Nation in 
the RGS process and its role as a unique rightsholder and has worked to 
engage and inform K’ómoks First Nation throughout the RGS process.  
 
Treaty settlement lands are outside of the RGS legislative authority and 
K’ómoks First Nation’s title and rights are respected. The CVRD’s lands are 
adjacent to K’ómoks Treaty Lands and the CVRD is committed to ongoing 
engagement with K’ómoks to understand the Nation’s interests in the 
growth of the rural areas and how the regional management of this 
growth, including infrastructure, can impact the management and 
planning of K’ómoks lands.  
The CVRD Board has identified Indigenous Relations as a strategic 

Stakeholders are 
replaced with 
rightsholders 

and/or 
interested 
parties to 

acknowledge 
that Indigenous 

communities 
have inherent 

legal, historical, 
or constitutional 

rights rather 
than just an 

interest or stake 
in a decision.  

Page 87 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 10  

Statistics 
updated 

Statistics 
updated 

priority. In January 2020, the Board adopted an Indigenous Relations 
Framework to support Indigenous relations and promote greater cultural 
awareness. To support this commitment, the CVRD remains committed to 
building relationships with Indigenous peoples and advancing 
reconciliation through the RGS and other governing policies. 
 
 
2.3  Major Trends 
 
The following trends were identified in the RGS background paper 
Understanding Our Choices, released in the spring of 2009. The 
background paper provided an overview of the RGS goals and included a 
summary of related trends, findings and policy recommendations. The 
following major trends should not be read as policies, but rather as 
background information informing the specific goals and policies 
contained in this RGS. To ensure that the RGS stays relevant and responds 
to the changing issues of the Comox Valley, these trends should be 
revisited every five years as part of the RGS review (see Part 4, 
Implementation and Monitoring for the five-year review process). 
 
1. The Comox Valley is a growing region. In 2021, the population of the 

CVRD was 71,300, representing a nine per cent increase (+5,715) from 
2016. This growth rate was higher than the seven per cent increase 
(+4,027) recorded between 2011 and 2016. When the RGS was being 
prepared, it noted that the existing settlement pattern was still 
relatively compact and the overall housing stock was diverse. However, 
recent trends show a shift toward a more dispersed settlement 
pattern, made up mostly of low-density housing forms. If this trend 
continues, it will lead to significant urban and rural sprawl—putting 
pressure on the valley’s natural areas and ecological functions, 
increasing reliance on automobile travel, and undermining the 
character and livability of both rural and urban communities. 
Development must therefore be directed in a way that supports a 
sustainable, long-term pattern of growth, using land and 
infrastructure as efficiently as possible. 
Since the adoption of the RGS in 2011, the proportion of new housing 
units located within settlement nodes has increased to between 84 

Page 88 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 11  

Statistics 
added 

Statistics 
updated 

Multi-unit 
residences 

information 
added 

and 94 per cent (2020–2023), up from 65 per cent in 2006. This 
indicates that the trend toward sprawl has been mitigated.  
 

2. The population is rapidly aging. While an aging demographic is a 
phenomenon taking place throughout BC, it is an exaggerated trend in 
the Comox Valley (except for the Village of Cumberland, which has a 
growing youth demographic). The climate, natural areas and 
opportunities for recreation have made the valley an extremely 
attractive place for retirees. In 2021, there were 19,490 people aged 65 
years and over, an increase of 20 per cent (+3,265) from 2016. This 
growth rate was lower than 24 per cent increase (+3,200) recorded 
between 2011 and 2016. We need to account for this reality and 
respond to the types of living environments, mobility choices and 
health/social services required by an older population. The significance 
of this demographic trend is also evident in the funding of 
infrastructure. Specifically, we need to look beyond the short-term 
needs of young seniors (which will likely predominate over the next 10-
20 years) and be sure that the overall land-use pattern we are creating 
will allow them to maintain a high quality of life as they age. 
 

3. Affordability is a growing issue. The cost of home ownership has 
undergone a dramatic increase since 2001, while the average 
household income has been stagnant. The median home price rose by 
64 per cent between 2019 and 2022, nearly double the 33 per cent 
increase from 2016 to 2019. Such increases outpace the median 
household income growth of 23 per cent from $62,992 in 2016 to 
$77,500 in 2021. (Note that income data includes Denman and Hornby 
Islands.) While multi-unit residences have increased in recent years, 
they remain a small portion of overall housing supply. The result is 
that the cost of owning a home is now over seven times greater than 
income. Taken together with the fact that few alternatives to single-
household dwellings have been provided, a wide variety of people 
have an ever-smaller choice of housing options or are required to 
spend a significant proportion of their income on housing. This is not a 
sustainable pattern. Targets and policies are required to ensure a 
diversity of housing type, form, tenure and price are provided. 
 

Page 89 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 12  

Statistics 
added 

Information 
updated 

4. Working with the environment. Over the past 150 years, the 
functioning of the local natural systems in the Comox Valley has been 
impacted by a variety of land development decisions. The growth 
strategy can be a powerful tool for achieving the goal of 
understanding and working with the local ecological features and 
natural systems at a regional scale, identifying principles for 
conservation and providing guidance and direction on how to 
implement conservation strategies through official community plans 
(OCPs) and other means. Protecting our waterways and wetlands 
ensures clean water for fish and adequate supplies for homes, 
businesses and agriculture and aquaculture. Encouraging interest in, 
and personal responsibility for, the natural systems around us helps 
public health by drawing residents and visitors to go walking or hiking 
while promoting environmental well-being. Finally, the local natural 
beauty and environment attracts tourists from around the globe. 
 

5. Job creation is a challenge. The ratio of jobs to population is relatively 
low at 0.51 jobs per person. Job growth is also not keeping pace with 
population growth. This trend is expected to continue as there will be 
more people in the Comox Valley living off the wealth, they have 
accumulated in the past than current paid employment. Therefore, 
while the RGS must ensure that it facilitates local economic 
development, its focus should not be solely on targets for jobs or 
economic sectors. Rather, there should be a framework for local 
economic development by means of coordinating regulations; 
encouraging entrepreneurship; increasing value-added production; 
and, supporting local businesses so that wealth is maintained and 
circulated within the valley. 
 
Since 2011, the employment rate (the number of employed people as a 

percentage of the population aged 15 and older) decreased since 
2011: 
 
 

 

Page 90 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 13  

Water services 
projects 
updated 

Information 
updated 

Census Years 2011 2016 2021 

Comox Valley Employment Rate 
(includes Denman and Hornby Islands) 

54.8% 52.3% 51.3% 

 
6. A concerted effort is required to increase transportation choices. 

There are few transportation choices in the Comox Valley. The 
overwhelming majority of trips are made by private automobile. While 
this is typical of a rural area, the public transit modal share of less than 
1 per cent is half that of similar regions in BC. This presents a major 
obstacle to achieving serious reductions in greenhouse gas emissions 
as transportation accounts for 57 per cent of all emission in the valley. 
Working with BC Transit, significant investments will need to be made 
in public transit and coordination of land-use patterns that supports 
transit use. Similarly, strategies that facilitate walking and cycling as 
options (especially for non-work trips which are an increasing majority 
of trips) are required. 
 

7. Water is a scarce resource with many competing demands for its 
use. The Comox Valley Water System Water Efficiency Plan, originally 
adopted in 2009 and updated in 2021, has likely played an important 
role in the trend of improved water conservation. This plan will be 
updated in 2025 to include all the CVRD’s water systems. In 2016, the 
Water Sustainability Act (WSA) came into effect in BC, significantly 
reforming water management. The WSA introduced groundwater 
licensing and new area-based tools, such as Water Sustainability Plans 
(WSP) and WSA Objectives, to support watershed planning, regional 
water management and watershed governance. Water Master Plans 
were created for Union Bay (2022) and Black Creek-Oyster Bay (2023) 
and currently underway for the Comox Valley water system (2025), 
analyzing the systems’ current water supplies, fire flow capabilities, 
water demands and requirements for future growth. 

 
8. A strong local food system is becoming critical. Within the Comox 

Valley there is a regional interface of the urban and rural areas. People 
living in the urban areas have access to local food and country 
character, while people in the rural areas benefit from easy access to 
municipal services and a local market. This interface is critical in 

Page 91 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 14  

Provincial 
targets 

updated 

Strategies, 
projects and 

initiatives 
updated 

Updated with 
challenges 
from the 

pandemic  

supporting a strong local food system. The extent of shoreline areas 
and lands contained within the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) has 
meant that food production has been an important component of the 
local economy and culture. This is an important asset to build upon as 
food security and access to locally grown and harvested food is 
becoming increasingly important. The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted 
significant vulnerabilities in global food supply chains, further 
emphasizing the need for local resilience. Rising gas prices and the 
environmental impact of transportation-related greenhouse gas 
emissions are also creating a greater awareness among consumers as 
to the origin of what they eat and how it is produced. As a result, there 
is an increased demand for local food production – whether that is in 
the form of agriculture, aquaculture or community and private 
gardening.  

 
9. A response to climate change is required. In 2010, countries around 

the world have committed to reducing Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
(GHG) by 80 per cent by 2050 and the G8 has recently set out an 
ambitious target to restrict increases in global temperatures to two 
degrees. The Province of BC has created the most ambitious policy 
framework within North America for achieving GHG reductions and 
combating climate change. The Province is committed to reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions by 16 per cent below 2007 levels by 2025, 
40 per cent by 2030, 60 per cent by 2040 and 80 per cent by 2050.The 
framework requires that local governments monitor and reduce 
emissions related to transportation, energy consumption by buildings, 
land use change and solid waste. At a local level, we are beginning to 
plan for a carbon shift that will see reliance on oil and non-renewable, 
polluting resources decline as the economy focuses on clean and 
renewable energy sources. This will have a significant impact on the 
communities we build, the buildings we construct and the 
transportation investments we make. In addition to reducing GHG 
emissions, there must also be plans in place to mitigate the current 
and growing effects of climate change. 
 
Since the adoption of the RGS in 2011, the CVRD has implemented a 
range of strategies, projects, and initiatives to reduce regional 

Page 92 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 15  

Homelessness 
information 

added 

greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and plan for climate adaptation. 
These include the Corporate Energy and Emissions Plan and various 
GHG reduction measures. As of June 2025, a regional biological carbon 
sequestration study is underway to identify sources, opportunities to 
protect and enhance them, and to provide recommendations for 
action. This study contributes to the goal of achieving net-zero 
corporate emissions by 2050. 
 
The CVRD is also a signatory to the BC Climate Action Charter. As a 
signatory, the CVRD is eligible for a conditional grant through the Local 
Government Climate Action Program. In return, we commit to working 
toward carbon neutrality in our corporate operations, measuring and 
reporting our GHG emissions, and supporting the creation of 
complete, compact, and energy-efficient rural and urban communities. 

 
10. Improve and plan for long-term public health and safety. Land use 

patterns and activities have a variety of impacts on public health and 
safety – ranging from decreased levels of physical activity and higher 
incidences of obesity, increasing homelessness, limited means of 
accessing health care and emergency services, fire and police services, 
and ensuring safe drinking water. This broad range of public health 
and safety issues should be addressed through consideration of how 
services are accessed and provided and active transportation 
strategies (such as walking and cycling with associated infrastructure 
and connections) that will facilitate more active lifestyles and improve 
the long-term health of people in the Comox Valley.  

 
11. Support economic development opportunities for the K’ómoks 

First Nation. As the K’ómoks First Nation proceeds through the treaty 
settlement process and toward settlement of outstanding legal claims, 
they may have access to both lands and financial resources. Coupled 
with a strong desire to engage in local economic activity, there is 
considerable potential for increased participation by K’ómoks First 
Nation in business and job creation in the region. Support for K’ómoks 
First Nation economic objectives and initiatives is embedded within the 
RGS. 

 

Page 93 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 16  

Statistics 
updated 

Statistics 
updated 

 
2.4. Population, Demographics and Employment2 
 
Looking toward 2041, the RGS is required to make a series of forecasts, 
including population, households and labour force. These forecasts are 
provided as ‘targets’ to guide policy development but do not establish a 
cap or limit on overall growth. The table below summarizes RGS forecasts. 
More detailed information is provided in the sub-sections. 
 

Summary CVRD Population, Housing and Employment Projections 

 2021 Estimate 2026 Forecast 2041 Forecast 
2021-2041 

Change 

Population 71,3003 76,815 92,790 
+21,490 
(+30%) 

Households 30,795 34,275 42,260 
+11,465 
(+37%) 

Labour Force4 34,120 35,123 38,130 
+4,010 
(+19%) 

 
 
Population 
 
Between 2016 and 2021, the Comox Valley experienced an annual 
average population growth rate of 1.7 per cent, reaching a total of 71,300 
residents in 2021This growth varies among local municipalities, with the 
Village of Cumberland witnessing the fastest rate in the valley. Projections 
indicate that by 2026, the population will rise to 76,815 and is forecasted 
to reach approximately 92,790 by 2041. This represents an increase of 
about 21,490 residents since 2021, amounting to a potential 30 per cent 
growth from 2021 to 2041. As the Comox Valley is a popular destination 
for vacations and second homes, part-time residents are not included in 
these figures. 
 
 

 
2 Unless otherwise mentioned, statistics in this section do not include Denman and Hornby Islands. 
3 From CVRD Regional Housing Needs Report, August 2024. 
4 Labour Force data include Denman and Hornby Islands. 

Page 94 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 17  

Historical Population Trend 
In the early 1990s, the Comox Valley was among the fastest-growing 
regions in the province, with a 25 per cent increase in population between 
1990 and 1995. The late 1990s saw slower growth, likely due to a 
downturn in resource-based economies across BC. While significant 
growth is projected up to 2041, the rate of growth in five-year intervals is 
expected to gradually soften over time. 
 
The CVRD has experienced a positive net influx of people, with notable 
shifts in migration trends since 2014: 
 
• Annual Migration Rates: From 2014 to 2023, the CVRD saw an average 

of 1,550 new residents annually, a substantial increase from the 740 
people per year between 2002 and 2014. 

 
• International Migration: Historically minimal, international migration 

saw spikes between 2015–2019 and 2021–2023. In 2022/23, 
international in-migration peaked, coinciding with the first net loss of 
migrants from other provinces in two decades. 

 
• Origins of Newcomers: New residents primarily originated from other 

regions within BC, supplemented by in-migration from other 
provinces. This pattern shifted in 2022/23, with changes in the sources 
of new residents. 

 
• Natural Population Change: Since around 2011, an expanding senior 

population has led to higher death rates compared to birth rates, 
causing a gradual decline in net natural population growth. 

Page 95 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 18  

Graph 
updated 

Graphs 
updated 

 
Annual Demographic Change Related to Migration 
(Source: 2024 CVRD Regional Housing Needs Report) 

 

 
* Census data includes Denman and Hornby Islands 
 

9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

0 to 1 year

 5 to 9 years

15 to 19 years

25 to 29 years

35 to 39 years

45 to 49 years

55 to 59 years

65 to 69 years

75 to 79 years

85 to 89 years

Percentage of Population

Ye
ar

s

2021 Population by Gender and Age Cohort
FEMALES

MALES

Page 96 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 19  

 
* Census data includes Denman and Hornby Islands 
 
Housing 
 
Like many Canadian communities, the CVRD has faced increasing housing 
pressures, notably rising costs. Recognizing the importance of up-to-date 
insights, the CVRD commissioned a Regional Housing Needs Report in 
2020 and updated in 2024 to provide a current assessment of housing 
needs and projections for future demand. 
 
The report highlights several key housing trends. Nearly one-quarter of 
the CVRD’s dwellings were built in the 1990s, a period of significant 
growth not matched by construction in recent years. Currently, 
approximately 77 per cent of households in the CVRD are owner-
occupied. From 2019 to 2022, the median home price surged by 64 per 
cent, a sharp rise compared to the 33 per cent increase recorded from 
2016 to 2019. By 2023, an estimated 795 units in the area were operating 
as short-term rentals, further impacting local housing availability. 
 
In terms of housing need, approximately 9 per cent of households were 

9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

0 to 1 year

 5 to 9 years

15 to 19 years

25 to 29 years

35 to 39 years

45 to 49 years

55 to 59 years

65 to 69 years

75 to 79 years

85 to 89 years

Percentage of Population

Ye
ar

s

2041 Population Projection by Gender and Cohort
FEMALES

MALES

Housing 
Needs Report 

data added 

Page 97 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 20  

classified as in Core Housing Need in 2021, with higher rates among 
renters, single individuals, lone parents, Indigenous households, 
transgender or non-binary persons, and refugees. The report projects 
that the CVRD will require an additional 17,750 housing units by 2041 to 
meet anticipated demand and help stabilize the market. By 2026, around 
5,320 new units may be needed, mostly in market housing, yet there is a 
critical need for below-market and deeply affordable housing options for 
both owners and renters. 
 
Employment and Job Forecasts  
 
An analysis of census data from 2011, 2016, and 2021 reveals 
employment trends across 20 industry sectors. Sectors like professional 
services, manufacturing, construction, healthcare, utilities, finance, and 
accommodation and food services have experienced growth. Conversely, 
sectors such as real estate, wholesale and retail trade, public 
administration, education, mining, and agriculture have declined. 
 
These industry trends are influenced by various demographic factors. An 
aging population is driving increased demand for healthcare services, 
while potentially leading to a decline in physically demanding sectors like 
agriculture and mining. A rising workforce is fueling growth in 
professional services roles. Declining birth rates may lead to a decrease in 
demand for education services. Population growth from in-migration is 
contributing to increased demand for construction and utilities. The rise 
of e-commerce is impacting the retail and wholesale trade sectors. 
  

Census data 
updated 

Page 98 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 21  

Table updated 

 
Employment Estimates and Forecasts 

 Census Years   Forecast** 

 2011 2016 2021 
Avg. 

Change
/ Yr 

Avg. 
Change/ 

Yr % 
2026 2041 

Professional, scientific & technical 
services 

1790 1580 2390 60 3.08% 2690 3590 

Manufacturing 790 1140 1040 25 2.90% 1165 1540 
Construction 2725 3080 3405 68 2.25% 3745 4765 
Health care & social assistance 4120 4425 4970 85 1.89% 5395 6670 
Utilities 150 65 155 0.5 1.79% 158 165 
Finance & insurance 660 795 745 8.5 1.25% 788 915 
Accommodation & food services 2155 2530 2330 17.5 0.81% 2418 2680 
Other services (except public 
administration) 1370 1350 1470 10 0.71% 1520 1670 

Transportation & warehousing 1260 1380 1340 8 0.62% 1380 1500 
Admin., waste mgmt. & 
remediation services 1375 1330 1445 7 0.50% 1480 1585 

Arts, entertainment & recreation 885 885 925 4 0.44% 945 1005 
Information & cultural industries 410 400 425 1.5 0.36% 433 455 
Agriculture, forestry, fishing & 
hunting 1845 1975 1820 -2.5 -0.13% 1808 1770 

Retail trade 4580 4280 4470 -11 -0.24% 4415 4250 
Mining, quarrying, & oil & gas 
extraction 405 380 380 -2.5 -0.63% 368 330 

Educational services 2510 2240 2305 -20.5 -0.84% 2203 1895 
Public administration 3085 2570 2750 -33.5 -1.11% 2583 2080 
Wholesale trade 655 465 575 -8 -1.14% 535 415 
Real estate & rental & leasing 665 515 535 -13 -2.11% 470 275 
Management of companies & 
enterprises 

0 15 30 3 N/A 45 90 

All industries* 31440 31390 33505 206.5 0.64% 
3453

8 37635 

* Census data include Denman & Hornby Islands 
** Forecast projected from 2021 using average annual changes 

 

Page 99 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 22  

  

Page 100 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 23  

  
03 Regional Policies 
    
 3.1 Vision X 

 3.2 Policy Areas 
1. Housing 
2. Ecosystems, Natural Areas & Parks 
3. Local Economic Development 
4. Transportation 
5. Infrastructure 
6. Food Systems 
7. Public Health and Safety 
8. Climate Change 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

Page 101 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 24  

Part 3:  Regional Policies 
 
 
3.1 Vision 
 
The RGS vision statement describes the desired future for the region and 
sets the basic direction for planning, policies and action. The vision for the 
Comox Valley has been developed through ongoing community 
consultation throughout the RGS process. 
 
The Comox Valley will continue to evolve as a region of distinct, well-connected 
and well-designed urban and rural communities. As stewards of the 
environment, local governments, the K’ómoks First Nation, public agencies, 
residents, businesses and community and non-governmental organizations will 
work collaboratively to conserve and enhance land, water and energy resources 
and ensure a vibrant local economy and productive working landscapes. 
 
Many of the strategies in the RGS require cross-jurisdictional 
collaboration. to plan for long-term growth that is sustainable and 
sensitive to the unique character of the local communities within the 
Comox Valley, local governments and the K’ómoks First Nation will need 
to work together, and in partnership with other orders of government, to 
achieve the goals set out in the RGS.  
 
 
3.2 Policy Areas 
 
The following goals will help to guide long-term growth in the Comox 
Valley. The goals reflect rightsholders, interested parties and public input 
and respond to the identified challenges and opportunities that the 
Comox Valley will face over the next 20 years from 2011. These goals are 
organized into eight inter-related policy areas: 
 
 
 
 
 

Stakeholders are 
replaced to 

update 
language 

General changes 
in this part 

include directing 
readers to the 

RGS 
Performance 
Monitoring 

Dashboard for 
the latest 

performance 
measures and 

updating 
statistics. 

Timeline 
updated for 

clarity 

Page 102 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 25  

Goal 1: Housing:  
Ensure a diversity of housing options to meet evolving demographics and 
needs.  
 
Goal 2: Ecosystems, Natural Areas and Parks:  
Protect, steward, and enhance the natural environment and ecological 
connections and systems. 
 
Goal 3: Local Economic Development:  
Achieve a sustainable, resilient, and dynamic local economy that supports 
Comox Valley businesses and the region’s entrepreneurial spirit.  
 
Goal 4: Transportation:  
Develop an accessible, efficient, and affordable multi-modal transportation 
network that connects Core Settlement Areas and designated Town Centres; 
and links the Comox Valley to neighbouring communities and regions. 
 
Goal 5: Infrastructure:  
Provide affordable, effective, and efficient services and infrastructure that 
conserves land, water, and energy resources. 
 
Goal 6: Food Systems:  
Support and enhance the agricultural and aquaculture sectors; and increase 
local food security. 
 
Goal 7: Public Health and Safety:  
Support a high quality of life through the protection and enhancement of 
community health, safety, and well-being.  
 
Goal 8: Climate Change:  
Minimize regional greenhouse gas emissions and plan for adaptation. 

Page 103 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 26  

Each RGS goal contains six components: 
 
Issue overview  
Provides a general description of the issue. 
 
Current situation  
Localizes the issue within the regional context based on background 
research in Understanding Our Choices and supporting regional strategies 
(Comox Valley Sustainability Strategy, Comox Valley Water Supply Strategy, 
and Regional Sewerage Master Plan.)  
 
Objectives  
Specific objectives related to the policy issue. 
 
Targets  
Provides a series of targets at interval years to monitor the effectiveness 
of the RGS policy implementation. 
 
Measures  
Types of data that will be used to monitor the achievement of targets, 
such as census data, the production of studies and data from local 
municipalities  
 
Supporting policies  
Policies that will help to achieve the objectives and meet the targets set 
out in the RGS. 
 
Each of the goals, objectives and supporting policies found in Part 3 
inform and provide guidance on interpreting and implementing the 
growth management policies found in Part 4 of this RGS. 

Page 104 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 27  

GOAL 1: HOUSING 
 
Ensure a diversity of affordable housing options to meet evolving regional 
demographics and needs. 
 
Issue overview 
 
Housing location, type, affordability, and choice play a central role in 
supporting more complete communities and can have long-term impacts 
on a region’s economic health, environmental performance and overall 
sustainability. Housing can be located to help reduce infrastructure costs 
and improve its efficiency, support public transit services, and support 
more active, healthier transportation choices like walking and biking. 
Affordable housing can also attract employers and working households 
and permits families to invest more time and energy in other aspects of 
community life. Housing diversity allows people and families to live and 
stay in the Comox Valley regardless of their age, lifestyle interests, 
household arrangements, or financial situation.  
 
Current situation 
 
In the past several years, the Comox Valley has experienced almost every 
type of residential development. Ranging from multi-household infill in 
downtown centres to rural and suburban subdivisions, this development 
has increased housing supply and housing choice. Much of this growth 
occurred within and around the municipalities of Comox and Courtenay. 
Almost three-quarters of Comox Valley residents live in one of the three 
local municipalities or within one kilometre of their boundaries.  
 
Some of the major housing trends and issues include: 
 

• Growing housing demand: The CVRD may need an additional 
17,750 housing units to be built by 2041 to meet anticipated 
demand. 
  

• Housing supply: Under the 2023 Provincial Bill 44, a minimum of 

2024 Housing 
Needs Report 

data added 

Page 105 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 28  

two dwellings must be allowed per lot across member 
municipalities and electoral areas. Lots smaller than 0.4 hectares—
or those zoned as such—that are connected to both public water 
and sewage systems (and are not otherwise exempt) must allow a 
minimum of three or four dwelling units. Additionally, in areas near 
“frequent” bus services, once transit improves to meet population 
growth, a minimum of six dwelling units for lots greater than 281 
square metres (As of January 2025, the Comox Valley Transit 
System does not meet the Provincial frequency measure). Member 
municipalities and the CVRD have amended their Zoning Bylaws to 
align with these legislative requirements. This proactive approach 
helps to increase housing supply, especially as infill within existing 
developed communities. 
 
Note that for properties within the Agricultural Land Reserve (i.e., 
lands designated as “Agricultural Areas” and “Agricultural Areas 
within Municipal Areas”), residential development is regulated by 
the Agricultural Land Commission Act and the ALR Use Regulation. 
These regulations already permit limited residential density, 
including a principal residence of up to 500 square metres, a 
secondary suite within that residence, and one additional 
residence: up to 90 square metres for parcels 40 hectares or 
smaller, or up to 186 square metres for parcels larger than 40 
hectares. Accordingly, the number and size of dwellings on ALR 
parcels must not exceed what is permitted under these regulations. 

 
• Dispersed housing locations:5 In 2021, the CVRD had 

approximately 30,795 households, reflecting a nine per cent 
increase from the 2016 Census count of 28,245. Historically, the 
communities of Courtenay and Cumberland have shown the 
highest growth rates, a trend anticipated to continue over the next 
two decades. Growth is expected across all CVRD communities, with 
total households projected to increase by 37 per cent between 2021 

 
5 2024 Regional Housing Need Report 

Provincial 
Legislation 
Changes 
updated 

Housing 
Needs Report 

data added 

ALC 
information 
added for 

clarity 

Page 106 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 29  

Graph 
updated 

and 2041, reaching approximately 42,260. This would mean an 
addition of approximately 11,465 new households in the Comox 
Valley by 2041. 
 
Figure below illustrates each community’s 2021 estimated total 
households and the anticipated 20- year net growth in households. 

 
 

Historical and Anticipated Households, Net Anticipated Change of Households 
Since 2021 

(Source: 2024 CVRD Regional Housing Needs Report) 
 
 

• Limited housing choice: 6 In 2021, single-detached homes formed 
most of the housing supply in the CVRD, with a total of 20,225 units. 
Apartments, including duplexes, represented 14 per cent of the 
housing stock, amounting to 3,225 units.  

 
• Affordable housing:7 The housing landscape is changing 

significantly, with population and household growth from 2016 to 
2021 driving sharp increases in home prices and rental costs. From 
2019 to 2022, median home prices rose by 64 per cent, and 
apartment rents increased by 36 per cent, exacerbating housing 
affordability challenges. 

 
6 Ibid. 
7 Ibid. 

Housing 
Needs Report 

data added 

Page 107 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 30  

 
In 2021, approximately nine per cent of households experienced 
Core Housing Need, affecting renters, single individuals, lone 
parents, Indigenous households, refugees, and transgender or 
non-binary persons disproportionately. To support vulnerable 
populations, an estimated 3,934 below-market and 747 deeply 
affordable units may be needed over the next 20 years. 
The CVRD may need an additional 17,750 housing units by 2041 to 
meet demand and stabilize the market, with about 5,320 units 
needed by 2026. While most demand will be met by market 
housing, there remains a need for both below-market and deeply 
affordable housing options for owners and renters.  

 
• Homelessness Situation: The 2023 Homeless Count identified 272 

individuals experiencing homelessness in a 24-hour period, more 
than double the 132 counted in 2020. Of those counted, 65 per cent 
were sheltered and 35 per cent were unsheltered. Adults aged 25 
to 54 made up the majority (65 per cent), followed by seniors (27 
per cent) and youth under 25 (8 per cent). 
 
Indigenous people were disproportionately represented at 28 per 
cent, compared to 7 per cent of the general population. Among 
them, 67 per cent reported personal or generational experience 
with residential schools. 
 
Key drivers of homelessness included inadequate income (56 per 
cent), substance use (31 per cent), and mental health issues (27 per 
cent). Chronic homelessness was prevalent, with 77 per cent 
homeless for over a year. Multiple health concerns and unstable 
shelter arrangements, including shelters, vehicles, and outdoor 
locations, were commonly reported. 

 
Objectives 
 
Objective 1-A: Locate housing close to existing services 
 
More complete and sustainable communities typically locate residential 

Homelessness 
data added 

Page 108 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 31  

development near services, amenities, and jobs. As of 2006, most of the 
population resides in the urban areas (65 per cent) with a smaller, yet 
growing, population in the rural areas (35 per cent). Housing in a 
complete community is developed with densities sufficient to support 
frequent local and regional transit. The proximity and density make more 
effective use of infrastructure and public resources, and supports 
healthier transportation choices, like walking and cycling. More compact, 
efficient residential development also allows environmentally sensitive 
and working landscapes to be better protected (see Goal 6 Food Systems).  
 

MEASURES 
Baseline 

(2006) 

TARGETS 
Data 

sources Short-term 
(2015) 

Medium- 
term (2020) 

Long-
term 
(2030) 

Per cent of new 
housing units in 
Core Settlement 

Areas 

65% 90% 90% 90% 

Statistics 
Canada and 

BC Stats 
(2006) 

Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 
 
 
Supporting policies  

 
1A-1 Based on RGS growth management strategy locate housing 

close to existing services and direct 90 per cent of new, 
residential development to Core Settlement Areas.  
 

1A-2 The focus of higher density and intensive developments shall be 
within the existing Municipal Areas. Within the Municipal Areas 
densification and intensification of development is required 
including infill and redevelopment. 

 
1A-3 Identify specific Town Centres in Municipal Areas through the OCP 

review process. These Town Centres are to be developed as 
walkable and complete communities, providing for a range of 
housing types focusing on medium and high-density housing, 
employment and commercial uses. There will be a minimum of 
one Town Centre in the City of Courtenay, one Town Centre in the 
Town of Comox and one Town Centre in the Village of 

RGS 
Performance 
Dashboard 

link added for 
latest data 

updates 

Page 109 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 32  

Cumberland. 
 

1A-4 Within Settlement Nodes densification and intensification of 
development is required however it will be less intensive than in 
Municipal Areas. These nodes are to be developed with centres 
that are walkable and limited to local services with a range of 
housing types focusing on low density multi residential and 
medium density. 
 

1A-5 Revise OCP land use policies that unnecessarily restrict infill and 
redevelopment in Core Settlement Areas and Town Centres to 
maximize housing potential in those locations. The mix of land 
uses in Settlement Nodes will be reviewed through the OCP 
process. 
 

1A-6 Increase housing opportunities in existing residential areas in 
Core Settlement Areas by encouraging multi-household 
conversions, secondary suites, and small lot infill. 
 

1A-7 Settlement Expansion Areas are areas of potential growth subject 
to several conditions as set out in Part 4 of the RGS. Growth in 
Settlement Expansion Areas will occur in a phased and orderly 
manner and will undergo a public planning process to 
determine the appropriate scale and form of development. Until 
such a public planning process has occurred and the conditions 
of Part 4 are met, any development in Settlement Expansion Areas 
will be subject to a minimum lot size of 4 hectares.  

 
 
Objective 1-B: Increase affordable housing options 
 
A scarcity of affordable housing can force households to overextend their 
finances or relocate to a different community. Often these households are 
composed of the working people who provide essential services to the 
public and to other community members. Housing is considered 
affordable when the total shelter costs, including utilities and taxes, 
amount to less than 30 per cent of a household’s gross annual income. 

Page 110 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 33  

Affordable housing is realized in many forms, ranging from moderately 
sized and apportioned market housing to secondary suite rentals to 
subsidized and cooperative housing.  
 

MEASURES Baseline 
(2006) 

TARGETS 
Data 

sources 
Short-term 

(2015) 
Medium- 

term (2020) 

Long-
term 
(2030) 

Per cent of 
household 

paying more 
than 30% of 

their income on 
housing 

Renters: 
43.4% 

 
Owners: 

22.7% 

Renters: 
35% 

 
Owners: 

15% 

Renters: 
30% 

 
Owners: 

10% 

Renters: 
20% 

 
Owners: 

10% 

Statistics 
Canada and 

BC Stats 
(2006) 

Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 
 
 
Supporting policies  
 

1B-1 Adopt the following definition of affordable housing: 
household and shelter costs equate to less than 30 per cent 
of total before-tax household income. 

 
1B-2 Encourage residential multi-unit or multi-lot developments to 

contribute to affordable housing options including, but not 
limited to a range of unit sizes and types, lot sizes, multi-
household or attached-unit buildings, rental units, and 
secondary suites. These contributions could take the form of 
land, cash, buildings or other such items as supported by the 
local governments. 

 
1B-3 Coordinate opportunities for developers to provide market 

and non-market affordable housing, such as rezoning 
contributions, inclusionary zoning, or reduced application 
fees.  

 
1B-4 Consider the development of a Regional Affordable Housing 

Strategy to be used as a common resource and strategic plan 
by the regional district and the three municipalities. The 

Definition 
updated from 

Housing 
Needs Report 

Page 111 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 34  

strategy could review and coordinate affordable housing 
policies, while allowing each jurisdiction to address their 
unique affordability issues. 
 

1B-5 Require local governments to have provisions for developing 
affordable housing in new OCPs and other bylaws. 
 

1B-6 Explore a delivery mechanism for a provincial non-profit 
program and assist local governments in the provision of 
non-profit housing, in their jurisdiction.  

 
 
Objective 1-C: Develop and maintain a diverse, flexible housing stock 
 
Over the medium and longer-terms, the Comox Valley will need to 
provide housing opportunities to a wide range of households and 
families, including a growing population of seniors and the workers who 
will provide services for them, young families, retirees, and individuals 
with special needs. Housing can also be planned and designed for 
adaptability. This means that in the future, they can be easily expanded or 
converted for changing household types or additional households.  
 
The following targets for the short, medium and long term provide 
targets for the mix of housing built within a given time frame.  
 

MEASURES 
Baseline 

(2006) 

TARGETS 
Data 

sources Short-term 
2010- 2015 

Medium- 
term 2015-

2020 

Long-term 
2025 - 2030 

New 
housing 
mix in 

municipal 
areas 

Low 75% 
 

Medium 20% 
 

High 5%8 

Low 65% 
 

Medium 20 % 
 

High 15 % 

Low 55% 
 

Medium 25% 
 

High 20 % 

Low 40% 
 

Medium 30% 
 

High 30% 

OCP 
review 

process 

 
 

 
8 Estimate based on Stats Canada 2007, 2006 Community Profiles, 2006 Census. Note that 
percentages range within each of the municipalities. 

Page 112 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 35  

MEASURES 
Baseline 

(2006) 

TARGETS 
Data 

sources Short-term 
2010- 2015 

Medium- 
term 2015-

2020 

Long-term 
2025 - 2030 

New 
housing 
mix in 

settlement 
nodes 

Low 90% 
 

Medium 10% 
 

High 0% 

Low 80% 
 

Medium 15% 
 

High 5% 

Low 60% 
 

Medium 30% 
 

High 10% 

Low 50% 
 

Medium 35% 
 

High 15% 

OCP 
review 

process 

Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 

 
 

Supporting policies  
 

1C-1 Provide a diversity of housing types in the Municipal Areas using 
the following housing type targets for new development by 
2030: These targets are for all Municipal Areas in aggregate. 
 

40% Low Density  
• Single dwelling unit, town homes, semi-detached, secondary 

suites  
• 4-24 units per hectare  

 
30% Medium Density  
• Low-rise multi-unit up to four storeys 
• 24-74 units per hectare  

 
30% High Density 
• Over four storey multi-units 
• Minimum 74 units per hectare  

 
1C-2 Provide a diversity of housing types in the Settlement Nodes 

using the following housing type targets for new development 
by 2030: These targets are for all Settlement Nodes in 
aggregate. 
  

50% Low Density  
• Single unit residential, town homes, semi-detached, secondary 

suites 
• 4-24 units per hectare  

Page 113 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 36  

 
35% Medium Density  
• Low-rise multi-unit up to four storeys 
• 24-74 units per hectare  

 
15% High Density 
• Over four storey multi-units 
• Minimum 74 units per hectare  

 
1C-3 Encourage both rural and urban alternative housing forms that 

provide housing at lower costs and with lower environmental 
impacts.  
 

1C-4 Encourage infill units and secondary suites in residential zones 
in the Core Settlement Areas.  

 
1C-5 Encourage multi-unit housing, and small-lot housing in the Core 

Settlement Areas wherever it can be supported by regular transit 
and infrastructure services.  
 

1C-6 Assess housing needs as part of OCP update or review 
processes to ensure adequate housing is provided to support 
for current and future needs (e.g., seniors, households with 
children, and young adults) and ensure related policies are 
incorporated (e.g., local housing stock targets and location 
suitability). 

 
 
Objective 1-D: Minimize the public costs of housing 
 
Housing requires a long-term investment of public resources. Housing 
located in hazard areas require special protective and support services or 
structural mitigation. Housing that consumes too much energy or water 
requires bigger and more costly infrastructure and have a larger impact 
on the health of natural resources.  
 
 
 

Page 114 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 37  

Supporting policies  
  

1D- 1  Direct most of the new housing to areas that are or will be 
serviced through publicly owned water and sewer systems.  

 
1D- 2  Direct new housing away from high-risk natural hazard areas 

such as flood plains, areas exposed to sea-level rise, fire hazard 
areas, and steep and unstable slopes.  

  
1D- 3 The electoral areas OCPs will be updated to provide a range of 4 

to 20 hectares lots within the Rural Settlement Areas; however, 
lots as small as 2 hectares may be permitted if agriculture is the 
principal use on the property.  

 
1D-4 Encourage green building design through green building 

standards for new residential development that include water 
and energy efficiency practices. 

Page 115 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 38  

GOAL 2: ECOSYSTEMS, NATURAL AREAS AND 
PARKS 
 
Protect, steward, and enhance the natural environment and ecological 
connections and systems. 
 
Issue overview 
 
Ecologically, the Comox Valley is one of the most diverse in Canada. 
Comox Valley’s natural beauty derives from the stunning mix of glacier, 
mountains, sea and almost everything in between, from globally rare 
temperate rainforests to Garry Oak meadows to complex wetlands and 
rich estuaries. This rich and diverse landscape has supported the equally 
rich cultural heritage of the K’ómoks First Nation and the valley’s more 
recent settlers and newest residents. Recognizing the importance of these 
landscapes, each of the local governments promotes environmental 
protection and enhancement through specific policies such as the 
provision of corridors, protection of environmentally sensitive areas 
(ESAs) and guidelines for riparian areas.  
 
The landscape is an intricate balance of natural systems. All ecosystems 
are the product of formative systems (e.g., hydrology, winds, and coastal 
currents). To protect ecosystems, it is necessary to understand and 
protect the systems that create and sustain them. For example, when 
protecting a wetland by setting it aside within a development, it is also 
important to design the development to maintain the water source that 
feeds the wetland. 
 
Although local governments have several initiatives underway to protect 
the environment, there is a strong need for a regional and coordinated 
approach to environmental protection and enhancement that emphasizes 
protection, enhancement and connectivity. In recognition of this, the 
CVRD Board endorsed the concept of regional conservation put forward 
in the Nature Without Borders Regional Conservation Strategy (July 2008).  
 
 

Regional 
conservation 

map using 
Nature without 

Borders was 
removed, as 
newer data 
are used for 

the same 
regional 

conservation 
map. 

 Page 116 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 39  

Further, in 2022, the CVRD Board established a Regional Parks and Trails 
Service to help protect regionally significant natural areas and to support 
opportunities for people to connect with nature through nature-based 
recreation. The Regional Parks and Trails Strategic Plan (November 2024) 
will guide the delivery of this service over the next 20 years. 
 
The goals of the Regional Parks and Trails Strategic Plan are: 

1. Work together with K’ómoks First Nation to plan and manage 
2. Protect regionally significant natural areas 
3. Increase environmental and community connectivity 
4. Provide opportunities for nature-based recreation 
5. Strengthen stewardship and community partnerships 
6. Manage in a proactive and sustainable manner 

 
Note: This plan applies specifically to regional parks and trails. Electoral 
Area community parks are guided by a separate document, the Rural 
Comox Valley Parks and Greenways Strategic Plan (2011), which contains 
different goals. 
 
Current situation 
 
The ecological diversity of the Comox Valley is protected through several 
local government policies. However, development pressure continues to 
impact natural systems. The goal over the next 20 years will be to manage 
population growth in a way that enables both human and non-human life 
to flourish. This means striving to balance the human need for resources, 
recreation, enjoyment and aesthetics with the need to protect, conserve 
and restore natural areas and biodiversity. This requires an 
understanding of the natural and formative systems that create the local 
landscape, so that we can guide development to work with the 
environment and ensure the natural landscape will continue to provide 
the resources necessary for many generations to come. 
 
Providing parks and trails close to where people live encourages physical 
activity and promotes mental health obtained from walking, cycling or 
riding in natural areas away from busy streets. Depending on their use 
and management, parks and recreational trails that are intended for 

New Regional 
Parks Service 
information 

added 

Page 117 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 40  

human enjoyment, can also contribute to the protection and conservation 
of nature. 
 
Currently, municipal parks provide space for public assembly and sports 
fields, such as Simms Millenium Park and Lewis Park as well as large 
nature reserves such as Hurford Hill, Roy Morrison, Lerwick, Sandwick and 
Millard Nature Parks. Electoral area community parks and the BC Hydro 
recreation area provide for extensive trail systems close to where people 
live such as Seal Bay, Nymph Falls and BC Hydro’s Puntledge River 
Recreation Area. Strathcona Provincial Park has outstanding subalpine 
natural areas and backcountry recreation opportunities. There are also 
several smaller provincial parks such as Kitty Coleman Beach Park, Kin 
Beach Park, Rosewall Creek Park and Miracle Beach Park. 
 
Extensive backcountry recreation provides both local and tourist activity 
and takes place throughout the Comox Valley on private forest land. As 
the population grows, the demand for this kind of recreational activity will 
grow as well. 
 
The following policies, in combination with the other goals set out in the 
RGS, provide a land use framework that positions regional conservation 
as an integral component of growth management. To be successful, the 
region must be viewed as an interconnected system where land use 
decisions have a long-term impact on the health of ecosystems. 
 
Objectives 
 
Objective 2-A: Identify and map areas for conservation.  
Loss of natural areas and renewable resource productivity (i.e., fisheries, 
forestry, agriculture and aquaculture) is often the result of a lack of data 
and understanding of the local landscape and formative systems. 
Currently there are gaps in environmental data, including a lack of detail 
in provincial and federal Sensitive Ecosystem Inventory (SEI), mapping 
data for marine ecosystems and limited access to data on upland 
resource areas. Obtaining more detailed and complete information on 
ecosystem location and function will facilitate improved growth 
management decisions for ecosystem protection. 

Added  
“community”  

for clarity 

Page 118 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 41  

The Regional Conservation Framework Concept Map No. 4 provides 
information based on the principles of connecting habitats to support 
biodiversity and precautionary growth wherein local governments and the 
development community should work to share information and ground-
truth ecosystems moving forward. The following components and 
implementation guidelines provide a starting point for local governments 
to incorporate into OCPs. These components will collectively be referred 
to as regional conservation areas within the policies of this chapter.  
 
Estuaries: A semi-enclosed coastal body of water with one or more 
riverine or streams flowing into it, and with a free connection to the open 
sea. Due to their marine and river influences, they contain many 
biological niches within a small area and are so associated with high 
biological diversity. Estuaries offer biodiversity and migrating fish 
corridors that allow movement of aquatic species from the ocean to 
upland rivers and streams and back to the ocean. The K’ómoks Estuary is 
one of only eight Class 1 estuaries in BC. It provides habitat for numerous 
species of birds, plants and fish. 
 
Riparian areas: Riparian areas describe the distinct ecology that 
surround streams and wetlands. These ecosystems vary in width 
depending on the associated watercourse, vegetation and landforms. 
Riparian areas are noted on Map No. 4 but are not specifically mapped 
due to the scale and detail of the Regional Conservation Framework Concept 
Map No. 4. 
 
Sensitive ecosystems: Sensitive ecosystems are areas that may contain 
rare, threatened and fragile ecosystems and support high levels of 
biodiversity. Land management policies should include practices like the 
removal of invasive species, re-introduction of native plant and animal 
species, ongoing maintenance and monitoring, and restricting human 
activity as required. These sensitive ecosystems were identified through 
the SEI that identifies remnants of rare and fragile ecosystems (on land).  
 
For these areas, policies should follow a spectrum from low to high 
human activity and access commensurate with the size of the protected 
area and level of ecological sensitivity. In select circumstances, this may 

Courtenay 
River Estuary 
updated to 

K’ómoks 
Estuary 

Page 119 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 42  

include limited development opportunities in specified locations or access 
to resources (e.g., fishing, and selective harvesting of berries and trees) 
 
Other important ecosystems: Other Important ecosystems include 
second growth forests and seasonally flooded agricultural lands.  
 
Critical watersheds: The Browns, Tsable and Oyster Rivers, and Comox 
Lake are critical watersheds in the Comox Valley. In addition to providing 
drinking water sources, these watersheds provide linkages for wildlife 
from the east coast of Vancouver Island to the west coast, via Strathcona 
Park.  
 
Biodiversity corridors: Biodiversity corridors link natural features and 
create linkages for wildlife and plants to move between sensitive 
ecosystems, parks and protected areas but does not allow for public 
access on private lands. Creating regional linkages or corridors promotes 
the concept of ‘connectivity’ for a healthy regional conservation network. 
The Regional Conservation Framework Concept Map No. 4 illustrates how 
biodiversity corridors could create connectivity throughout the region, 
running north/south and east/west. Through more detailed study, policies 
should be developed to focus conservation efforts in these areas and to 
cross-jurisdictional stewardship. As a starting point, the conceptual 
biodiversity corridors could be implemented in the Resource Areas where it 
can be ensured that the corridor can be protected if it exists. Recognizing 
that these corridors will traverse privately owned working landscapes, 
participation by private landowners would be voluntary and will not 
interfere with farm practices. 
 
Existing parks and proposed parks and greenways: These are the 
municipal and electoral area community parks identified through the 
OCPs and the provincial parks. These areas are protected from 
development and may serve multiple uses, ranging from sports and 
recreation to nature conservation. These areas should be managed to 
support natural system functions where appropriate. All OCPs have 
provisions for parks and greenways; the goal will be to connect these 
areas to other conservation areas to form a network that balances human 
needs with biodiversity protection. 

Added 
“community” 

for clarity 

Page 120 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 43  

Supporting policies 
 

2A-1 Local governments should individually or jointly adopt regionally 
consistent terminology, as set out above, to create a policy 
framework to support protection of conservation, 
environmental features and watersheds in OCPs. 
 

2A-2 All local governments are encouraged to either individually or 
jointly regularly update environmental mapping. This will 
facilitate the production of mapping that depicts critical 
information such as sensitive ecosystems, watercourses and 
riparian areas, parks and greenways, and working landscapes 
including ALR. 
 

2A-3 Use a sensitive environmental atlas as a common method of 
collecting and displaying conservation and environmental 
information. 
 

2A-4 OCP updates should include mapping of regional environmental 
features. 
 

2A-5 Ground-truthing and mapping should be considered as part of 
the planning updates and development approvals process. 
OCPs, rezonings and other permitting processes, should seek to 
collect such information wherever possible. 

 
2A-6 Working with private landowners, environmental organizations 

and upper-level governments, local governments should 
encourage and assist in the sharing of mapping and ground-
truthing. 
 

2A-7 Work with the K’ómoks First Nation so that environmental 
mapping reflects K’ómoks First Nation’s unique traditional 
ecological knowledge, cultural heritage and traditional use of 
the area.  

 

Page 121 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 44  

 

2A-8 Recognize the ecological and cultural significance of the 
K’ómoks Estuary. The K’ómoks Estuary Management Plan was 
collaboratively developed between 2009 and 2013 with the 
participation of the K’ómoks First Nation, senior government, 
local governments, and various interested parties. This plan is 
recognized as a supporting document within the K’ómoks First 
Nation's Comprehensive Community Plan 1.0, adopted in 2014. 
 

2A-9 The RGS supports the implementation of local government 
parks and greenways plans and policies to establish a network 
of interconnected local and electoral area parks and greenways 
to protect recreational opportunities, wildlife habitat and natural 
ecosystem functions. 
 
For lands within the Agricultural Land Reserve, Section 22 of the 
Agricultural Land Reserve Use Regulation permits open land parks 
only for purposes related to biodiversity conservation, passive 
recreation, heritage, wildlife, or scenery viewing. Proposed 
parks or trails that do not meet these criteria will require 
approval from the Agricultural Land Commission. 

 
 

Objective 2-B: Frame environmental protection and policies around 
the principles of precaution, connectivity and restoration. 
 
To address the loss and fragmentation of sensitive ecosystems, a set of 
overarching, guiding principles for growth management and land-use 
practices is needed. The following principles are to be considered 
regarding specific development proposals which significantly impact 
sensitive ecosystems. Collectively applied, they will help maintain the 
region’s biodiversity. 
 
Precaution: Where the environmental outcomes of a specific 
development proposal will significantly impact sensitive ecosystems err 
on the side of caution and require documentation as to impact, 
mitigation, and restoration or limit the action to avoid significant impact. 

K’ómoks 
Estuary 

Management 
Plan 

information 
updated 

ALR land 
information 

added 

Page 122 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 45  

 
Connectivity: Recognize the issue of connectivity regarding potential 
impacts on the integrity and functionality of sensitive ecosystems. 
 
Restoration: Where cost effective, consider the restoration or creation of 
natural systems to provide sustainable environmental services (e.g., 
storm water ponds for improving water quality; tree cover for capturing 
carbon; and reducing GHG emission). 
 
Supporting policies  

 
2B-1 Local governments should work together to adopt consistent 

actions and policies for environmental and natural resource 
protection, through OCPs, zoning and other mechanisms, that 
promote the principles of precaution, connectivity and 
restoration. 

 
2B-2 OCPs should explore the development of clear definitions and 

guidelines for ecological greenways and to work with 
neighbouring local governments to create region-wide linkages.  

 
2B-3 Explore and encourage the practice of restoration of urban and 

rural ecosystems to increase ecological functions. 
 
Objective 2-C: Promote environmental best practices in Agricultural 
and Resource Areas. 
 
Agricultural and Resources Areas provide many opportunities to contribute 
to healthier ecosystem functioning and offer important habitat for some 
animal and plant species. At times, there will be competing interests 
within these areas between private owner interests, conservationist goals 
and the production of agricultural goods. The following policies aim to 
support production within Agricultural and Resource Areas as economic 
industries while also recognizing the importance of environmental best 
practices in these areas. 
 
 

Page 123 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 46  

Supporting policies  
 
2C-1 Encourage landowner contact and education programs and, 

where feasible, require landowners to protect the sensitive 
environmental and unique natural features on their land. 

 
2C-2 Explore additional opportunities for habitat restoration and 

conservation covenants on agricultural and forestry lands. 
(Note that conservation covenants that restrict agriculture on 
land in the ALR have no force and effect unless approved by the 
Agricultural Land Commission (Section 22 of the Agricultural 
Land Commission Act.)) 

  
2C-3 Implement 400-hectare minimum parcel size in Resource Areas 

to retain large, contiguous areas. 
 
2C-4 Support continued application and uptake of BC Environmental 

Farm Plan. 
  
2C-5 All local governments will ensure appropriate buffers and 

transition zones between working landscapes and residential 
areas to minimize negative impacts from residential 
development on farm and resource land. Buffer and transition 
zones will be promoted to support ecological connectivity and 
ecological system functions. Local governments should also 
reference the Ministry of Agriculture and Food’s Guide to Edge 
Planning (2015), which includes guidelines on setbacks and 
buffering. In general, setbacks and buffers should be located on 
the non-ALR side and required regardless of whether the 
adjacent parcel is actively used for agriculture. 

 
2C-6 Implement best practices in creating trails in Agricultural Areas 

as set out in the Ministry of Agriculture and Food’s Trails in Farm 
and Ranch Areas.  

 
2C-7 As part of the Comox Valley Agricultural Plan update (see 6E–3), 

explore incentives for conservation on agricultural lands. 

Plan name 
updated 

ALR 
information 

added 

Resource 
information 

added 

Page 124 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 47  

 
2C-8 Support increased water availability for agriculture while 

ensuring natural systems remain healthy and functioning. 
 
 

Objective 2-D: Ensure access to parks, recreation areas. 
Increased access to parks and recreational greenways provides wide-
ranging community health, economic and quality-of-life benefits. 
Ensuring recreational opportunities enables community members to 
actively and passively experience the region’s spectacular natural and 
cultural heritage and encourages tourism and the growing field of eco-
tourism. 
 
 
 
Supporting policies  
 

2D-1 All local jurisdictions should work together to coordinate local 
and regional greenway network connections. 

 
2D-2 Require new developments to link to, improve or expand the 

existing greenway network. 

Page 125 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 48  

GOAL 3: LOCAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 
Achieve a sustainable, resilient, and dynamic local economy that supports 
businesses and the region’s entrepreneurial spirit. 
 
Issue overview 
 
A healthy, strong and diverse local economy is one of the cornerstones of 
more sustainable and complete communities. Complete communities not 
only attract new investment and jobs, but they also help retain existing 
jobs, encourage entrepreneurship and create a solid tax base to better 
support local service delivery. Without a strong local economy, Comox 
Valley local governments may have difficulty funding important services, 
residents may be forced to work further from their homes, and overall 
community liveability may suffer. 
 
The RGS provides an opportunity to encourage and support the 
development of a more diverse and healthier local economy, which in 
turn will help support the Comox Valley on its journey to become a more 
sustainable region.  
 
 
Current situation 
 
The Comox Valley’s regional economy is relatively diversified compared to 
other North Island communities. In 2021, health care, retail, construction, 
and public administration were dominant labour force sectors. Most 
employment is centered in-and-around the Courtenay-Comox hub. The 
2021 ratio of jobs-to-population was relatively low at 0.51 jobs per person.  
 
Like the broader provincial and global economies, the Comox Valley 
experienced steady growth from 2002 to 2007. However, this growth 
stalled in 2008 due to the recession. Despite this setback, the region's 
strong fundamentals supported an eventual return to economic health. 
After 2008, recovery was driven by growth in tourism, construction, and 
service industries. The COVID-19 pandemic subsequently disrupted the 
economy, severely affecting tourism, hospitality (such as restaurants), and 

Statistics 
added 

Page 126 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 49  

small businesses facing supply chain challenges. Although tourism has 
gradually recovered, inflation and economic uncertainty continue to 
challenge businesses and residents in the region. Some of the major 
economic sectors and opportunities include: 
 

• Tourism: Year-round tourism is supported by the region’s natural 
beauty and outdoor recreation opportunities with unique 
opportunities in each of the local jurisdictions. Additionally, Mt. 
Washington Ski Resort has engaged in a long-term plan to become 
a year-round destination resort. The proximity to major local, 
Canadian and U.S. markets (e.g., Vancouver, Victoria, Washington 
State, and Alberta), and excellent air, water and land transportation 
links support ongoing tourism development. The region has also 
embraced emerging tourism markets, including agritourism and 
cultural tourism. 
 
Starting in 2023, the CVRD launched a comprehensive tourism 
strategy with a 10-year outlook. This Comox Valley Tourism 
Strategy Plan will serve as a roadmap to guide tourism 
development in a way that supports long-term economic growth 
while prioritizing the health of the environment and the well-being 
of local communities. The draft plan will be presented to the CVRD 
Board in summer of 2025. 
 

• The Comox Valley Airport has dramatically improved 
transportation options for the region and is a considerable 
economic development opportunity. The Town of Comox has 
created an industrial area adjoining the airport for air services-
related businesses. The airport and the new air services industrial 
land base could help attract new businesses to the region.  
 

• Agriculture and aquaculture: Agriculture is an important 
economic engine and over the longer-term it is expected to 
increase as the demand for locally produced foods and value-added 
foods grows. Growing food security concerns will also help drive 
the growth of this sector. The shellfish industry remains a major 
and growing employer in the region. The area is the hub of BC’s 

Reference to 
Comox Valley 

Economic 
Development 

Society 
removed 

Comox Valley 
Tourism 
Strategy 
added 

Page 127 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 50  

oyster farming sector. The K’ómoks First Nation have a rich 
tradition of aquaculture in Comox Valley. Pentlatch Seafoods Ltd. is 
owned by the K’ómoks First Nation and has sites located in the 
Comox Harbour, Royston and Baynes Sound, possessing 7 intertidal 
tenures totaling 64.3 hectares. 
 

In December 2024, the Comox Valley Agricultural Plan was 
presented to the CVRD Board. The updated plan provides a 
strategic framework for strengthening the region’s agri-food sector 
in the face of current challenges and future uncertainties. 
Developed through broad engagement with producers, local 
government, and community partners, the CVAP outlines 21 actions 
under five goals: water stewardship, land protection, economic 
growth, climate resilience, and public awareness. While it does not 
directly address household food insecurity, the plan supports a 
resilient agricultural economy that contributes to community food 
security. Rooted in the region’s rich agricultural history, including 
Indigenous food systems, the plan envisions a future where diverse 
farms thrive, new farmers are supported, and agricultural land and 
water are protected. Implementation will require sustained 
collaboration, shared leadership, and investment over the next 
decade.  

 
• Public sector employment: As the largest public sector employer 

in the region, the Canadian Forces air base has long been a 
regional employment anchor and will likely remain so for the 
future. North Island Hospital Comox Valley, a regional hospital 
opened in 2017, is the second major public sector employer in the 
region. 

 
• Forestry and other resource industries: While the region’s 

historic economic drivers have declined significantly, major, long-
term opportunities remain for value-added forestry in the region. 
Mining and metals processing has also recently re-emerged as a 
potential longer-term employer with new mine development 
proposals. Renewable energy generation has the potential to be an 
emerging industry in the Comox Valley. 

Hospital 
opened since 

RGS was 
adopted 

Comox Valley 
Agricultural 

Plan 
information 

added 

Page 128 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 51  

 
• Retail and human services: Courtenay-Comox is a regional hub for 

shopping and services which also draws some business from 
neighbouring regions. Opportunities exist to diversify and expand 
the range of services available, particularly in health care with the 
new hospital, and, potentially, in post-secondary education services 
for the North Island. Given the aging demographics, additional 
employment within the social service sector is also anticipated to 
occur. 
 

• As K’ómoks First Nation moves toward settlement of outstanding 
legal claims, it is expected that they will have access to both lands 
and financial resources coupled with a strong desire to engage 
local economic activity. There is considerable potential for their 
increased participation in business and job creation in the region. 

 
 
Objectives 
 
Objective 3-A: Support local business retention, development and 
investment 
Through Comox Valley Tourism Service, and in collaboration with local 
government economic development strategies or action plans, create a 
positive business-enabling environment through cooperating on policies 
and procedures that help to support and retain existing businesses and 
attracts new businesses and investment.  

 
Supporting policies 
 
3A-1 Encourage responsible expansion of the economic base of the 

Comox Valley with the intent of enhancing wealth and 
employment opportunities. 

 
3A-2 Ensure the creation of regional economic development plans 

include multi party process involving all local governments and 
economic development interested parties, including the K’ómoks 

Reference to 
Comox Valley 

Economic 
Development 

Society 
removed; also 

update 
information 

that member 
municipalities 
have their own 

strategies or 
action plans  

Stakeholders 
replaced with 

updated 
language 

Page 129 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 52  

First Nation, and relevant non-government. 
 

3A-3 Promote supportive development and business-permitting 
standards. 

 
3A-4 Focus investment and business development in Town Centres. 

 
3A-5 Support economic objectives and initiatives of the K’ómoks First 

Nation, including future economic opportunities, where 
appropriate, on K’ómoks First Nation lands. 

 
 
Objective 3-B: Increase regional job base 
 

Complete communities with a healthy balance of people and jobs tend 
to have a ratio of approximately 0.65 jobs per resident. The region’s 
growing senior population makes achieving such a high ratio difficult, 
but a goal of 0.55 jobs per resident is realistic over the longer term. 
This ratio will help create a diverse, dynamic and self-supporting local 
economy and will make it possible for the valley’s younger population 
to find work and remain in the community.  

 

MEASURES Baseline 
(2008) 

TARGETS 
Data 

sources 
Short-term 

(2015) 
Medium- 

term (2020) 
Long-term 

(2030) 

Job-to-
population 

ratio 
0.45 0.48 0.52 0.55 

Census 
Canada, 
BC Stats 

Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard  for the latest performance measures. 

 
Supporting policies 
 
3B-1 Support the intensification of mixed-use office, retail and other 

commercial employment activities in Town Centres located within 
Core Settlement Areas. 

 
3B-2 Protect and enhance ALR lands with the intent to grow and 

diversify the base of agricultural activities. 

Reference to 
Comox Valley 

Economic 
Development 

Society 
removed 

Page 130 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 53  

 
3B-3 Preserve designated Resource Areas forestry lands for sustainable 

and value-added forestry and agroforestry purposes and 
discourage conversion of forestry lands for residential 
development. 

 
3B-4 Explore initiatives that support value-added, community-based 

business development, including, but not limited to, local food 
processing, specialty forest products and other value-added 
product manufacturing. 

 
3B-5 Monitor the supply of readily serviced industrial land in the 

region with the objective of maintaining sufficient capacity to 
meet the needs of the regional economy.  

 
3B-6 Utilize an eco-industrial networking approach for industrial land 

development (i.e., work to co-locate businesses that can create 
collaborative networks to more efficiently and effectively use 
resources, such as materials and energy). 

 
3B-7 Encourage green jobs and technology to locate in the Comox 

Valley. 
3B-8 Investigate opportunities to support the expansion of regional 

employment where proposals are consistent with the policies of 
the RGS. 

 
3B-9 Encourage tourism, including cultural and eco-tourism 

opportunities, within the Comox Valley. 
 
 
Objective 3-C: Support resource-based employment opportunities 
 
Forestry, fishing and agriculture remain important regional economic 
activities. It is anticipated that agriculture, aquaculture and value-
added forestry will continue to grow in the future. Mining and 
aggregate extraction presents other longer-term opportunities as well 
provided environmental and human health issues are appropriately 

Page 131 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 54  

managed. Each sector could support additional employment and 
generate additional local revenues, particularly if a value-added 
approach was taken with any future resource development initiative. 
Real and growing food security issues will help propel local agriculture 
over the longer term. 
 

MEASURES 
Baseline 

(2008) 

TARGETS Data 
sources 

Short-term 
(2015) 

Medium- 
term (2020) 

Long-term 
(2030) 

Agriculture & 
resource-

based 
employment* 

1,400 (5%) 1,650 (5%) 1,800 (6%) 2,200 (6%) 
Census 
Canada, 
BC Stats 

*Note: based on 2% average annual growth over 2008 baseline 
Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 
 
 
Supporting policies 
 

3C-1 Work with the Ministry of Agriculture and Food, and the 
Agricultural Land Commission to develop strategies and actions 
to increase the amount of actively farmed agricultural lands and 
reduce barriers to agricultural viability in Agricultural Areas. 

 
3C-2 Encourage the development of infrastructure to help increase 

agricultural production such as irrigation water and regional 
drainage improvements. 

 
3C-3 Work to develop suitable policy and regulations that limit country 

estate residential impacts while supporting small scale 
agricultural operations on smaller lots to enable new farmers to 
enter the industry. 

 
3C-4 Recognize the long-term economic development potential 

represented in forestlands in designated Resource Areas and 
restrict residential development on them.  

Page 132 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 55  

 
3C-5 Support public education activities to raise awareness of the 

region’s resource sector and the value-added opportunities 
contained therein. 

 
3C-6 Encourage value-added, community-based forest use 

applications in Resource Areas, including, but not limited to, 
community-owned woodlots, eco-forestry enterprises and home-
based value-added forest product manufacturing. 

 
3C-7 Support regional aquaculture industries and collaborate with 

them on developing foreshore land use and water management 
policies that protect and steward on-shore and off-shore shellfish 
beds and marine water quality. Policy development should 
include community input to address impacts (e.g., visual, waste, 
noise, public access, and navigable waters). 

 
3C-8 Support the development of Resource Areas for resource uses in 

addition to forestry and agriculture, provided that environmental 
values and sensitive ecosystems and wildlife habitat is protected. 

 
3C-9 Encourage renewable energy generation and related jobs. 

 
3C-10 The provincial government and any potential mining operators in 

the Comox Valley should work with local governments to 
minimize negative impacts of mining and aggregate extraction 
on the human or natural environment.  

 
 
Objective 3-D: Promote designated Town Centres as regional 
employment centres. 
 

Mixed-use, compact and accessible employment centres (i.e., accessible 
by foot, transit, bike, and car) tend to retain, attract and encourage new 
business development better than a more dispersed and scattered 
local job base, single use downtowns, or office parks. Town centre-
based employment areas also tend to be less expensive to service and 

Page 133 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 56  

maintain.  
 

MEASURES Baseline 
(2008) 

TARGETS 
Data 

sources 
Short-term 

(2015) 
Medium- 

term (2020) 
Long-term 

(2030) 

% jobs 
located in 

town 
centres* 

Cumberland: 
5% 

Comox: 25% 
Courtenay: 

55% 

Cumberland: 
6% 

Comox: 26% 
Courtenay: 

56% 

Cumberland: 
7% 

Comox: 27% 
Courtenay: 

57% 

Cumberland: 
7%, 

Comox: 28% 
Courtenay: 

58% 

Census 
Canada, 
BC Stats 

*Note: baseline estimate from, Understanding Our Choices RGS Background Report, 2009  
Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 
 

 
Supporting policies 
 

3D-1 Update OCPs and implement zoning that supports intensification 
of mixed-use office, retail and other commercial employment 
activities in designated Town Centres located within Core 
Settlement Areas. 

 
3D-2 Retain and attract new businesses, investment and employment 

in designated Town Centres located within Core Settlement Areas. 
Revitalization tools and policies should be linked to RGS 
environmental and green development/building objectives 

 
3D-3 Examine development cost charges rates, tax structures and 

land use regulations to ensure development in Town Centres 
results in reduced costs that are realized by the municipalities. 

 
3D-4 Partner with BC Transit, the province and the federal 

government to encourage better public transportation to, 
through and between designated Town Centres located within 
Core Settlement Areas. 

 
3D-5 Encourage major public sector employers to coordinate their 

future facilities and development plans in support of the 
intensification policies of the RGS. 

Page 134 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 57  

GOAL 4: TRANSPORTATION 
 
Develop an accessible, efficient, and affordable multi-modal transportation 
network that connects Core Settlement Areas and designated Town Centres; 
and links the Comox Valley to neighbouring communities and regions. 
 
Issue overview 
 
Comox Valley residents depend on a municipal and provincial 
transportation network and services for work, recreation and day-to-day 
travel, while the local economy depends upon the network for safe and 
efficient goods movement. The following policies set out a long-term 
strategy for strengthening the regional transportation system with an 
emphasis on creating more opportunities for sustainable, efficient and 
effective transport options and networks. Increased efficiency in 
transportation will also help to decrease GHG emissions and non-
renewable energy use (see Goal 8). 
 
 
Current situation 
 
The transportation system in the Comox Valley is made up of several 
distinct elements operated and managed by different levels of 
government and a variety of authorities. Major components and 
operators include two major provincial highways, a network of local 
roads, the Comox Valley Airport, BC Ferries, BC Transit, and interregional 
transportation operators.  
 
Note: Where new roads or active transportation routes (e.g., multi-use 
paths) are proposed within the Agricultural Land Reserve, only certain 
upgrades are permitted outright under Section 18 of the Agricultural Land 
Reserve Use Regulation. Development of new transportation infrastructure 
generally requires approval from the Agricultural Land Commission. 
 
 
 

Reference to 
Greyhound 
bus service 
removed 

ALR land 
information 

added 

Page 135 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 58  

Objectives 
 
Objective 4-A: Increase public transit use. 
 
Supportive land use policies and actions will be critical in achieving 
ridership and mode share targets in the Comox Valley. Although ridership 
has increased in the past several years through improved transit service, 
ridership growth cannot be sustained unless there are some fundamental 
changes in land use. Transit oriented land use planning considers the 
location of density, a mix of uses, and the design of road networks. 
Medium and higher density nodes ensure that there are more people 
within walking distance of transit routes, and still allows for lower density 
areas. Additionally, mixed-use development tends to generate 
bidirectional travel and travel throughout the day. Transit also needs to 
be considered when designing road networks. These should be designed 
so that there is a direct route for transit through the centre of a 
population or employment area, without the need for circuitous routing. 
 
Transit use in the rural areas requires strategies that consider the lower 
density nature of rural residential development, the cost of transit, and 
nature of daily trips. Specialized services such as smaller community bus 
programs can help to tailor transit service to rural areas. 
 

MEASURES 
Baseline 

(2006) 

TARGETS Data 
sources 

Short-term 
(2015) 

Medium- 
term (2020) 

Long-term 
(2030) 

Transit 
mode share 

1% 1.5% 2% 2.5% 
BC 

Transit 

Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 
 
 
Supporting policies 
 

4A-1 Implement the growth management strategy, as outlined in Part 
4, as an overall framework for transit-supportive land-use 
planning throughout the Comox Valley.  

Page 136 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 59  

 
4A-2 Local governments should work with BC Transit to ensure that 

bus schedules facilitate access between Town Centres to K’ómoks 
First Nation IR Lands, CFB Comox, North Island Hospital Comox 
Valley, connections with Mount Washington, North Island 
College, the Comox Valley Airport and Settlement Nodes. 
 

4A-3 Major public institutions and employment uses should be in Core 
Settlement Areas and served by frequent transit and active 
transportation infrastructure (e.g., bike lanes and walking trails). 

 
4A-4 Develop specific public transportation options for Rural 

Settlement Areas, reflective of the unique needs and challenges in 
providing cost effective service to rural communities. 

 
4A-5 Through municipal OCP reviews develop strategies to reduce 

parking requirements in Town Centres to encourage better use of 
land resources and shift to more public transit use. 

 
4A-6 Local governments should work with the Ministry of 

Transportation and Transit, and BC Transit to pre-plan bus routes 
and develop road standards that will accommodate future bus 
route requirements. 

 
 
Objective 4-B: Improve bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure to 
increase the use of active transportation options. 
 
Ensuring that people can carry out daily activities using safe, efficient and 
enjoyable cycling and pedestrian routes will help to encourage a higher 
rate of active transportation. An increase in active transportation will help 
improve community health, reduce air pollution and improve the region’s 
overall quality of life. 
 
 
 
 

Hospital name 
updated, and 
connections 
with Mount 
Washington 

removed 

Active 
recreation 

infrastructure 
term updated 

Page 137 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 60  

 
 

MEASURES Baseline 
(2006) 

TARGETS Data 
source

s 
Short-term 

(2015) 
Medium- term 

(2020) 
Long-term 

(2030) 

% Bicycle & 
pedestrian 
commuters 

Walk/Cycle= 
9% 

Walk/Cycle= 
10% 

Walk/Cycle= 
11% 

Walk/Cycle= 
20% 

Census 
Canada 

Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 
 
 
 
Supporting policies 
 

4B-1 Promote and encourage cycling plans and programs through 
ongoing local and regional initiatives and actions. 

 
4B-2 Local government parks and greenways plans will be 

coordinated to provide linkages to, through and between the 
Core Settlement Areas. 

 
4B-3  Ministry of Transportation and Transit should work with local 

governments to review road standards and subdivision design so 
that the Subdivision Approvals process prioritizes pedestrians, 
cyclists and transit use and support longer term regional 
transportation networks. 

 
4B-4 OCPs should identify regionally important, priority street 

connections for pedestrian and cycling improvements and 
require that connections be established as a condition of 
redevelopment.  

 
4B-5 Local governments should develop consistent, region-wide 

street, sidewalk and intersection standards to manage 
automobile traffic speeds, improve pedestrian and cyclist safety, 
accessibility, and support healthier, and more active 
transportation choices.  

Page 138 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 61  

 
4B-6 Ensure bicycling amenities and infrastructure are included in all 

public developments and larger-scale private developments (e.g., 
bike racks, signage, shower facilities, bicycle lockers or secure 
bike storage). 

 
 
Objective 4-C: Develop and maintain an inter-regional transportation 
system that efficiently and safely facilitates the movement of people 
and goods.  
 
A well-maintained, integrated regional transport system will help to 
efficiently move people and goods, reduce the cost of infrastructure, and 
encourage public transit use. Through leveraging the existing air, water 
and land transport infrastructure in the Comox Valley, tourism, trade and 
daily trips can be made more efficiently. 
 
Supporting policies 
 

4C-1 The Approving Officers, local government and Ministry of 
Transportation and Transit road planning and maintenance, and 
local government subdivision and development servicing 
standards should recognize and reinforce (1) the RGS and (2) 
local government sustainability principles, plans, standards and 
policies including the impact of development on transportation 
route infrastructure. 

 
4C-2 Support ongoing improvements and upgrading of services at the 

Comox Valley Airport and BC Ferries terminals. 
 

4C-3 Promote and support the improvement of the Island Rail 
Corridor infrastructure to protect the corridor and potential 
stations. 

 
4C-4 Increase frequency and timing of public transit service 

connections with inter-regional services such as the Comox 
Valley Airport and BC Ferries terminals.  

Railway 
corridor 

owner name 
updated 

Page 139 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 62  

 
4C-5 As part of the long-term inter-regional transportation plan, 

protect any existing corridors and explore the potential for a 
rail/pedestrian corridor extending north to Campbell River. 

 
4C-6 Collaborate with BC Transit, BC Ferries, the province and the 

federal government to improve inter-regional transportation, 
including improved rail service and expanded marine 
transportation opportunities.  

Page 140 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 63  

GOAL 5: INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
Provide affordable, effective, and efficient services and infrastructure that 
conserves land, water, and energy resources. 
 
Issue overview 
 
The planning of infrastructure is directly linked to land use planning. The 
more dispersed the settlement patterns, the more that servicing 
infrastructure must be extended, which is more expensive to build, 
operate and maintain and comes with greater environmental impacts. 
Key goals of the RGS include avoiding urban and rural sprawl and 
ensuring that development takes place where adequate facilities exist or 
can be provided in a timely, economic and efficient manner. 
Infrastructure extensions should be guided by an understanding of where 
and how growth should occur, considering natural capacity, 
environmental impact, costs and efficiency, and to resolve health risk 
implications from failing onsite systems.  
 
The CVRD also provides regional district services to users in the 
Strathcona Regional District (SRD) who rely on the regional district 
services for water supply and solid waste. The SRD should be considered 
and consulted with on an ongoing basis with regards to long-term 
planning for relevant service provisions. 
 
 
Current situation 
 
Water: Water is of utmost importance for the future of the Comox Valley. 
Communities throughout the region extract their water from lakes, rivers, 
and groundwater sources via wells. 
 
The regional district distributes water directly to five Water Local Service 
Areas within the three electoral areas, and supplies bulk water to 
Courtenay and Comox, which in turn distribute it to residents through 
their respective municipal delivery systems. The Village of Cumberland 
obtains its water from five lakes located in the Cumberland Creek and 

Water services 
projects 
updated 

Page 141 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 64  

Perseverance Creek sub-watersheds, along with a groundwater source at 
Coal Creek Historic Park. 
 
Water Master Plans for the Comox Valley’s water systems provide long-
term strategies for domestic water supply. These plans assess available 
sources, water quality and treatment, distribution system capacity, and 
infrastructure needs to support community growth. Master plans were 
completed in 2022 for the Union Bay water system and in 2023 for the 
Black Creek–Oyster Bay water system. The Comox Valley Water Master 
Plan will be completed in 2025. 
 
As of June 2025, approximately 60,000 people are serviced by CVRD-
managed water systems in the Comox Valley. While per capita water 
consumption varies widely between systems, significant progress is being 
made to reduce overall consumption through education, outreach, 
rebates, and watering restrictions.  
 
Stormwater: Stormwater is the component of runoff that is generated by 
land development that alters the natural water balance. When vegetation 
and soils are replaced with roads and buildings, less rainfall infiltrates in 
the ground, less gets taken up by vegetation and more becomes surface 
runoff. Integrated Stormwater Management has become the standard 
practice for rural and urban communities in BC. The focus is to achieve 
environmental as well as drainage objectives. To help achieve these dual 
objectives there are several shifts in the way in which stormwater 
management is planned such as integrating green or naturalized 
infrastructure into the design of a community.  
 
Sewer: There are currently four community sewer systems operating in 
the Comox Valley. The CVRD owns and operates three systems—one 
serving the participating jurisdictions of Courtenay and Comox, and two 
others serving the Jackson Drive and King Coho local service areas. The 
Village of Cumberland operates the fourth system. 
 
As of June 2025, planning work is underway to advance potential 
community sewer systems in Saratoga/Miracle Beach, Royston, and Union 
Bay to address environmental and public health concerns in and around 

Sewer services 
and projects 

updated  

Page 142 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 65  

those areas.  
 
Solid Waste: The CVRD and local municipalities have been proactive in 
encouraging waste reduction through changes to curbside service levels 
and the construction of the Comox Strathcona Waste Management-
funded Regional Organics Compost Facility. Recycling depots support 
rural waste diversion on Denman Island, Hornby Island, at the Comox 
Valley Waste Management Centre (CVWMC), and in Oyster River. 
Expanding rural diversion opportunities is a key focus of the ongoing 
Solid Waste Management Plan renewal process.  
 
Curbside recycling, along with food scrap and yard waste pickup, is 
available in all three member municipalities, helping to reduce materials 
sent to the landfill. Royston also benefits from curbside recycling pickup. 
Local municipalities, the regional district, and the Strathcona Regional 
District rely on the CVWMC for solid waste disposal. The CVWMC features 
a modern engineered landfill with advanced leachate and landfill gas 
collection and treatment systems. 
 
 
Note: For land in the Agricultural Land Reserve, certain linear 
infrastructure, such as force mains, trunk sewers, gas pipelines, and 
waterlines, is permitted within existing dedicated rights-of-way under 
Section 25 of the Agricultural Land Reserve Use Regulation. However, 
development of new infrastructure such as sewage, water, or stormwater 
systems may require approval from the Agricultural Land Commission. 
Section 22(2)(b) specifically prohibits the creation of wetlands to manage 
urban runoff or waste within the Agricultural Land Reserve. 
 
Objectives 
 
WATER 
 
Objective 5-A: Promote water conservation and efficiency throughout 
the Comox Valley. 
 
In the Comox Valley population growth coupled with consumption levels 

Solid waste 
services and 

projects 
updated  

ALR 
information 

added 

Page 143 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 66  

have placed a strain on water supply and delivery systems. Based on 
findings in the Regional Water Supply Strategy, aggressive water 
conservation measures should mitigate risks and uncertainty associated 
with water ownership, effects of climate change and economic and 
environmental costs over the long-term. 
 

MEASURES 
Baseline 

(2008) 

TARGETS Data 
sources 

Short-term 
(2015) 

Medium- 
term (2020) 

Long-term 
(2030) 

Daily total 
water 

consumptio
n per capita 

500-600 
litres 

 

20% 
reduction 

30% 
reduction 

40% 
reduction 

CVRD 
water 

services 

Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 

 
 
Supporting policies 
 

5A-1 Most of the growth should be focused in Core Settlement Areas 
where appropriate publicly owned water servicing systems 
already exists. 

 
5A-2 For existing developments outside of Core Settlement Areas, 

where there are demonstrated onsite health related issues, 
publicly operated water services should be made available. 

 
5A-3 Encourage smaller lot development and higher density 

development in Core Settlement Areas, to make efficient use of 
water servicing infrastructure. 

 
5A-4 To provide an incentive to reduce water use a program and 

accompanying water rate structure based on the user pay 
principle should be implemented throughout the Comox Valley 
as part of the agreed upon water efficiency plan. 

 
5A-5 OCPs should contain maps with the location and phasing of 

trunk water services to guide future planning and development 
decisions. 

Page 144 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 67  

 
5A-6 Investigate policies to permit grey water plumbing in new 

construction and retrofits. 
 

5A-7 All local governments work towards preparing development 
permit guidelines for low water usage xeriscaping in multi-unit 
residential, commercial and industrial areas, and encourage low 
water usage landscaping in single household residential areas 

 
5A-8 Encourage local governments and farmers to work together to 

reduce use of -potable water for irrigation on farmland. 
 

5A-9 Over the longer term, encourage all local governments to work 
towards finding a permanent alternative to the use of potable 
water for irrigation purposes. 

5A-10 Discourage the commercial use of groundwater for export 
purposes. 

 
5A-11 Prepare IAs for water services once the RGS is finalized. 

 
 
Objective 5-B: Protect the quality of water sources. 
 
Drinking water in the Comox Valley is extracted from lakes, rivers and 
aquifers. These water sources are all vulnerable to contaminants that 
come from several sources including stormwater runoff, forestry 
activities, recreational activities in and around lakes, and encroachment 
from development. 
 
Supporting policies 
 

5B-1 Manage development based on precautionary principles within 
drinking watersheds. This will require development proposals to 
include reports by appropriate professionals to study potential 
impacts on water quality and quantity, including a peer review of 
professional findings and recommendations. 

 

Concise term 
used 

Page 145 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 68  

5B-2 Support the development of plans that protect drinking water for 
the Comox Valley. 

 
5B-3 Work with other rightsholders, interested parties and agencies to 

identify areas for aquifer protection and develop OCP guidelines 
for their protection. 
 

5B-4 Where development is proposed in a drinking watershed that is 
controlled politically by one jurisdiction, but where the lake 
provides a water source to other jurisdiction(s), the jurisdiction 
responsible for approving development within the watershed will 
formally consult with the jurisdictions receiving water from the 
watershed. 

5B-5 Require an aquifer protection development permit for electoral 
areas at time of subdivision, which would require groundwater 
quantification, vulnerability and protection measures prepared 
by a qualified professional with quantification and ensure that 
there are no other impacts on adjacent wells. 

 
 

Objective 5-C: Stormwater is managed to preserve ecosystem and 
watershed health. 
 
The collection and management of stormwater is an important 
component of ensuring the overall health of the Comox Valley waterways 
and natural areas. As tree cover is removed and impermeable areas 
increase, stormwater management becomes a larger concern. There is a 
critical threshold when there is over 10 per cent impervious area within a 
watershed or drainage catchment. Modern management techniques are 
moving engineered solutions towards green infrastructure approaches 
which seek to replicate natural systems in the impoundment, infiltration 
and cleansing of stormwater (e.g., naturalized ponds and bioswales).  
 
Supporting policies 
 
5C-1 Local OCPs should include policies that encourage permeable 

surfaces within the design of new developments and public spaces. 

Stakeholders 
replaced with 

updated 
language 

Concise term 
used 

Page 146 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 69  

 
5C-2 In watersheds of water supply lakes, local governments and the 

Ministry of Transportation and Transit should work cooperatively 
towards a target of less than 10 per cent9 impermeable surfaces. 

 
5C-3 In Rural Areas the regional district should work with the Ministry of 

Transportation and Transit to develop guidelines for an Integrated 
Stormwater Management to be used in the subdivision approval 
process. 

 
5C-4 To ensure a sustainable aquaculture industry, local OCPs should 

include policies that require the cleansing of any stormwater 
draining into Baynes Sound. 

 
 
SEWER 
 
Objective 5-D: Encourage sewage management approaches and 
technologies that respond to public health needs and maximize 
existing infrastructure. 
 
The cost of servicing is directly related to density, with higher densities 
located close to treatment stations being much more cost effective than 
larger lots located further away from treatment centres. The Comox Valley 
Sewer Service Liquid Waste Management Plan will set out a long-term 
strategy for sewer expansion that is aligned with other regional 
strategies, including this RGS. 
 

MEASURES 
Baseline 

(2010) 

TARGETS 
Data 

sources Short-term 
(2015) 

Medium- 
term (2020) 

Long-term 
(2030) 

Percentage of 
new growth 
serviced by 

sanitary sewer 

n/a 90% 90% 90% CVRD 

Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 
 

 
9 A guide for British Columbia Stormwater Planning, May 2002. 

Plan name 
updated 

Page 147 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 70  

Supporting policies 
 

5D-1 The majority of growth should be focused in Core Settlement 
Areas where appropriate sewer servicing already exists. 

 
5D-2 New development will replace and/or upgrade aging sewer 

infrastructure or provide cash-in-lieu contributions for such 
upgrades through Development Cost Charges or similar financial 
contributions. 

 
5D-3 Promote eco-industrial development that turns wastes into 

resources. 
 

5D-4  For existing developments outside of Core Settlement Areas, 
where there are demonstrated onsite health related issues, 
publicly owned sanitary sewer services should be made available. 

 
5D-5 Prepare an IA for sewer services once the RGS is finalized. 

 
 
SOLID WASTE  
 
Objective 5-E: Reduce regional solid waste and improve landfill 
performance. 
 
As the region’s population increases and landfill capacity decreases, the 
diversion of solid waste from landfills through recycling and other 
methods becomes more important. The CVRD and local municipalities 
have been proactive in encouraging waste reduction and the provision of 
multi-material drop off depots throughout the Comox Valley to facilitate 
the collection of recyclable materials. There is also curbside recycling in all 
three municipalities and regular yard waste pickup, which contributes to a 
reduction in materials going to the landfill. These efforts should be 
encouraged and built upon to reduce solid waste and employ sustainable 
uses for waste management sites. The policies in the RGS will be received 
within the context of the Regional Solid Waste Management Plan (SWMP). 
 

Page 148 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 71  

 

MEASURES 
Baseline 

(2010) 

TARGETS Data 
sources 

Short-term 
(2015) 

Medium- 
term (2020) 

Long-term 
(2030) 

Solid waste 
diversion 

rate 
48% 55% 65% 75% CVRD 

Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 
 
 
Supporting policies 

 
5E-1 The regional Solid Waste Management Plan (approved in 2013) is 

being updated to reflect best practice and the evolving realities 
of solid waste management. This regulatory document considers 
waste management issues and trends and technology in the 
management of waste that include, but are not limited to, the 
following issues: solid waste collection, private burning of land 
clearing and solid waste, waste reduction programs, waste 
diversion, construction waste management, product 
stewardship, and waste to energy/Integrated Resource Recovery 
options. 

Plan status 
updated 

Page 149 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 72  

GOAL 6: FOOD SYSTEMS 
 
Support and enhance the agricultural and aquaculture sectors; and increase 
local food security. 
 
Issue overview 
 
In the Comox Valley, a range of microclimates and soil qualities enable 
farmers to produce a variety of food products, including dairy, beef, grain, 
forage, vineyards and small fruits, all of which have supported a vibrant 
farming community that continues to this day. There is also a long history 
of gathering food from the shoreline and surrounding ocean that has 
created a successful aquaculture industry.  
 
K’ómoks First Nation has a cultural and economic tradition of harvesting 
along the shoreline and in the waters for fish and shellfish. Fishing weirs 
in the K’ómoks Estuary are signs of this continued and important cultural 
and economic practice.  
 
Protecting farmland and shoreline areas for food production helps 
support stronger local economies protects a long-standing way of life and 
ensures that future generations have better access to affordable and 
nutritious food. If planned properly, protection of these areas can also 
contribute to the preservation of open space and the valley’s rural 
character.  
 
 
Current situation 
 
The Comox Valley’s food production system generates significant 
economic value and underpins long-term food security in the region. The 
Comox Valley Agricultural Plan provides a strategic framework for 
strengthening the agri-food sector in response to current pressures and 
future uncertainties. Rooted in the region’s agricultural history, including 
Indigenous food systems, the plan sets out 21 actions under five goals: 
water stewardship, land protection, economic growth, climate resilience, 
and public awareness. While it does not directly address household food 

Courtenay 
River Estuary 
replaced with 

K’ómoks 
Estuary 

Comox Valley 
Agricultural 
Plan refence 

added 

Page 150 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 73  

insecurity, it supports a resilient agricultural economy through land-
based, marine-based, and value-added food systems. The following areas 
remain critical to protecting and advancing food production in the Comox 
Valley: 
 

• Agricultural Land Reserve: The ALR has played a key role in 
preserving farmland and supporting farming as a viable economic 
activity in the Comox Valley. Covering roughly between 12 and 13 
per cent of the Comox Valley, the ALR has remained relatively 
consistent between 23,059 hectares in 2010 to 23,353 hectares in 
202110, since its initial boundaries were drawn. The valley’s 
farmlands are mainly located within the ALR boundaries on the 
plain between the coast and the Beaufort Mountain foothills. Most 
farming activities take place in the regional district’s three electoral 
areas, but there are also small portions of ALR in the City of 
Courtenay and the Town of Comox. 
 

• Rural Areas: Additional farming occurs in non-ALR rural areas. 
There is the potential for innovative agricultural enterprises and 
location of agricultural-supported activities in these areas, such as 
food processing plants, storage and distribution centres (e.g., 
farmers markets). 
 

• Shoreline areas: The Comox Valley has 368 hectares of shellfish 
farm tenures in 2024. These farms are clustered in Baynes Sound 
and the Comox Harbour area. With little room for additional 
tenures and shellfish farms, existing farms and tenures should be 
protected with no net loss.  

 
 
Objective 6-A: Protect land for existing and future agriculture and 
associated activities and allow for the growth and expansion of such 
activities.  
 
With a few exceptions, agricultural uses in the Comox Valley are within 
the ALR. The ALR makes up 13 per cent of the land in the Comox Valley at 

 
10 Includes Denman and Hornby Islands. 

ALR statistics 
updated 

Statistics 
updated 

ALR statistics 
updated 

Page 151 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 74  

23,353 hectares in 2021.11 The bulk of the land within the ALR is privately 
owned. With settlement areas intensifying along the borders of the 
regional district, these areas are likely to see the greatest pressure from 
urbanization. The ALR has proven to be an important means of preserving 
agricultural land in the Comox Valley. The RGS should reinforce the 
existing ALR boundary to protect and cultivate agricultural activities. 
 

MEASURES Baseline 
(2010) 

TARGETS 
Data sources Short-term 

(2015) 
Medium- 

term (2020) 
Long-term 

(2030) 

No net loss 
of zoned 
farmland 
in the ALR 

23,059 
hectares 

= or > 
23,059 

hectares 

= or > 
23,059 

hectares 

= or > 
23,059 

hectares 

Agricultural 
Land 

Commission, 
Local 

governments 
Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 

 
 
Supporting policies  
 
6A-1 The existing ALR and its associated policies are recognized in the 

RGS growth management approach and will be reflected in OCPs 
and Zoning Bylaws. 

 
6A-2 Work towards ensuring that development does not result in 

negative impacts on adjoining farmlands or shellfish tenures by 
affecting the volume and quality of ground and surface water, in 
particular storm water discharge. 

 
6A-3 All local governments will ensure appropriate buffers and 

transition zones between working landscapes and residential 
areas to minimize negative impacts from residential 
development on farm and resource land. The need for and 
extent of buffers and transition zones will be site specific. 

 
6A-4  Where possible contiguous areas of agricultural land should be 

preserved and severance by recreation, parks, and 

 
11 Includes Denman and Hornby Islands. 

Page 152 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 75  

transportation or utility corridors should be avoided except for 
ESAs. 

 
6A-5 OCPs should include criteria to guide locations for agricultural 

support infrastructure (e.g., processing, production research, 
and market development facilities). For parcels in the Agricultural 
Land Reserve, locations for such infrastructure should be 
consistent with the Agricultural Land Commission Act and its 
regulations or by a decision of the Agricultural Land Commission. 

 
6A-6 OCP policies should be developed to guide the location of 

residential development on agricultural parcels to preserve the 
agricultural capacity. 

 
 
Objective 6-B: Protect shoreline areas for existing and future 
aquaculture and associated activities  
 
The shoreline and shore area of Baynes Sound and Comox Harbour are 
already locations with shellfish farm tenures, and it is uncertain whether 
any further tenures or farms can be created. Existing tenures and farms 
should be protected to ensure no net-loss of farming activity. Additionally, 
consideration should be made to consider upland aquaculture support 
facilities. 
 

MEASURES 
Baseline 

(2010) 

TARGETS 
Data 

sources 
Short-term 

(2015) 
Medium- 

term (2020) 
Long-term 

(2030) 
No net 
loss of 

aquacultur
e farm 
tenure 

470 hectares 470 hectares 470 hectares 470 hectares 
Ministry of 
Agriculture 

& Food 

Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 

 
 
 
 

ALR 
information 

added 

Page 153 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 76  

Supporting policies  
 
6B-1 Land used for aquaculture and related activities should be 

maintained where appropriate for such uses and recognized in 
OCPs. 

 
6B-2 Aquaculture and fisheries are important to the K’ómoks First 

Nation from both a food systems perspective and from a cultural 
perspective. The interest of the K’ómoks First Nation in existing 
and expanded aquaculture activities should be supported where 
appropriate. 

 
6B-3 Where appropriate, encourage the development of shellfish 

support infrastructure such as processing facilities, production 
research, and market development. 

 
6B-4 Promote sustainable aquaculture practices and environmental 

stewardship in cooperation with agencies, rightsholders and 
interested parties. 

 
6B-5 Where there are documented public health issues in existing 

residential areas, sewer services will be considered for existing 
areas to protect the marine environmental health of the area. 

 
 
Objective 6-C: Improve and expand agricultural irrigation practices 
and infrastructure  
 
The availability of water is fundamental to agricultural productivity. 
Moreover, an increase in local food production will result in a shift in 
agricultural production to more intensive forms of agriculture, in 
particular the growing of fruits and vegetables. These forms of agriculture 
rely largely on irrigation and for this shift to occur it is essential that an 
adequate supply of water is made available. In 2013, the agricultural Land 
Use Inventory that 28 per cent of farms in the Comox Valley were using 
irrigation. 
 

Stakeholders 
replaced with 

updated 
language 

Irrigation 
water access 
percentage 

updated 

Page 154 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 77  

 
 

MEASURES 
Baseline 

(2010) 

TARGETS 

Data sources Short-term 
(2015) 

Medium- 
term (2020) 

Long-
term 
(2030) 

Percentage 
of farms 

with access 
to 

irrigation 
water 

>5% 10% 15% 25% 
Agriculture 

Land 
Commission 

Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 
 
 
Supporting policies 
 
6C-1 Local governments and farmers should work together to increase 

irrigation water supply to support agricultural activities. 
 

6C-2 Local governments, agricultural groups and farmers should work 
together to increase non-potable irrigation water to farmland. 

 
Objective 6-D: Increase farming activity in the Comox Valley 
 
Agriculture’s importance to the local economy will grow as its future 
potential is realized with the increasing awareness and consumption of 
locally produced foods. Aging demographics within the existing farm 
community and the relative high cost of land of agricultural land are 
potential barriers to maintain and increase the level of farming activity. 
Supporting value-added practices (including food processing and agri-
tourism) will become increasingly important to support the existing 
agricultural industry and to create incentives and supports for younger 
farmers to enter the industry. 
 
 
 
 
 

Agri-tourism 
added 

Page 155 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 78  

 
 

MEASURES Baseline 
(2002/2006) 

TARGETS 
Data 

sources 
Short-term 

(2015) 
Medium- 

term (2020) 
Long-term 

(2030) 

Farm 
receipts 

$32,975,655 12 
(2006) 

$40,000,000 $45,000,000 $55,000,000 Census 
Canada 

Shellfish 
production 

value 

4,535,923 kg 
(2002) 

5,443,108 kg 6,803,885 kg 9,071,847 kg 

Comox 
Valley 
Land 
Use 

Survey 
Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 
 
 
Supporting policies 
 

6D-1 Support and encourage organizations in promoting the Comox 
Valley as a good place to enter the farming industry (e.g., Comox 
Valley Farmers Institute, Mid Island Farmers Institute, and 
Comox Valley Farmers Market Association). 
 

6D-2 Support the ‘value chain’ of agriculture through development of 
agricultural policies and uses in OCPs, to encourage food 
processing plants, storage and local markets. 
 

6D-3 Regularly consult with farmers, farm businesses, and agricultural 
groups on issues that may impact their ability to productively 
farm local lands. 
 

6D-4 Support the availability of local agricultural products through 
encouraging local procurement at schools, grocery stores, and 
government offices.  

 

 
12 All figures are in 2010 dollars and for monitoring purposes all values should be adjusted for 
inflation. 

Mid Island 
Farmers 
Institute 
added 

Page 156 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 79  

 
 
Objective 6-E: Raise awareness of the regional importance of the local 
food system 
 
Raising awareness of the importance of healthy food and the local 
economy can be generated through several means. Value added 
agricultural activities such as agritourism and farm gate sales help to 
educate people as to the importance of farming activities. Buy-local 
campaigns, farmers markets and a central resource centre can also help 
to raise awareness of the important role of agriculture and aquaculture 
among residents of the Comox Valley and increase local demand. 
Additionally, Environmental Farm Plans (EFPs) should be encouraged 
among local farmers both to raise awareness of conservation benefits on 
farmland and to promote sustainable practices throughout the Comox 
Valley.  

 
Supporting policies 
 

6E-1 Support the development of a coordinated regional food security 
strategy. This would include a review of existing policies and 
agricultural opportunities such as urban gardening, community 
orchards and community supported agriculture programs. 

 
6E-2 Support programs to educate and encourage farmers in carrying 

out Environmental Farm Plans (EFPs). 
 
6E-3 Update the Comox Valley Agricultural Plan on a regular basis 

(every five years) so that it responds to and makes policy 
directions based on the current agricultural context.  

 
6E-4 Review regulatory bylaws to support an appropriate level of 

agriculture and related uses as considered appropriate by the 
Agricultural Land Commission. 

Page 157 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 80  

GOAL 7: PUBLIC HEALTH AND SAFETY 
 
Support a high quality of life through the protection and enhancement of 
community health, safety, and well-being. 
 
Issue overview 
 
Public Health 
 
There is a large body of research that suggests a significant relationship 
between urban and rural form and population health outcomes. There 
are particularly strong links between personal transportation choices and 
health risk factors, such as between the lack of physical activity and 
obesity, which in turn are linked to chronic diseases, notably 
cardiovascular disease, chronic respiratory disease, diabetes and cancer. 
It should be noted that physical activity is one of the most significant 
modifiable behavioural factors that can influence the likelihood of 
becoming overweight or obese and, by extension, developing a chronic 
disease or dying prematurely.  
 
While there are many factors that influence population health outcomes 
in the Comox Valley (i.e., access to clean air and water, affordable 
housing, recreation, education, and healthy food), this RGS gives primary 
consideration to active transportation strategies because it can help to 
facilitate more active lifestyles and physical activity, thereby improving the 
long-term health status of individuals in the Comox Valley. This focus on 
active transportation in no way discounts the importance of the other 
health influences, but recognizes that of all the health factors, it is 
perhaps most closely related to regional land use planning.  
 
Safety 
 
The regional district administers nine fire protection service areas13 and 
has working arrangements with member municipalities and improvement 
districts within the regional district to provide fire protection. Service is 

 
13 Includes Denman and Hornby Islands 

Fire protection 
service areas 
information 

updated 

Page 158 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 81  

determined through fire protection areas and not all areas in the regional 
district have fire protection. New development in rural areas bordering on 
forest lands increases the demand for these services. Added to this is the 
potential increase of wildfires due to climate change, with drier summers. 
The location of new developments and provision of services should be 
considered in the location of new developments.  
 
 
Current situation 
 
Despite the region’s considerable outdoor recreation opportunities, rates 
of obesity in the CVRD have climbed dramatically while physical fitness 
levels have declined. This trend is apparent across the population from 
youth to seniors and parallels provincial and national trends. Exposure to 
air pollutants has also increased and with it, childhood asthma rates. 
Some specific local public health and safety highlights include: 
 
• Increasing physical inactivity and obesity: In 2019 and 2020, 

about 27 per cent of population aged 18+ in the North Vancouver 
Island Health Service Delivery Area are considered obese. This was a 
drop from 30 per cent in 2015 and 2016.14 
 

• Rising chronic disease rates: Chronic diseases like cardiovascular 
and respiratory disease, diabetes and cancer, are all on the rise in 
the CVRD which could be related to increasing risk factors like the 
lack of physical activity and obesity.  

 
• Auto dependence: The percentage of residents driving cars for their 

primary mode of work transportation is above BC averages in both 
our rural and urban areas. The number of residents taking transit is 
also well below provincial averages (1.9 per cent versus 9.3 per cent 
in 2021). 

 
• Regional Hospital: As a major destination for a variety of trips, the 

location of the regional hospital has significant land use planning 
and public health implications. 

 
14 Comox Valley Vital Signs 

Health 
statistics 
updated 

Health 
statistics 
updated 

Hospital 
opened since 
RGS adoption 

Page 159 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 82  

• Increasing wildfire risk: New development and growth pressure is 
pushing development further from fire services. In areas bordering 
on forest lands, the risk of wildfires has grown over the years. 

 
 
Objectives 
 

Objective 7-A: Increase the number of pedestrians and cyclists in 
the Comox Valley.  
 
The number of active pedestrians and cyclists is strongly influenced by 
land use planning and a community’s built form. Street network 
connectivity, land use mix and density all influence individual 
transportation choices (i.e., whether to walk, bike, take transit or drive). 
These choices, in turn, directly impact public health outcomes (e.g., 
rates of obesity and diabetes, injuries and fatalities from motor vehicle 
accidents, and incidence of asthma). Well-designed, compact 
communities tend to have higher mode shares for pedestrians and 
cyclists and boast more active, healthier residents. (See also Objective 
4-B). 
 
Supporting policies 
 
7A-1 Support the creation and coordination of local government 

bicycle and pedestrian plans with local-level strategies to 
improve active transportation connections to, through and 
between designated Town Centres located within Core Settlement 
Areas.  

 
7A-2 Ensure bicycling amenities and infrastructure are included in all 

public developments and larger-scale private developments  
 
7A-3 Identify regionally important, priority street connections for 

improvements and/or mandate that connections be established 
as a condition of redevelopment and subdivision approval where 
feasible.  

 

Page 160 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 83  

7A-4 Use tools such as B.C. Recreation and Parks Association’s “Built 
Environment and Active Transportation Neighbourhood 
Assessment Tool” and BC Active Transportation Design Guide 
(2019) to identify active transportation gaps in and between 
designated Town Centres located within Core Settlement Areas.  

 
7A-5 Support the promotion of healthy lifestyles and invigorating 

community spirit through physical activity. 
 
7A-6  Ensure that all new public institutions are accessible via active 

transportation routes (e.g., bike and greenway network) and 
public transit. 

 
 

Objective 7-B: Increase public education and awareness around the 
links between population health and land use planning 

 
Building awareness of the connections between population health and 
the physical layout and design of our communities is critical to 
achieving healthier built environments and maintaining the region’s 
high quality of life. Re-engaging health professionals in land use 
planning and educating residents and the planning/development 
community on healthy built environments is equally important.  
 
Supporting policies  
 
7B-1 Consider the public health impacts of larger-scale development 

in consultation with the Provincial Health Services Authority, 
regional health authorities and involved interested parties. 

 
7B-2 Link regional recreation providers and health professionals 

through a healthy built environment advisory committee to 
promote and engage residents in indoor and outdoor physical 
activities, more active transportation choices, and to advocate for 
healthy change in the community.  

 
7B-3 Support local governments to modify current planning practices 

Plan name 
updated 

Stakeholders 
replaced with 

updated 
language 

Page 161 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 84  

to better count active transportation (e.g., by improving analysis 
of non-motorized modes in travel surveys) and value its benefits 
(e.g., by considering benefits such as roadway and parking cost 
savings, consumer cost savings, and improved health).  

 
7B-4 Support the inclusion of the K’ómoks First Nation in discussion 

among land-use planners, recreation providers and public health 
professionals to address health, wellness and safety concerns 
among K’ómoks First Nation members. 

 
 
Objective 7-C: Improve regional fire safety  
 
In 2017, the CVRD completed a Community Wildfire Preparedness Plan 
to assess and map fire risks. This mapping was limited to the CVRD's 
electoral areas. As of 2024, the CVRD is updating this plan with a 
Community Wildfire Resiliency Plan, which will encompass all areas 
within the CVRD, including municipalities. The updated plan is expected 
to be completed by spring 2025. This work is critical to maintaining the 
highest standards of public safety. It is also important to acknowledge 
that there are individuals and groups outside the CVRD who rely on its 
fire protection services.  
 
Supporting policies 
 
7C-1 Improve fire safety in the region through fire hazard mapping to 

identify high-risk development areas and limit development in 
them and ensure that development is managed to recognize this 
factor. 

 

7C-2 Support coordinated efforts to identify and eliminate fire service 
gaps in the region. 

 

7C-3 Continue consultation with and consideration of interests of 
system users who are outside of the CVRD. 

7C-4 Planning for all new development areas should include 
considerations for the provision of public health and safety 
services through the approvals process. 

Fire protection 
services plan 
information 

updated 

Page 162 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 85  

GOAL 8: CLIMATE CHANGE 
 
Minimize regional greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and plan for adaptation. 
 
Issue overview 
 
Combating climate change is one of the most critical issues being 
addressed by governments around the world. According to the 2021 
United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) report 
on climate change, human influence on the climate system is clear, as 
evidenced from increased greenhouse gas concentrations in the 
atmosphere, positive radiative forcing, and higher average temperatures, 
among other effects. The world must take ambitious climate action now 
and through 2020s to keep warming to 1.5 degrees Celsius. The crisis calls 
for “deep, rapid, and sustained reductions in greenhouse gas emissions.” 
That means decreasing global carbon pollution by 48 per cent from 2019 
levels by 2030, reaching net-zero carbon emissions by 2050, and 
thereafter achieving net-negative carbon emissions.  
 
The Comox Valley Sustainability Strategy has adopted a long-term target of 
80 per cent reduction of GHG emissions from 2007 levels by 2050, with a 
mid-term target of 50 per cent reduction by 2030. The RGS has adopted 
the same target as the Comox Valley Sustainability Strategy. It sets out 
policies, targets and measures that work to achieve the provincial target 
and the long-term targets of the Sustainability Strategy, with a specific 
2030 reduction target of 50 per cent from 2007 levels by 2030. 
 
 
Current situation 
 
Addressing climate change requires actions to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions and to respond to climate changes that are already taking 
place. Planning policies and regulations need to consider issues such as 
creating wildfire resistant communities, increased frequency and scale of 
storm surges in low lying coastal areas, landscaping that can withstand 
extreme temperatures and storm water management to accommodate 
for higher levels of water runoff. 

Climate data 
updated 

Page 163 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 86  

 
Creating development forms that work to reduce GHG emissions is 
another important means of addressing climate change. Provincially, GHG 
emission reductions are being addressed through Climate Change 
Accountability Act (2007) and CleanBC Plan (2018), BC is committed to a 16 
per cent reduction in GHG emissions from 2007 levels by 2025, 40 per 
cent by 2030, 60 per cent by 2040 and 80 per cent by 2050.15 In 2008, the 
Local Government (Green Communities) Statutes Amendment Act mandated 
that all local governments incorporate GHG reduction targets and create 
policies and actions to achieve those targets into their OCPs and RGSs. 
 
To help local governments monitor and evaluate their reduction targets, 
the province has developed a Community Energy and Emissions 
Inventory. On an annual basis, GHG emissions for the transportation, 
solid waste, buildings and land use categories are calculated. These 
estimates provided the baseline data for the long-term reduction goals 
established in this section and are now being tracked within the Comox 
Valley by the CVRD through the CVRD Community-Wide GHG Emissions 
Inventory.  
 
 
Objectives 
  
Objective 8-A: Reduce GHG emissions created by the building sector. 
 
BC’s Community Energy and Emissions Inventory divide the building 
sector into residential, commercial and industrial buildings. Each category 
includes the number of connections to energy sources, the amount of 
actual energy consumed (e.g., electricity [kWh] and natural gas [Gj]) and 
the resulting emissions. GHG reductions in this area will require a multi-
faceted approach to reduce energy consumption in new buildings and 
retrofit older buildings to make them more energy efficient. 
 
 
 
 

 
15 Province of BC’s Climate Change Section 

Climate data 
updated; 

Carbon Tax 
Act reference 

removed 

New projects 
and initiatives 

updated 

Page 164 of 422

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/environment/climate-change


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 87  

MEASURES 
Baseline 

(2007) 

TARGETS 
Data 

sources 
Short-term 

(2015) 
Medium- 

term (2020) 
Long-term 

(2030) 

Building 
GHG 

Emissions 

33,662 
tonnes 
C02e 

20% 
Reduction 

33% 
Reduction 

50% 
Reduction 

CEEI 

Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 
 
 
Supporting policies:  
 
8A-1 Establish green building priorities and policies in OCPs, such as 

LEED design, retrofitting with low environmental features.   
 
8A-2 Local governments should explore opportunities to establish 

green building incentives, to encourage developments to adopt 
green building practices.  

 
8A-3 To encourage green building construction, examine DCC rates, 

tax structures and land use regulations to ensure reduced costs 
realized to the local government through the construction of 
green buildings are passed onto the development. 

 
8A-4 Local governments should work to create development permit 

area policies that encourage green site design.  
 
8A-5 Local governments should develop GHG reduction strategies for 

the operation, maintenance and construction of their buildings in 
the Comox Valley. 

 
 

Objective 8-B: Reduce GHG emissions created by the on-road 
transportation sector  
 
In the Comox Valley, on-road transportation accounts for approximately 
55 per cent in 2007 and 45.7 per cent in 2021 of the Region’s total 
emissions. Given that transportation is the largest contributor to GHGs in 

GHG 
emissions 

percentage 
updated 

Page 165 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 88  

the Comox Valley, developing more pedestrian, cycling, and transit-
supportive land uses will be critical in reducing GHGs. Whereas the 
Transportation chapter focuses long-term planning for the regional 
transit system, the following targets and policies focus on strategies to 
promote transportation options with low and no-emissions. 
 

MEASURES 
Baseline 

(2007) 

TARGETS Data 
sources 

Short-term 
(2015) 

Medium- 
term (2020) 

Long-term 
(2030) 

On-road 
transportatio

n GHG 
emissions 

199,311 
CO2e(t) 

20% 
Reduction 

33% 
Reduction 

50% 
Reduction 

CEEI 

Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 
 
 
Supporting policies: 

 
8B-1 Support and promote transportation programs and patterns of 

development that increase walking, cycling, and transit use in the 
rural and urban areas (see Public Health Safety and 
Transportation Goals). 

 
8B-2 Support the creation and coordination of local government 

bicycle and pedestrian plans that are integrated with local-level 
strategies to improve active transportation and transit 
connections to, through and between identified Town Centres and 
activity nodes to reduce GHG emissions.  

 
8B-3 Ensure bicycling amenities and infrastructure are included in all 

public developments and larger-scale private developments (e.g., 
bike racks, signage, and bicycle lockers). 

 
8B-4  Local governments should work with the Ministry of 

Transportation and Transit to ensure that road standards and 
subdivision design prioritize pedestrians, cyclists and transit use. 

 
8B-5 OCPs should identify active transportation gaps in existing 

Page 166 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 89  

developments and neighbourhoods and develop policies to 
address those gaps. 

 
8B-6 Local governments should develop anti-idling policies, bylaws 

and campaigns16. 
 
8B-7 To promote the use of electric vehicles, local governments 

should develop incentives and infrastructure for low-emissions 
vehicles such as recharging infrastructure and priority parking. 

 
 
Objective 8-C: Reduce GHG emissions in the solid waste sector. 
 
As the region’s population increases and landfill capacity decreases, the 
diversion of solid waste from landfills through recycling and other 
methods become more important. In 2007, solid waste comprised 19 per 
cent of total GHG emissions in the Comox Valley, with 61,605 tonnes of 
CO₂e of waste delivered to Comox Valley Waste Management Centre 
annually. Due to changes in data measurement methodologies over time, 
the 2021 Comox Valley Community-Wide GHG Emissions Inventory 
reports emissions from the solid waste sector as 24,756 tonnes of CO₂e—
an increase from 22,861 tonnes in the previous reporting period. Further 
efforts to reduce waste combined with the Comox Valley Waste 
Management Centre expanded facility that will capture methane gas, will 
help to reduce these amounts. 
 

MEASURES 
Baseline 

(2007) 

TARGETS Data 
sources 

Short-term 
(2015) 

Medium- 
term (2020) 

Long-term 
(2030) 

Solid waste 
GHG 

emissions 

61,605 
CO2e(t) 

20% 
Reduction 

33% 
Reduction 

50% 
Reduction 

CEEI 

Visit RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard for the latest performance measures. 
 
 
 

 
16 Idle Reduction Bylaw - BC Climate Action Toolkit  

Climate action 
toolkit 

information 
updated 

Statistics 
updated 

Page 167 of 422

https://rgs-dashboard-cvrd.hub.arcgis.com/
https://toolkit.bc.ca/tool/idle-reduction-bylaw/


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 90  

Supporting policies 
 

8C-1 Develop a Valley-wide solid waste management strategy that 
reduces garbage landfill through recycling and composting to 
achieve a 75 per cent diversion rate by 2035. 

8C-2 Support the development of a bio-fuels strategy in partnership 
with technology providers and interested parties who have 
access to organic waste streams, like Comox Valley Waste 
Management Centre site (see Infrastructure chapter).  

 
 
Objective 8-D: Reduce GHG emissions created by deforestation (land 
use change)17. 
 
BC is one of the first jurisdictions in the world to introduce a zero net 
deforestation goal in legislation. In March 2010, the province created a 
Zero Net Deforestation Act which encourages an equal area of trees to be 
planted for carbon storage to offset any forest land that is permanently 
cleared for another use. The goal of the Act is to achieve zero net 
deforestation by December 31, 2015. The three keys to achieving zero net 
deforestation are to avoid, minimize and mitigate deforestation. (Note 
that this Act passed in June 2010, but not in force.)18 
 
As of 2007, deforestation comprised 18.6 per cent of the GHG emissions 
in the Comox Valley, second only to transportation-related emissions. Just 
under half of the agricultural land in the Comox Valley is in privately 
owned forests or woodlots. To increase the productivity of agriculture in 
the Comox Valley, this land will likely be deforested. However, increasing 
local agricultural production has other benefits in relation to climate 
change such as decreasing the transportation distance of our food and 
feed crops and biofuels. Therefore, regarding tracking deforestation the 
environmental benefits of producing food locally versus deforestation for 
agricultural production has been considered in the following policies. 

 
17 For the purposes of the CEEI, deforestation/land-use change is defined as “the direct human-
induced conversion of forested land to non-forested land.” Sustainable Forest harvesting, including 
clearcutting, is not considered deforestation, as the land-use does not change and the land cover 
is expected to regenerate to forest. 
18 From Climate Action Legislation of Province of BC site. 

Stakeholder 
replaced with 

updated 
language 

Status of this 
Act updated 

Page 168 of 422

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/environment/climate-change/planning-and-action/legislation


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 91  

Supporting policies: 
 
8D-1 Promote the conservation of forest areas through focusing future 

development in Core Settlement Areas, as set out in Part 4 of the 
RGS. 
 

8D-2 To preserve large contiguous tracts of forested areas, establish 400 
hectares as a minimum lot size in Resource Areas, through OCPs. 
Residential uses will be restricted in Resource Areas, as set out in 
Part 4 of the RGS. 
 

8D-3 Because of the significant environmental benefits provided by a 
healthy local farming industry and the fact that ALR lands are 
regulated by the Province, the loss of forests within ALR lands due 
to increased farm activity will not be calculated as part of the 
regional community energy and emissions inventory data for the 
purpose of tracking deforestation. 

 
 
Objective 8-E: Plan for renewable energy generation  
 
Planning for energy systems can be directly linked to GHG reduction 
targets. As the population increases and there is growth in industry, there 
will be an increase in demand for energy that needs to be addressed. In 
addition to reducing GHG emissions and our carbon footprint, renewable 
energy generation also offers economic development benefits that can be 
nurtured through strategic planning. 
 
Supporting policies:  
 
8E- 1 Encourage efforts to increase the use of cost competitive 
renewable energy. 
 
8E- 2 Encourage efforts to increase the use of cost competitive district 
energy systems. 
 
8E-3 In reviewing OCPs consider inclusion of cost competitive renewable 

Page 169 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 92  

energy generation policies and development permit guidelines.  
 
8E-4 Encourage local governments to review land use and development 

bylaws to support sustainable infrastructure including on-site 
energy production.  

 
 
Objective 8-F: Plan for climate change adaptation. 
Even with strong mitigation measures, there will be changes in climate 
conditions due to past emissions and feedback cycles. Therefore, in 
addition to mitigation efforts, planning for climate change adaptation 
must also be a priority.  
 
Supporting policies 
 
8F-1 Each local government should create a climate change adaption 

plan as part of their future local planning process. 
 
8F-2 Promote inclusion of climate change modeling and impacts in 

future infrastructure and resource studies. 
 
8F-3 Promote water conservation and efficiency both to reduce water 

and energy use and to prepare for adapting to impacts of climate 
change (such as erratic availability of water and energy due to 
floods and droughts). 

 
8F-4 Encourage the creation of local adaptation and management 

programs for Resource Areas. 
 
8F-5 Local governments should consider a regional approach to 

floodplain mapping and management to account for climate 
change sea level rise and to ensure consistent application of 
development controls within floodplain and coastal areas. 

 
8F-6 All new development within established floodplains should be 

discouraged and redevelopment of lands within floodplain areas 
should only be supported where technical analysis by a qualified 

Page 170 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 93  

professional has been undertaken to ensure that lands are safe for 
use, development will not impact floodplain functions, and 
construction levels include safety factors to account for climate 
change and potential sea level rise and associated extreme storm 
surges. 

 
8F-7 Address fire protection needs for developments in the interface 

areas where there is a high risk of forest and wildfires. 

Page 171 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 94  

  

Page 172 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 95  

  
04 Managing Growth 
    
 4.1 A Strategy for Managing Growth X 

 4.2 Collaborative Regional and Local 
Planning 

X 

 4.3 Linking Growth Management and  
Regional Conservation 

X 

 4.4 Growth Management Principles X 

 4.5 Land-Use Categories and Designations 
Core Settlement Areas 
 Municipal Areas 
 Settlement Nodes 
 K’ómoks First Nation Lands 
Settlement Expansion Areas 
Rural Areas 
 Rural Settlement Areas 
 Agricultural Areas 
Resource Areas and Parks 
 Resource Areas 
 Provincial Parks 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

 

Page 173 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 96  

Part 4: Managing Growth  
 
4.1 A Strategy for Managing Growth 
 
Part 3 of the RGS sets out a vision and policy directions for long-term 
growth in the Comox Valley. The goals, objectives and Supporting policies 
in Part 3 recognize that the Comox Valley consists of urban, rural and 
K’ómoks First Nation settlements that are supported by a strong local 
economy, productive working landscapes and a remarkable network of 
natural areas. They also articulate a future for the valley in which these 
distinct elements are to be supported and enhanced in a sustainable 
manner. To do this requires managing growth and land-use activities in a 
manner consistent with the vision, goals, objectives and Supporting 
policies set out in Part 3. Such a strategy for managing growth is provided 
in this section of the RGS. 
 
 
4.2 Collaborative Regional and Local Planning 
 
The strategies, policies and schedules contained in Part 4 are only one 
component of managing growth in the Comox Valley. They provide the 
general framework for directing growth and land-use activities 
throughout the Comox Valley. The detailed policies and regulatory 
framework that define land-use permissions will continue to be found 
within the OCPs and Zoning Bylaws of the local governments. Such OCPs 
and Zoning Bylaws will be consistent with the RGS as outlined in Part 5 – 
Implementation and Monitoring. 
 
 
4.3 Linking Growth Management and Regional Conservation  
 
Regional conservation in the Comox Valley will be rooted in the principles 
of precaution, connectivity and restoration to maintain and enhance the 
region’s biodiversity. Local governments, environmental organizations, 
agricultural workers, the resource industry and the public have all made 
significant efforts to protect and enhance the natural areas within the 
Comox Valley. The good work that has been underway for several years 

General 
changes in 

this part 
include 

updating the 
treaty 

ratification for 
K'ómoks First 

Nation and 
removing 

references to 
the Sage Hills 

Sports and 
Education 

Node. 

 

Page 174 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 97  

can be further supported through a regional conservation vision that 
builds upon the policies and principles in local government OCPs and 
outlined in principle in the Nature Without Borders report, 2008. 
 
While each local government has specific policies to address protection 
and enhancement of natural features, it is also important to address 
conservation on a region-wide scale. The Regional Conservation Framework 
Concept Map No. 4 identifies a network of natural areas, at a regional 
scale, as a conceptual basis for regional connectivity. As the growth 
management strategy and policies of Part 4, and the associated Map No. 5 
Growth Management Map, are applied, the regional conservation 
framework should be considered. Map No. 4 Regional Conservation 
Framework, along with additional data and information when available, 
should be used to help establish appropriate and specific land-use 
designations and associated policies within OCPs and Zoning Bylaws. 
 
 
4.4 Growth Management Principles 
 
Long-term growth management in the Comox Valley will respond to the 
specific trends, issues, values and priorities that have been established 
through the RGS process. This strategy is unique and specific to the 
circumstances within the Comox Valley. It is based on the following 
principles. These principles build on the goals, objectives and policies 
contained in Part 3, as illustrated in the matrix contained in Appendix A. 
 

1. Protect key natural and ecological features throughout the Comox 
Valley. 

 
2. Take actions to address public health and environmental issues as 

they are identified and, where possible, before they arise. 
 

3. Recognize the distinctiveness of existing communities and ensure 
the needs of both urban and rural areas are met. 

 
4. Recognize that K’ómoks First Nation ratified their Treaty on Mach 8, 

2025, and that there should be ongoing collaboration and 

Treaty 
ratification 

updated 

Page 175 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 98  

cooperation between the local governments and K’ómoks First 
Nation. 

 
5. Promote the efficient use of land, provide greater transportation 

choices, reduce public servicing costs and achieve environmental 
benefits through compact growth. 

 
6. Ensure the efficient use and financial viability of existing and 

planned investment in public infrastructure. 
 

7. Promote intensification, compact growth and supportive public 
transit services throughout Municipal Areas as the primary means of 
accommodating population and employment growth. 

 
8. Limit the number of existing and planned Settlement Nodes outside 

of the Municipal Areas and ensure that such nodes are developed in 
a compact and transit-supportive manner. 

 
9. Identify areas of existing development on the fringes of Municipal 

Areas that should eventually be incorporated through boundary 
extensions and provided with publicly owned water and sewer 
services to address existing public health and environmental issues. 

 
10. Identify areas for new development on the fringes of Municipal 

Areas that should eventually be incorporated through boundary 
extensions and provided with publicly owned water and sewer 
services to allow for new long-term growth opportunities in a 
phased and orderly manner. 

 
11. Protect the character of Rural Areas as primarily working 

landscapes, including agricultural and aquaculture areas, so that 
such functions can remain economically viable and grow. 

 
12. Promote and support growth within Rural Areas, provided that the 

rural character and primary rural functions are maintained. 
 

13. Maintain resource areas as primarily working landscapes for 

Page 176 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 99  

resource extraction. 
 
14. Promote and support the overall economic viability of the municipal 

areas so that they can continue to provide primary base for 
residential, commercial and institutional activities. 

 
 
4.5 Land-Use Categories and Designations 
 
Map No. 5 Growth Management illustrates the overall growth management 
framework for the Comox Valley. It is based on three general land use 
categories and nine specific designations as set out below. 
 
The following sections set out policies for managing growth in the 
following land use designation areas. 
 
1. Core Settlement Areas:  

(a) Municipal Areas 
(b) Settlement Nodes  
(c) K’ómoks First Nation 
(e) Settlement Expansion Areas 
 

2. Rural Areas:  
(a) Rural Settlement Areas 
(b) Agricultural Areas 
 

3. Resource Areas and Parks:  
(a) Resource Areas 
(b) Provincial Parks 
 

The growth management policies in Section 4.5 must be read together 
and understood within the context of the Part 3 policies that provide 
guidance on the eight main goals of the RGS and Part 5 policies that 
provide guidance on how to implement the RGS. 
 
 
 

Reference to 
Sage Hills 

Sports and 
Education 

Node removed 

Page 177 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 100  

1. Core Settlement Areas 
 
MG Policy 1.1 – Definition of Core Settlement Areas 
There are four designations in Core Settlement Areas: Municipal Areas, 
Settlement Nodes, K’ómoks First Nation Lands, Sports and Education Node 
and Settlement Expansion Areas.  
 
Municipal Areas are defined by the boundaries of the City of Courtenay, 
Town of Comox and Village of Cumberland. 
 
Settlement Nodes reflect the planned settlement areas in Union Bay, 
Saratoga Beach and Mount Washington. 
 
K’ómoks First Nation Lands consist of IR Lands and lands transferred to the 
K’ómoks First Nation through the treaty settlement process, and other 
lands that may be identified through negotiated agreement between the 
Province and the K’ómoks First Nation. While these lands are outside of 
the RGS legislative authority, it is important for CVRD to advance the 
commitment in building relationship with Indigenous peoples and 
advance reconciliation. To support Indigenous relations as a strategic 
driver, the CVRD adopted Indigenous Relations Framework to deliver core 
services with an Indigenous relations lens and promote greater cultural 
awareness within its authority. 
 
Settlement Expansion Areas are fringe areas located on the edges of 
Municipal Areas that have been identified because:  
 
(1) they contain existing settlements with private or public water and/or 
sewer servicing that will eventually require the extension of publicly 
owned water and sewer services, coincident with boundary extensions, or 
satisfactory servicing agreements, to address public health and 
environmental issues before they arise; or,  
 
(2) they have the long-term potential to accommodate future growth 
subject to boundary extensions and the provision of publicly owned water 
or sewer services, provided that appropriate phasing policies are 
established, new development does not detract from compact growth 

CVRD 
Indigenous 
Relations 

Framework 
information 

added 

Page 178 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 101  

options within Municipal Areas and that infrastructure capacity is available 
and financially sustainable. Any growth in Settlement Expansion Areas will 
occur in a phased and orderly manner and will undergo a public planning 
process to determine the appropriate scale and form of development. 
 
 
MG Policy 1.2 – Development within Core Settlement Areas 
A minimum of 90 per cent of the growth within the Comox Valley will be 
directed to Core Settlement Areas, to promote the efficient use of land and 
public infrastructure, provide densities supportive of alternative 
transportation choices, and achieve environmental benefits resulting 
from compact growth. Additionally, directing growth to Core Settlement 
Areas will limit sprawl and curtail urban encroachment into Rural Areas, 
working landscapes and natural areas. 
 
 
MG Policy 1.3 – Town Centres 
Town Centres will be identified within all Core Settlement Areas. These Town 
Centres are to be developed as walkable and complete communities, 
providing for the broadest range of housing, employment and 
commercial uses. Town Centres should support transit oriented 
development through the establishment of minimum densities, in the 
range of 100-150 combined residents and jobs per hectare with a reduced 
minimum of 75 combined residents and jobs per hectare for ground 
orientated housing, within the OCPs. 
 
 
1. (a) Municipal Areas 
Municipal Areas are comprised of the City of Courtenay, the Town of 
Comox and the Village of Cumberland, as defined by their jurisdictional 
borders. Municipal Areas have considerable capacity to accommodate 
growth through both intensification (by means of secondary suites and 
infill development) and new compact development. They will develop 
somewhat differently based on each community’s unique characteristics, 
needs and visions. 
 

 

Page 179 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 102  

CITY OF COURTENAY 
The City of Courtenay is the largest urban area in the Comox Valley 
and, as such, is home to several major businesses, 
commercial/retail areas and cultural facilities. It is also the location 
for the North Island College Comox Valley campus and many 
recreation facilities including the Comox Valley Sports Centre and 
Comox Valley Exhibition Grounds. The City of Courtenay should 
develop and grow consistent with its function as the Comox Valley’s 
largest urban area. New development should provide for a wide 
diversity of housing and employment opportunities and should 
allow for the highest densities within the Comox Valley. 
 
TOWN OF COMOX 
The Town of Comox is well known for its harbour and main street 
downtown. There is a large senior population that will require more 
senior-friendly services as the population grows and ages. The 
Town is also home to CFB Comox, the Comox Valley’s single largest 
employer, and is the location of the Comox Valley Airport, which 
provides links to domestic and international locations. The Town of 
Comox will continue to grow but will remain a small urban area 
within the Comox Valley. New growth will occur largely through 
intensification and development in new areas.  

 
VILLAGE OF CUMBERLAND 
The Village of Cumberland has the smallest population of the three 
municipalities but has the greatest number of designated lands to 
accommodate new residential and employment growth. The Village 
of Cumberland also contains the largest supply of vacant 
designated industrial land in the Comox Valley. Cumberland is 
unique in its concentration of young families and new development 
should support the needs of this group. The Village main street is a 
local and regional draw for its unique local meeting places and 
artisan shops. The forest areas within Cumberland provide local 
and regional recreation opportunities in all seasons.  

 
 
 

Page 180 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 103  

MG Policy 1A-1 – Municipal Areas 
Municipal Areas are defined by their jurisdictional boundaries. Specific 
land-uses, designated Town Centres, conservation features, parks and 
rural or resource areas should all be determined through OCPs. The local 
OCP review process should articulate how the RGS policies are to be 
achieved through land-use designations and/or other policy 
considerations. 
 
 
1. (b) Settlement Nodes 
Settlement Nodes have been identified to accommodate compact forms of 
development but are not contiguous with Municipal Areas. Settlement 
Nodes consist of defined areas around Union Bay, Saratoga Beach and Mt. 
Washington. These Settlement Nodes are established through local 
planning policy documents around existing communities with significant 
planned capacity to accommodate new growth. Each Settlement Node is 
unique and will develop based on its characteristics and Local Area Plan. 
New Settlement Nodes can only be created through amendment to the 
RGS. 
 

UNION BAY 
Union Bay is in Baynes Sound – Electoral Area A – and includes the 
planned development of Union Bay Estates. A seaside community, 
this was formerly a major shipping port for the coal mines. The 
economy is now geared toward the shellfish industry and tourism. 
Further north along the coast, Union Bay will see considerable 
growth with the development and build-out of Union Bay Estates.  

 
SARATOGA BEACH 
Saratoga Beach is in Puntledge-Black Creek – Electoral Area C. Its 
boundaries generally follow the historic Local Area Plan and include 
both rural and country residential lots. Saratoga Beach is part of 
the water service area and should be serviced by sewer. As a 
Settlement Node, growth would be largely geared toward coastal 
tourism and residential housing. An improved transit connection 
with the Campbell River area should be developed.  

 

Kensington 
replaced with 

Union Bay 
Estates 

“Historic” 
added to 

indicate that 
the referenced 
Saratoga Local 
Area Plan was 

repealed 

Page 181 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 104  

MT. WASHINGTON 
Located in Puntledge-Black Creek – Electoral Area C – Mt. 
Washington provides its own water and sewer services and has 
long-term development plans in place that will see it grow 
substantially as a resort and recreation area. Long-term 
considerations for this area at the regional level will need to focus 
on health and safety issues such as provision of adequate fire 
protection and establishing public transit linkages with Town 
Centres and inter-regional connections. 

 
MG Policy 1B-1 – Settlement Nodes 
Settlement Nodes shall accommodate growth through a balance of new 
development, intensification and improvements to public infrastructure. 
Infrastructure improvements will need to include the provision of 
appropriate water and sewer services along with enhanced public transit 
and active transportation options. 
 
MG Policy 1B-2 – Uses within Settlement Nodes 
Settlement Nodes will be identified within the CVRD OCP and will have a 
Local Area Plan that provides for specific land-uses and development 
criteria. 
 
MG Policy 1B-3 – New Settlement Nodes 
Designation of any new Settlement Nodes will require an amendment to 
the RGS. 
 
MG Policy 1B-4 Adjustments to Settlement Node Boundaries 
Should minor adjustments to existing Settlement Node Boundaries be 
identified through a Local Area Planning process, such boundary 
adjustments shall be permitted subject to a minor amendment to the 
RGS. 
 
 
1. (c) K’ómoks First Nation Lands 
The K’ómoks First Nation currently has three IR Land holdings within 
CVRD as illustrated on Map No. 3 and identified as K’ómoks First Nation 
Lands on Growth Management Map No.5. Additionally, the K'ómoks First 

“within CVRD” 
added to 

acknowledge 
K’ómoks First 
Nation has IR 
lands beyond 

CVRD’s 
boundaries   

Page 182 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 105  

Treaty 
ratification 
updated. 

 

Sentence 
reworded 

Select 
sentences 

replaced and 
removed 

Nation ratified its Treaty on March 8, 2025, marking a significant 
milestone in its journey toward self-governance and a revitalized 
relationship with all levels of government. The federal and provincial 
governments will proceed with their respective ratification processes 
through legislation. The K'ómoks Treaty will be signed and come into 
effect on an agreed-upon date. One of the results of the treaty settlement 
process will be the transfer of lands to the K’ómoks First Nation for the 
purposes of supporting economic development objectives and 
opportunities.  
 
MG Policy 1C-1 – K’ómoks First Nation Lands 
Lands identified as K’ómoks First Nation Lands on Map No. 5 consist of 
K’ómoks First Nation IR Lands and land transferred to the K’ómoks First 
Nation through the treaty settlement process, and other lands that may 
be identified through negotiated agreement between the Province and 
the K’ómoks First Nation. These lands are outside of the RGS legislative 
authority and therefore it is important to ensure a cooperative and 
collaborative government-to-government relationship where 
communications are improved, concerns are addressed as they may arise 
and there is an awareness and understanding of K’ómoks First Nation title 
and rights as well as recognition of the importance of land development 
in creating economic development opportunities for the K’ómoks First 
Nation. A First Nations Growth Management IA may be undertaken, as 
outlined in Part 5 of this RGS, to recognize K’ómoks First Nation Lands and 
future economic development opportunities. 
 
MG Policy 1C-2 Purpose of the First Nations Implementation 
Agreement 
One of the purposes of the First Nations IA may be to learn about 
K’ómoks First Nation’s principles, plans, and intentions for the 
development or protection of K’ómoks First Nation Lands. K’ómoks First 
Nation and local governments will also work together, through the IA, to 
ensure that identified land uses can be properly serviced, where possible, 
in an environmentally and financially sustainable manner. 
 
MG Policy 1C-3 – Additions to K’ómoks First Nation Lands 
As lands are formally identified through the Treaty Settlement Process 

Provincial 
Legislation 

updated 

Page 183 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 106  

and transferred to the K’ómoks First Nation, they may be illustrated on 
Map No. 5 pursuant to the terms of the Treaty Settlement and in 
accordance with any applicable policies or processes as set out in Part 13 
of the Local Government Act. 
 
 
1. (e) Settlement Expansion Areas  
Settlement Expansion Areas are located on the fringe of Municipal Areas. 
Any growth in Settlement Expansion Areas will occur in a phased and 
orderly manner and will undergo a public planning process to determine 
the appropriate scale and form of development. They have been 
identified for either, or a combination, of the following:  
 
(1) they contain existing settlements with private water and/or sewer 
servicing that will eventually require the extension of publicly operated 
water and sewer services, coincident with boundary extensions, or 
satisfactory servicing agreements, to address public health and 
environmental issues before they arise; or,  
 
(2) they have the long-term potential to accommodate future growth 
subject to boundary extensions and the provision of publicly owned water 
or sewer services, provided that appropriate phasing policies are 
established, new development does not detract from compact growth 
options within Municipal Areas and that infrastructure capacity is available 
and financially sustainable. 
 
There are several existing neighbourhoods, such as Marsden/Arden and 
Royston, located on the fringes of the Municipal Areas. For the most part, 
these neighbourhoods were built without full municipal infrastructure – in 
other words, they contain on-site servicing such as septic systems and/or 
private well or private/public water systems. Many of them are built at 
densities that today would be considered too high for such private 
servicing systems because of water quality and public health issues. 
Experience has shown that private septic and water systems need 
ongoing maintenance to prevent failure. While most landowners are 
responsible and keep their systems maintained, over time such systems 
have proven to fail and need to be replaced at considerable costs to 

Page 184 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 107  

landowners. More typically, several systems will fail at the same time 
(given that they have similar life cycles), creating pressure to extend 
publicly operated water and sewer services into the affected area. 
 
Given the number and density of private systems located on the fringe of 
Municipal Areas, there is a need to develop a long-term strategy to prevent 
public health concerns before they arise. Private wells, watercourses and 
the marine foreshore within the Comox Valley could be seriously 
compromised should enough septic systems fail in the coming years prior 
to detection. As a result, it is the long-term intention of the growth 
management strategy that existing neighbourhoods within designated 
Settlement Expansions Areas will eventually be provided with publicly 
owned water and sewer services. Such provision of services will be 
coincident with a boundary extension that incorporates the settlement 
expansion area into a municipal area, or a satisfactory servicing 
agreement, as detailed in the corresponding OCP. 
 
The Settlement Expansion Areas designation also includes lands on the 
fringe of Municipal Areas with little or no existing development. Such areas 
have been identified as ‘reserve areas’ to help accommodate the long-
term growth demands within the Comox Valley. Their proximity to 
Municipal Areas means that future growth in these areas will help achieve 
many of the same benefits as growth within Municipal Areas. Namely, if 
developed in a compact form and in an orderly manner that does not 
detract from compact growth options within Municipal Areas, they will 
promote the efficient use of land, provide greater transportation choices, 
reduce public servicing costs and reduce sprawl into rural areas. 
 
MG Policy 1E-1 – Boundary Extensions within Settlement Expansion 
Areas 
It is the intention of Local Governments in the Comox Valley that 
Settlement Expansion Areas, as identified on Map No. 5, shall become part 
of a Municipal Area through a boundary extension. Local governments will 
work cooperatively regarding such boundary extensions and ensure that 
the policies of the RGS are maintained. 
 
MG Policy 1E-2 – Identification of Settlement Expansion Areas within 

Page 185 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 108  

OCPs 
Settlement Expansions Areas, as identified on Map No. 5, shall be identified 
within the CVRD OCP and within the OCP of the Municipal Area intending 
to incorporate it. Such OCPs shall contain policies for Settlement Expansion 
Areas consistent with MG Policies 1E-3 through 1E-6. 
 
MG Policy 1E-3 – Water and Sewer Services within Settlement 
Expansion Areas 
Publicly owned water and sewer services will, in the long-term, be 
provided within Settlement Expansion Areas, coincident with boundary 
extensions, or mutually satisfactory servicing agreements, and 
infrastructure capacity in a financially feasible manner. Nothing shall 
however compel a local government or service provider to enter into a 
servicing agreement. Service agreements will take into consideration 
issues around taxation, service delivery, cost recovery and future 
initiatives to address inequities in the provision of service other than 
water and sewer. 
 
MG Policy 1E-4 –Public Health and Environmental Issues in Settlement 
Expansion Areas 
Where a demonstrated public health or environmental issue has been 
identified due to failing private water or sewer systems within Settlement 
Expansion Areas, local governments will work together to expedite the 
provision of publicly owned water and sewer services to such areas in a 
financially feasible manner. 
 
MG Policy 1E-5 – New Development within Settlement Expansion 
Areas 
New development within Settlement Expansion Areas will be phased in an 
orderly manner to ensure that appropriate infrastructure capacity is 
available, that new development does not detract from compact growth 
options within Municipal Areas, and that the financial stability of Municipal 
Areas is not negatively impacted. As such, a four-hectare minimum lot size 
shall be established in Settlement Expansion Areas until such time as the 
following criteria are met: 

a. the area has been incorporated into a Municipal Area; 
b. publicly owned water and sewer services are provided;  

Page 186 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 109  

c. phasing policies as established within the relevant OCP are 
satisfied; 

d. a Local Area Plan is prepared (a commitment should be made to 
prepare the Local Area Plan within 12 months of the boundary 
extension; and 

e. in the case of Royston, a new Local Area Plan should be 
prepared, and the Royston community should be actively 
engaged with the planning process.  
 

MG Policy 1E-6 – New Settlement Expansion Areas 
Designation of any new Settlement Expansion Areas will require an 
amendment to the RGS. 

Page 187 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 110  

2. Rural Areas 
 
The Rural Areas are comprised of designated Rural Settlement Areas and 
Agricultural Areas. Supporting the rural character and function of these 
areas, including the working agricultural land base and aquaculture 
areas, will be prioritized in planning considerations. As part of the overall 
growth management strategy to promote a compact form of growth 
within the Core Settlements Areas and reduce sprawl, new development in 
the Rural Areas will accommodate a maximum of 10 per cent of overall 
growth within the Comox Valley. New development within Rural Areas is to 
accommodate housing, employment and commercial needs in smaller 
communities through development that is sensitive to the surrounding 
rural and agricultural context. It is not to be urban or suburban in form. 
Limits on lot sizes and restrictions on permitted uses will be established 
through the Comox Valley Rural OCP to ensure that Rural Areas develop 
appropriately.  
 
MG Policy 2.1 – Rural Areas 
The Rural Comox Valley OCP will provide a policy framework for 
managing and allocating rural growth geographically throughout the 
Rural Areas and to maintain the other goals of the RGS such as protection 
of rural character, protection of environmentally sensitive features, and 
focusing intense urban development in urban areas. 
 
 
2. (a) Rural Settlement Areas 
The Rural Settlement Areas encompass all lands within the electoral areas 
outside of Core Settlement Areas that are not otherwise designated as 
Agricultural Areas, Agricultural Areas within Municipal Areas, Resource Areas, 
or Provincial Parks. To maintain the rural character and function of these 
areas, it is important to establish appropriate policies regarding land uses 
and lot sizes. 
 
Regarding lot sizes, there is existing and ongoing pressure to subdivide 
lands within Rural Areas for the purposes of creating small lots of less than 
4 hectares in size. A preponderance of such lot sizes will make it 
increasingly difficult to maintain medium and large-size farm enterprises 

Agricultural 
Areas within 

Municipal 
Areas added 

because it was 
missing from 

the list 

Page 188 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 111  

in the Comox Valley and will begin to change the character of Rural Areas 
as they become denser. The biggest concern is that small lots will result in 
the unintentional conversion of Rural Areas into estate residential areas, 
with ongoing conflicts created between residential and agricultural uses.  
 
MG Policy 2A-1 – Rural Character of Rural Settlement Areas 
All new development within Rural Settlement Areas must maintain the rural 
character of its surroundings and support the function of a working rural 
landscape. This requires careful consideration of the permitted uses, the 
form and scale of development and lot sizes. 
 
MG Policy 2A-2 – Minimum Lot Sizes in Rural Settlement Areas 
The Comox Valley Rural OCP shall establish minimum lot sizes in Rural 
Settlement Areas ranging between 4 hectares and 20 hectares, subject to 
soil conditions, ground water capacity, extension of existing subdivision 
areas, interface fire hazards and suitability of lands for rural development. 
 
MG Policy 2A-3 – Alternative Minimum Lot Sizes for Agricultural 
Purposes 
In limited circumstances, OCP policies that allow for lot sizes less than 4 
hectares, but no smaller than 2 hectares, may be considered where it is 
demonstrated that such lot sizes will create opportunities for small-scale, 
land intensive and entry-level farming. Conditions will be established for 
all subdivisions less than 4 hectares to secure that such lots will be used 
for farming purposes, and maintained as such over time, and will not 
become estate housing. 
 
An overall cap on 2 hectare lots within Rural Settlement Areas should also 
be established. There should be regular monitoring of farm sizes to 
ensure that 2-hectare lot sizes are being used for farming and that there 
is an adequate supply of larger farm parcels (20 hectares or more). To 
assist with implementation, an inventory of all Rural Settlement Area 
parcel sizes should be conducted as part of the agriculture plan review to 
ensure a balanced distribution of parcel sizes that maintains the rural 
nature of these areas and determines the success of developing small 
scale agriculture operations through 2-hectare subdivisions. 
 

Page 189 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 112  

MG Policy 2A-4 – Land Uses within Rural Settlement Areas 
The Comox Valley Rural OCP shall establish a range of permitted uses 
within Rural Settlement Areas as follows: 
 

(a) Agriculture and related uses shall be permitted. Such uses include 
food processing establishments, distribution centres, farmers 
markets and agricultural research facilities. 
 

(b) Lots smaller than 4 hectares, but not smaller than 2 hectares, may 
be permitted provided lands are farmed and agriculture is the 
primary use on the property. The OCP policies should provide 
direction and definition for farming to set these conditions. 

 
(c) Non-residential and non-agricultural-related uses shall be limited to 

land and servicing capabilities. These will mainly be associated with 
on-site businesses, home-based businesses, small-scale 
accommodations, small-scale tourist-related uses. Commercial uses 
should be clustered within specific service areas (e.g., Merville, 
Black Creek, and Fanny Bay).  

 
(d) Resort developments shall be permitted subject to restrictions on 

the overall size of development and conditions that such 
development do not include full-time residential uses, is not located 
in drinking watersheds and do not locate adjacent to the Inland 
Highway. 

 
(e) Renewable energy infrastructure and facilities (e.g., windmills and 

solar farms) shall be permitted on all lots, as determined by CVRD. 
 
 
2. (b) Agricultural Areas 
Agriculture is an important aspect of the Comox Valley’s economic and 
cultural landscape and should be protected and enhanced. Agricultural 
Areas have been established using the ALR boundaries. ALR lands within 
Municipal Areas are shown with a hatched shade and included within the 
land use designation of Agricultural Areas to recognize their function as 
working landscapes. Agricultural Areas cover approximately 13 per cent of 

Rural 
Settlement 

Areas are within 
CVRD only (i.e., 

not within 
member 

municipalities) 

Page 190 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 113  

the Comox Valley in 2021. In 2013, 24 per cent was farmed both actively 
and inactively,19 which leaves the potential for significant expansion of 
agricultural activities.  
 
With regards to growth management, it is the intent of the RGS to 
reinforce the policies and procedures within the ALR to support 
agricultural practices.  
 
MG Policy 2B-1 – Agricultural Areas 
OCPs shall contain policies for Agricultural Areas that are consistent with 
the Agricultural Land Commission Act and regulations established under 
the Act, including the establishment of adequate buffers that ensure 
abutting farm and non-farm uses do not conflict and that non-farm uses 
do not impede agricultural activity within the ALR. The Ministry of 
Agriculture and Food’s Guide to Edge Planning should be referenced to 
establish buffers in accordance with best practices that support the long-
term viability of agricultural use. 
 
MG Policy 2B-2 – Re-designation of Agricultural Areas 
If lands are removed from the ALR by the Agricultural Land Commission, 
the Agricultural Areas and Agricultural Areas within Municipal Areas 
designation in the RGS shall remain. In such cases, a redesignation of 
such lands will require a minor amendment to this RGS, as detailed in Part 
5, to establish an appropriate new land-use designation. 
 
MG Policy 2B-3 – Environmental Protection within Agricultural Areas 
Policies regarding environmental protection must be applied with careful 
consideration in Agricultural Areas and Agricultural Areas within Municipal 
Areas. New environmental regulations should require further consultation 
and collaborative planning with the agricultural community and local 
governments. Any new policies respecting the Regional Conservation 
Framework set out in this RGS must recognize the environmental, social 
and economic benefits provided by a strong local agricultural industry in 
the Comox Valley. In particular, the participation of private landowners in 
Agricultural Areas and Agricultural Areas within Municipal Areas within 

 
19 Comox Valley Regional District Land Use Inventory Report, Summer 2013; includes Denman and 
Hornby Islands 

ALR statistics 
updated 

Agricultural 
Areas within 

Municipal 
Areas added 

because it was 
missing from 

the list 

Agricultural 
Areas within 

Municipal 
Areas added 

because it was 
missing from 

the list 

Guide to Edge 
Planning 
resource 

added 

Page 191 of 422

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/farming-natural-resources-and-industry/agriculture-and-seafood/agricultural-land-and-environment/strengthening-farming/land-use-inventories/comoxvalley2013_aluirprt.pdf


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 114  

biodiversity corridors should be on a voluntary basis. 

Page 192 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 115  

3. Resource Areas and Parks 
 
Resource Areas and Parks identify lands that are predominantly natural 
resource areas, where residential settlement is prohibited. These are 
areas where large lot sizes should be preserved to facilitate resource 
production and/or to retain connectivity of ecosystems throughout the 
Resource Areas and Parks. Resource Areas and Parks are comprised of two 
land use designations Resource Areas and Provincial Parks. 
 
 
3. (a) Resource Areas 
Resource Areas encompass areas designated as Upland Resource Areas in 
historic OCPs. Mainly located to the west of the inland Highway 19, this 
area is primarily covered by privately managed working forests. For the 
most part, these lands fall under the “Class 7 Managed Forest Land” 
category of the BC Land Classification and must comply with the Private 
Managed Forest Act.  
 
MG Policy 3A-1 – Resource Areas 
Lands within Resource Areas should be protected and used for resource-
focused and related value-added uses to support local economic 
development. To maintain the integrity of these forested areas, the 
following policies shall apply and be established through OCPs: 
 

(a) a minimum lot size of 400 hectares will be established;  
 

(b) residential uses are restricted, except to permit owner/operator 
residences related to the resource activity;  

 
(c) subject to Policy 5B-1 and 5B-4 protecting the watershed of water 

supply lakes, resort developments are permitted subject to a minor 
amendment of this RGS, as detailed in Part 5, and subject to 
restrictions on the overall size of development and conditions that 
such development do not include full-time residential uses and do 
not locate adjacent to the Inland Highway; and 
 

“Historic” 
added to 

indicate that 
the referenced 

OCP was 
replaced with 

the current 
one adopted 

in 2014 

Page 193 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 116  

(d) recreational trails and supporting infrastructure, but not including 
commercial or residential buildings, are permitted within Resource 
Areas. 

 
MG Policy 3A-2 – K'ómoks First Nation Tourist Commercial 
Notwithstanding the Resource Policies above, should the ownership of 
lands legally described as Lot 1, Section 30, Township 9, Comox District, 
Plan EPP30513 (PID: 029-911-559) and Lot A, Section 30, Township 9, 
Comox District, Plan EPP30512 (PID: 029-911-290) be transferred to 
K’ómoks First Nation, the RGS will permit the development of tourist 
commercial uses with the allowance for temporary staff housing subject 
to OCP and zoning approvals. 
 

 
3. (b) Provincial Parks 
There are six provincial parks within the CVRD (excluding Denman and 
Hornby Islands). These parks include Strathcona Provincial Park, Wood 
Mountain Ski Park, Miracle Beach Park, Kitty Coleman Beach Park, Kin 
Beach Park and Rosewall Creek Park. These areas are protected and run 
by the Province. They provide opportunities for greenway linkages and 
recreation throughout the region. 
 
MG Policy 3B-1 – Provincial Parks 
The Provincial Parks located in the Comox Valley and identified on Map 
No. 5 Growth Management Map shall be recognized and appropriately 
designated with OCPs. 
  

Subject 
properties 

have new land 
title 

descriptions 

MG Policy 3A-3 
removed 

because it 
references 

Crown Land 
District Lot 

119G. On June 
2, 2016, the 

Surveyor 
General 

ordered the 
cancellation of 

the survey, 
plan, and field 

notes of 
Comox 
District, 

District Lot 
119G. 

Provincial 
Parks list 
updated 

Page 194 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 117  

  

Page 195 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 118  

  
05 Implementation and 

Monitoring 
    
 5.1 Implementation Process  

Review OCPs, Prepare and Include Regional 
Context Statements 
Develop and Adopt Implementation 
Agreements 
Create Monitoring and Evaluation Program 
Plan for Five-year Review 
Undertake Additional Studies and Projects 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

 5.2 Amendments to the RGS 
Standard Amendments 
Minor Amendments 
Criteria for Minor Amendments 
Minor Amendment Process 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

 5.3 Roles and Responsibilities X 

Page 196 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 119  

Part 5:  Implementation and Monitoring  
 
This chapter sets out the tools and partnerships that will help to 
implement the RGS and a strategy for monitoring its performance in 
meeting its objectives. The RGS is a strategic guide to future land use and 
services, developed in accordance with the Local Government Act. The 
operational issues related to implementing the RGS include: 
 

• establishing local government policies and actions that are 
consistent with and further the goals, objectives and policies of this 
RGS, as set out in Part 3; 
 

• working cooperatively at the local government level to manage 
growth and land-use activity in a manner that is consistent with and 
furthers the growth management strategy, as set out in Part 4; and, 
 

• developing processes for ongoing communication and cooperation 
between local governments, provincial and federal agencies and 
the K’ómoks First Nation in a common commitment to responsible 
land-use planning and management. 

 
 
5.1 Implementation Process 
 
Once the RGS has been adopted, all subsequent regional district and 
member municipality bylaws, works and services undertaken by the 
regional district and municipalities must be consistent with the RGS.  
 
The RGS implementation process involves the following tasks: 
 

1. Review OCPs, prepare and include regional context statements  
2. Develop and adopt IAs 
3. Develop action plans to guide implementation of RGS goals  
4. Create monitoring and evaluation program 
5. Plan for five-year reviews  
6. Undertake related studies and projects 

 

Updated to be 
more specific 

than just “local 
government” 

Implementation 
process to 

include action 
plans 

General 
changes in 

this part 
include 

updating the 
treaty 

ratification for 
K'ómoks First 

Nation and 
including 

references to 
the RGS 

Performance 
Monitoring 

Dashboard for 
annual 

reporting. 

 

Page 197 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 120  

1. Review OCPs, Prepare and Include Regional Context Statements 
OCPs are an essential means of implementing the RGS. Once the RGS has 
been adopted, municipalities have two years to update their OCPs and 
adopt Regional Context Statements, as required by Section 446 of the 
Local Government Act. The Regional Context Statements are prepared as 
an OCP amendment and will: 

 
• identify the relationship between the OCP and the content of an 

RGS; and, 
• specify how the OCP and the RGS will be made consistent over 

time. 
 
These statements are to be reviewed and accepted by the regional 
district. To ensure that the OCP and RGS remain compatible over time, the 
context statement is required to be referred to the regional district for 
acceptance every five years. 
 
The CVRD electoral areas must conform with the RGS and update the 
Comox Valley Rural OCP within one year of the adoption of the RGS in the 
following manner:  
 

• All bylaws adopted by a regional district board after the board has 
adopted an RGS, and all services undertaken by a regional district 
after the board has adopted an RGS, must be consistent with the 
RGS. 

 
In doing so, other policies may need to be amended as appropriate and 
eventually zoning bylaw changes may also occur.  
 
 
2. Develop and Adopt IAs 
IAs provide operational tools for implementing the RGS policies and 
growth strategy. These agreements will identify processes and activities 
to implement certain provisions of the RGS.  
 
The IAs provide for the development of collaborative land use planning 
processes and relationships with a focus on the following implementation 

Provincial 
Legislation 

updated 

Page 198 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 121  

objectives: 
 
Growth Management IA 
To resolve specific issues related to the application of the RGS growth 
management strategy. 

 
• Prepare an RGS IA on Managing Growth – Continue the role of the 

TAC, SC and Elected Officials Forum20 through an IA that further 
defines the way long-term settlement growth and development will 
be encouraged consistent with the RGS. This will focus on 
preparation of Regional Context Statement to be included with the 
OCPs and the role of Map No. 5: Growth Management Map. The IA 
should also identify how Settlement Expansion Areas will be 
incorporated in the OCPs. 
 

• Continue using the round table format (i.e., the Elected Officials’ 
Forum) on a regular basis as a means for continued cross-regional  
communication and coordination. 

 
 
First Nations Growth Management IA 
To further develop effective dialogue and working relationships with the 
K’ómoks First Nation. K’ómoks First Nation Treaty Settlement Lands are 
IR lands, Treaty Settlement lands and other lands that may be identified 
through negotiated agreement between the Province and the K’ómoks 
First Nation would be outside of the RGS legislative authority and, 
therefore, it is important to ensure that all local governments have a 
cooperative and collaborative government-to-government relationship 
with K’ómoks First Nation. This includes an understanding of K’ómoks 
First Nation’s Rights and Title as a Treaty Nation as well as recognition of 
the importance of land development in creating economic development 
opportunities for K’ómoks First Nation. 
 
Initiate an RGS IA on First Nations Land Use Planning and Development – An 

 
20 These committees were established through a Memorandum of Understanding in July 2008 to 
develop the RGS. The TAC consists of senior planning staff from the four local governments; the SC 
consists of the Chief Administrative Officers from the four local governments. 

Indigenous 
Relations 

Framework 
updated. 

Paragraph 
updated. 

Paragraph 
updated 

Page 199 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 122  

IA between the CVRD and member municipalities and K’ómoks First 
Nation should establish an arrangement for information exchange and 
the identification of mutually-beneficial agreements and protocols.  

 
• On March 8, 2025, K’ómoks First Nation ratified their Treaty. The 

federal and provincial governments will proceed with their 
respective ratification processes through legislation. The K’ómoks 
Treaty will be signed and come into effect on an agreed-upon date.  

• At any time during this process, additional discussions, planning 
(and land use harmonization) may be required for lands adjacent to 
or impacted by any identified treaty settlement lands. The RGS may 
be amended, as appropriate and in accordance with the applicable 
statutory process, due to the treaty settlement process. The 
content of the IA will be developed with K’ómoks First Nation. 
 

• Core services delivered by the CVRD will apply an Indigenous 
relations lens and promote cultural awareness, consistent with the 
CVRD’s commitment to advancing the Indigenous Relations 
Framework. Through the IA, K’ómoks First Nation and local 
governments will collaborate to ensure, where possible, that 
identified land uses are serviced through existing CVRD and local 
government community systems. In the interim, between the 
implementation of the RGS and the effective date of any final 
K’ómoks Treaty, water and sewer servicing for lands identified in 
partnership with K’ómoks First Nation may be incorporated into the 
IA. 

 
 
Ministry of Transportation and Transit Implementation Process 
To ensure a collaborative planning process between local governments 
and Ministry of Transportation and Transit to implement the goals and 
policies of the RGS. In the electoral areas, the Ministry is the approving 
officer for plans of subdivision. Therefore, to achieve the goals and 
objectives of the RGS related to regional growth management, it is 
important that Ministry work cooperatively with the CVRD.  
 

• Prepare an RGS IA with Ministry of Transportation and Transit on 

Treaty 
ratification 
updated. 

 

Indigenous 
Relations 

Framework 
information 

added 

Information 
added 

 

 

 

Provincial 
ministry name 

updated 

Assumed land 
uses on 

K’ómoks First 
Nation lands 

removed. 

Sentence 
added. 

 

Page 200 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 123  

subdivision approval to address RGS policies and interests of local 
government including road network planning, stormwater 
management, cycling infrastructure, alternative infrastructure 
standards, transit infrastructure and road design standards. 
 

• RGS policies and goals will frame the IA and the principles outlined 
in Appendix A of the RGS. 

 
 
Other IAs 
To continue to identify additional IAs with rightsholders and interested 
parties, as needed.  
 
 
3. Develop action plans to guide implementation of RGS goals 
Goal-specific action plans will be developed to implement existing action 
items in the RGS bylaw. Each plan will provide a clear pathway to 
achieving the RGS goal statements by outlining specific work plan items, 
assigned roles, and the relevant policy basis. These plans will align with 
the Board’s strategic priorities to ensure a shared understanding of policy 
direction and practical application for decision makers and partners. 
Designed with a five- to seven-year time horizon, the plans will be 
adaptable to evolving Board direction and community input. Key metrics 
will be tracked in the RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard and 
updated regularly. 
 
These action plans will serve as a framework for local government staff 
and decision makers, helping to advance both regional and municipal 
priorities while improving coordination across the region, as envisioned in 
the RGS. 
 
4. Create Monitoring and Evaluation Programs 
Monitoring and evaluation have two purposes – to measure progress in 
the RGS implementation and to measure substantive improvements that 
result from RGS policies. 
 
To facilitate the monitoring and reporting process, the RGS policies have 

Stakeholder 
replaced with 

updated 
language 

Information 
on action 

plans added  

Page 201 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 124  

Targets and Measures that will be used to measure overall 
implementation of the RGS. Data sources and reporting procedures will 
be specified in the Monitoring and Evaluation Program.  
 
Within one year of the adoption of the RGS, a Monitoring and Evaluation 
Program will be established that will monitor, evaluate and periodically 
report on regional economic, population, social and environmental trends 
and progress towards achievement of RGS vision and objectives. The 
process and program should include the following: 
 

• the four local governments will meet and agree on the best form of 
monitoring (consideration should be given to hiring a third party to 
perform the assessment); 

• development of additional targets and measures as needed; 
• preparation of annual reports on implementation and progress 

toward the goals and objectives of the RGS;  
• assessment of longer-term trends in conjunction with five-year RGS 

reviews; and, 
• commitment to conduct all reviews and progress reports within a 

larger, open public process as required in Section 434 of the Local 
Government Act. 

 
Annual RGS reports were prepared until 2022, when the CVRD introduced 
the RGS Performance Monitoring Dashboard. This platform provides 
regional partners with accessible data for decision-making and analysis, 
updated regularly with new information, such as Census data, as it 
becomes available. The dashboard enhances communication, helps 
identify trends, and supports the annual RGS reporting requirements. 
 
 
5. Plan for Five-year Reviews 
To ensure that the RGS continues to respond to current issues, the RGS 
should be reviewed every five years from the adoption of the RGS 
pursuant to Section 452 of the Local Government Act. As part of this review 
process, a report on current trends and issues should be prepared that 
will inform the review of the RGS. Key to the review will be performance 
based on objectives in the plan. Subsequent amendments to the RGS may 

Provincial 
Legislation 

updated 

Provincial 
Legislation 

updated 

Annual 
reports 

replaced with 
RGS 

Performance 
Monitoring 
Dashboard 

Page 202 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 125  

be required to ensure that it reflects and adequately responds to 
changing circumstances of the Comox Valley. 
 
The 2025 amendment is undertaken as a minor amendment aimed at 
modernizing information while maintaining existing objectives, policies, 
and growth management framework. 
 
 
6. Undertake Additional Studies and Projects 
To facilitate the implementation of RGS goals and objectives, action plans 
may be developed for each of the eight goals. Where applicable, the 
outcomes of these plans will be shared through the RGS Performance 
Monitoring Dashboard to keep the public informed of progress.  
 
 
5.2 Amendments to the RGS 
 
1. An amendment to the RGS may be proposed by a member municipality, 
the Electoral Areas Services Committee, or the board, including on behalf 
of an external agency or private landowner. Unless determined by board 
resolution to be a minor amendment, an amendment is a standard 
amendment and will follow the same process that is required to adopt an 
RGS as set out in Part 13 of the Local Government Act. The process that is 
required to adopt a minor amendment is as set out in Section 5.2(4). The 
RGS Summary Chart summarizes the processes for the adoption of a 
standard and minor amendment.  

 
2. Recognizing that the RGS will require some flexibility to respond to 
changing conditions in the region, the minor amendment process will 
provide a more streamlined amendment process for minor changes, 
while ensuring that amendments which substantially change the vision 
and direction of the strategy remain subject to acceptance by all affected 
local governments. 
 
The CVRD and member municipalities will work to ensure OCP policies are 
consistent with the goals, objectives and policies in Part 3 and with Map 
No. 5 : Growth Management Map, or provide for a process that will lead to 

Information 
about 2025 
amendment 

added for 
future 

reference 

Use of RGS 
Performance 
Dashboard 

added 

Page 203 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 126  

consistency over time, recognizing the economic, social and 
environmental benefits of compact community development, 
preservation and connection of natural features, and ongoing land use 
planning cooperation, collaboration and harmonization with K’ómoks First 
Nation.  
 
Amendments to the RGS may only be made by bylaw. Under the Local 
Government Act, an RGS amendment bylaw, other than one that is a minor 
amendment, must follow the same process that is required to first adopt 
the RGS. The Local Government Act enables minor amendments where a 
process has been established pursuant to Section 437 that includes the 
following: 
 

• criteria for determining whether a proposed amendment is minor 
for the purposes of allowing the process to apply; 

• a means for the views of affected local governments respecting a 
proposed minor amendment to be obtained and considered; 

• a means for providing notice to affected local governments 
respecting a proposed minor amendment; and  

• procedures for adopting the minor amendment bylaw. 
 

3. Criteria for Minor Amendments 
Criteria under which a proposed amendment to the RGS may be 
considered a minor amendment include the following: 
 
a. Where a land use or development proposal is inconsistent with the 

RGS, and, in the opinion of the CVRD Board: 
 
• is not to be of regional significance in terms of scale, impacts or 

precedence;  
• contributes to achieving the goals and objectives set out in Part 3; 

and, 
• contributes to achieving the general principles contained in the 

growth management strategy of Part 4. 
 

b. Text and map amendments which are not directly related to enabling 
specific proposed developments may be considered minor if, in the 

Page 204 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 127  

opinion of the board, the amendment is not of regional significance.  
 

c. Boundary extensions for the purposes of incorporating designated 
Settlement Expansion Areas into a Municipal Area or Agricultural Area 
within a Municipal Area, consistent with MG Policies 1E-1 through 1E-6, 
shall be deemed in conformity with the RGS and not require either a 
minor amendment or standard amendment. Under such 
circumstances, the RGS designation and other CVRD planning 
regulations will continue to apply until such time as the local 
jurisdiction amends its OCP, at which time the RGS designation will 
change to Municipal Area or Agricultural Area within a Municipal Area.  
 

d. For boundary extensions beyond the Settlement Expansion Areas, an 
RGS amendment will not be required. However, under such 
circumstances the Municipal Area undertaking the boundary extension 
must adopt OCP policies that are consistent with the RGS designation 
for such lands. At such time, the RGS designation will change to 
Municipal Area or Agricultural Area within Municipal Area, as applicable. 
Should the Municipal Area seek to adopt OCP policies that differ from 
the policies of the RGS, at either the time of the boundary extension or 
at a future date, then a standard amendment to the RGS will be 
required to follow the regular process as outlined in Part 13 of the 
Local Government Act. 
 

e. Any proposal that does not meet the criteria set out above would be 
considered a standard amendment and will be required to follow the 
regular process as outlined in Part 13 of the Local Government Act. 

 
4. Minor Amendment Process 
Where an amendment to the RGS has been proposed by a member 
municipality, the Electoral Areas Services Committee, or the board, and 
the board has, by resolution, initiated the amendment, the process for the 
board to determine if the amendment is minor, and then to consider it as 
minor, is as follows: 

 
• Upon a board resolution to initiate an amendment, the regional 

district will set up a TAC meeting for review and discussion of the 

Provincial 
Legislation 

updated 

Agricultural 
Areas within 

Municipal 
Areas added 

because it was 
missing from 

the list 

Clarity of 
possible land 

use 
designations 

added 

Page 205 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 128  

proposed amendment. The TAC will provide comments, in the form of 
a report prepared by regional district staff, to the SC. 
 

• Upon receipt of a report from the TAC, the SC will meet to review and 
discuss the proposed amendment. The SC will provide its comments 
and recommendations to the CVRD Board via a report prepared by 
regional district staff. The SC’s report will assist the board in its 
decision on whether the proposed amendment should be processed 
as a minor amendment. 
 

• The board will assess any proposed amendment in terms of the minor 
amendment criteria. The board may resolve, by an affirmative vote of 
2/3 of the board members present, to process the proposed 
amendment as a minor amendment. Where the board resolves to 
process an amendment proposal as a minor amendment, the board 
will: 

 
• Refer the application to TAC for comment. 

 
• Determine the appropriate form of public consultation required in 

conjunction with the proposed minor amendment. 
 

• Give 30 days written notice to each affected local government, 
including notice that the proposed amendment has been 
determined to be a minor amendment. The notice shall include a 
summary of the proposed amendment and any staff reports, other 
relevant supporting documentation and the date, time and place of 
the board meeting at which the amending bylaw is to be 
considered for first reading. 
 

• Direct staff to prepare a report on the minor amendment with an 
analysis that examines the benefits of the proposed change, and 
how the proposed change is consistent with the principles and 
goals of the RGS and the relationship between targets and 
performance measures. 
 

• Consider the written comments provided by the affected local 

Page 206 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 129  

governments prior to giving first reading to the proposed 
amendment bylaw. 
 

• At the time of consideration of first reading, the board will determine 
whether a public hearing on the RGS minor amendment bylaw is 
required. 
 

• Any minor amendment bylaw shall be adopted in accordance with the 
procedures that apply to the adoption of a RGS under Section 437 of 
the Local Government Act and CVRD Procedure Bylaw No. 1, 2008 

Provincial 
Legislation 

updated 

Page 207 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 130  

RGS Amendment Summary Chart 
 

Board Resolution to Initiate RGS 
Amendment 

 
Board Resolution by 2/3 vote if an 

Amendment is Minor 
Yes  No 

   
First Reading  First Reading 

   
Second Reading  Second Reading 

   
Public Hearing 

(Optional) 
 

Public Hearing 
(Optional) 

   

  

Refer for 
Acceptance (Local 

and Affected 
Governments) 

   
  Accept 
   

Third Reading  Third Reading 
   

Adoption 
 

Page 208 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 131  

5.3 Roles and Responsibilities 
 
The success of the RGS depends on ongoing cooperation and 
collaborative planning efforts between the local governments, provincial 
and federal agencies and the public.  
 
To implement the RGS, the CVRD Board, working in partnership with its 
member municipalities, the province, the federal government, K’ómoks 
First Nation and others, will: 
 

• maintain a collaborative, agreement-seeking regional strategic 
planning program directed to work towards achievement of the 
long-term objectives of the RGS; 

 
• commit to ongoing communication with the public including on the 

RGS review process (i.e., annual and every five years), minor 
amendment and amendment processes; 

 
• commit to consultation with and consideration of the interests of 

areas serviced outside the CVRD; and, 
 

• commit to consultation with and consideration of the interest of the 
SRD with respects to potential impacts of inter-regional services, 
including the solid waste service and service to Electoral Area D, 
water service through the Black Creek/Oyster Bay Water Local 
Service Area and fire protection through Black Creek/Oyster Bay 
Fire Protection Local Service Area. 

Fire protection 
services name 

updated 

Page 209 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 132  

  

Page 210 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 133  

  
 Glossary 
    
    

    

    

General changes 
in this section 

include the 
removal of terms 

not referenced 
and updates to 

definitions 
where needed 

Page 211 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 134  

Action Plan 
An action plan is a structured framework that guides the implementation 
of specific goals within a defined time frame. In the context of the RGS, it 
outlines key actions, assigned roles, and policy foundations to support 
decision-making and coordination. Aligned with strategic priorities, action 
plans have a five- to seven-year horizon, adapt to Board direction and 
community input, and track progress through the RGS Performance 
Monitoring Hub. They help local governments advance regional and 
municipal priorities while improving collaboration across the region. 
 
Affordable housing 
Affordable housing refers to housing where total shelter costs, including 
utilities and taxes, amount to less than 30 per cent of a household's gross 
annual income. 
 
Agricultural Areas 
Agricultural Areas are designated based on the ALR boundaries. These 
areas are defined to protect and enhance their role as working 
landscapes. In the Comox Valley, Agricultural Areas encompass 
approximately 13 per cent of the region.  
 
Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) 
The ALC is the administrative body of the ALR. It is an independent 
provincial agency responsible for administering the Province’s land use 
zone in favour of agriculture, through the Agricultural Land Commission 
Act. The purpose of the Commission is to preserve agricultural land; 
encourage farming in collaboration with other communities of interest; 
and, to encourage local governments, First Nations, the government and 
its agents to enable and accommodate farm use of agricultural land and 
uses compatible with agriculture in their plans, bylaws and policies. 
 
Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) 
The ALR was established in 1973 as a provincial zone in which agriculture 
is recognized as the priority use. Farming is encouraged and non-
agricultural uses are controlled. The ALR covers approximately 4.6 million 
hectares as of January 2024 and includes both private and public lands 
that may be farmed, forested or vacant, but where agriculture is 

Definition 
added 

Definition 
updated 

Definition 
added 

ALR 
statistics 
updated 

Page 212 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 135  

recognized as the priority use. It is administered by the ALC.  
 
Aquaculture 
Aquaculture is the farming of freshwater and saltwater organisms and 
aquatic plants. This process implies some form of human intervention in 
the rearing process to enhance production, such as regular stocking and 
protection from predators; it also implies individual or corporate 
ownership of the stock being cultivated.  
 
 
Biodiversity 
The variety of life on earth in all its forms including genes, species, and 
ecosystems and the natural processes that link and maintain them.  
 
Community Energy and Emissions Inventory (CEEI) 
The CEEI is an initiative of the BC Ministry of Energy and Climate 
Solutions. The CEEI represents energy consumption and greenhouse gas 
emissions from community activities in on-road transportation, buildings 
and solid waste. Estimates of land-use change from deforestation 
activities are also available at the regional district level.  
 
Comox Valley Regional District Board (CVRD) 
The CVRD has a board of 10 directors, comprising electoral area directors 
who are elected directly by rural area voters and serve four-year terms, 
and municipal directors who are first elected to a municipal council and 
are then appointed by council to the regional district board for a 
maximum term of four years. Annually, the board elects its chair who 
established committees to deal with issues such as land use planning, 
environmental management, and water supply. 
 
Contiguous 
Describes objects such as land parcels that adjoin and share a common 
border. 
 
Core Housing Need 
Core housing need refers to whether a household's housing falls below at 
least one of the indicator thresholds for housing adequacy, affordability, 

Definition 
added from 

Housing Need 
Report data 

Ministry 
name 

updated 

Board 
information 

updated 

Page 213 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 136  

or suitability. A household is considered to be in core housing need if it 
would have to spend 30 per cent or more of its total before-tax income to 
pay the median rent of alternative local housing that is acceptable. 
 
Core Settlement Areas 
Within the RGS, Core Settlement Areas are comprised of four land use 
designations: Municipal Areas, Settlement Nodes, and Settlement Expansion 
Areas. A minimum of 90 per cent of the growth within the Comox Valley 
will be directed to Core Settlement Areas, to promote the efficient use of 
land and public infrastructure, provide densities supportive of alternative 
transportation choices, and achieve environmental benefits resulting 
from compact growth. 
 
Density 
A measure of urban and rural form, expressed through various metrics 
such as the number of people, jobs, or buildings within a specific area. 
 
Ecosystem 
A complete system of living organisms interacting with the soil, land, 
water, and nutrients that make up their environment. An ecosystem is the 
home of living things, including humans. An ecosystem can be any size - a 
log, pond, field, forest, or the earth’s biosphere - but it always functions as 
a whole unit. Ecosystems are commonly described according to the major 
type of vegetation - for example, old-growth forest or grassland 
ecosystem.  
 
Ecosystem functions 
The physical, chemical and biological processes that keep an ecosystem 
operating. Examples include infiltration of surface water, 
evapotranspiration and nutrient cycling. 

 
Environmental Farm Plan (EFP) 
The EFP is a collaborative federal-provincial initiative that assists farmers 
in voluntarily assessing the environmental aspects of their agricultural 
operations. Through this process, farmers identify environmental 
strengths and areas for improvement, developing action plans to mitigate 
potential risks. Support is provided to complete the EFP and implement 

Definition 
updated 

Page 214 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 137  

these action plans, with grants available to partially fund specific 
environmental enhancements on the farm. 
 
Estuary 
An estuary is a partly enclosed coastal body of water with one or more 
rivers or streams flowing into it and a free connection to the open sea. 
Estuaries form a transition zone between river environments and ocean 
environments and are subject to both marine influences, such as tides, 
waves, and the influx of saline water; and riverine influences, such as 
flows of fresh water and sediment. These conditions make estuaries 
among the most productive natural habitats in the world. 
 
Greenhouse gas (GHG) 
GHGs are gasses in an atmosphere that absorb and emit radiation within 
the thermal infrared range. This process is the fundamental cause of the 
greenhouse effect. The main greenhouse gases in the Earth’s atmosphere 
are water vapor, carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, and ozone. The 
burning of fossil fuels since the beginning of the Industrial revolution has 
substantially increased the levels of carbon dioxide in the atmosphere. 
GHGs are typically generated from the use of fossil fuels to light, heat, 
cool and ventilate buildings (including homes and offices) and to power 
motorized vehicles, municipal operations, and industrial processes, and 
the decomposition of organic waste in landfills. 
 
Ground-truth 
In the earth sciences, the facts that are confirmed in an actual field check 
that is done at a location, specifically the determination of facts by 
examining the ground for patterns revealed by remote sensing or aerial 
photography. 
 
Habitat 
The area or natural environment where an organism or biological 
population lives, grows and interacts. 
 
Implementation Agreements (IAs) 
An IA is a partnership agreement between a regional district and other 
levels of government, their agencies or other bodies which spells out the 

Page 215 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 138  

details of how certain aspects of a RGS will be carried out.  
 
Improvement Districts  
Improvement Districts are autonomous local authorities governed by 
elected trustees, focused on providing services to local landowners (e.g., 
water provision). They are granted powers by the Province to enact and 
enforce regulations and charges, to assess and collect taxes, to acquire, 
hold and dispose of lands, to borrow money and to expropriate lands 
required to carry out its functions. Within the Comox Valley there are five 
Improvement Districts: Comox Fire Protection District, Courtenay Fire 
Protection District, Fanny Bay Waterworks District, Schmidt Improvement 
District (on Denman Island), and Ships Point Improvement District.21 
 
Integrated Stormwater Management Plan (ISMP) 
An ISMP is a stormwater management plan that will result in no net loss 
of environmental quality and protect communities from localized 
flooding. The process actively seeks and uses input from rightsholders 
and various interested parties within each watershed and brings together 
planning, engineering, ecology, and flood and erosion protection within 
an adaptive management methodology. 
 
Municipal Areas 
Municipal Areas are comprised of the City of Courtenay, the Town of 
Comox and the Village of Cumberland, as defined by their jurisdictional 
borders. Municipal Areas have considerable capacity to accommodate 
growth through both intensification (by means of secondary suites and 
infill development) and new compact development.  
 
Natural systems 
A set of interacting and interdependent entities forming an integrated 
whole. Properties of systems include they have structure, behaviour, 
interconnectivity and functions or groups of functions. Natural systems 
(e.g., the solar system) are different from designed systems, which are 
designed by humans (e.g., transportation system). 
 
Provincial Parks 

 
21 CivicInfo BC 

Information 
updated 

Stakeholder 
replaced 

with 
updated 
language 

Provincial 
Park 

information 
updated 

Page 216 of 422

https://www.civicinfo.bc.ca/improvementdistricts.php?type=ss&region=&regionaldistrict=28&location=


 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 139  

There are six provincial parks within the CVRD (excluding Denman and 
Hornby Islands). These parks include Strathcona Provincial Park, Wood 
Mountain Ski Park, Miracle Beach Park, Kitty Coleman Beach Park, Kin 
Beach Park and Rosewall Creek Park. These areas are protected and run 
by the Province. They provide opportunities for greenway linkages and 
recreation throughout the region. 
 
Publicly owned 
An organization supplying a service operated by a private corporation 
under government regulation or by the government directly. 
 
Regional Growth Strategy (RGS) 
The RGS is a regional vision that commits affected municipalities and 
regional districts to a course of action to meet common social, economic 
and environmental objectives. It is initiated and adopted by a regional 
district and referred to all affected local governments for acceptance. 
 
Regional Context Statement (RCS) 
The RGS forms a portion of a municipality’s OCP and sets out the 
relationship between the RGS and the municipality’s plan. This statement 
is prepared by the municipality and referred to the regional district for 
acceptance. 
 
Resource Areas   
Resource Areas encompass designated Upland Resource Areas in historic 
OCPs. They are mainly located to the west of the inland Highway 19 and 
fall under the “Class 7 Managed Forest Land” category of the BC Land 
Classification and must comply with the Private Managed Forest Act.  
 
Rural Areas  
Rural Areas are comprised of designated Rural Settlement Areas and 
Agricultural Areas. Supporting the rural character and function of these 
areas, including the working agricultural land base and aquaculture 
areas, will be prioritized in planning considerations.  
 
Rural Settlement Areas 
The Rural Settlement Areas encompass all lands within the electoral areas 

Referenced 
OCP 

replaced 
with the 

one 
adopted in 

2014 

Agricultural 
Areas within 

Municipal 
Areas added 

because it was 
missing from 

the list 

Page 217 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 140  

outside of Core Settlement Areas that are not otherwise designated as 
Agricultural Areas, Agricultural Areas within Municipal Areas, Resource Areas, 
or Provincial Parks.  
 
Sensitive Ecosystem Inventory (SEI) 
The SEI is a federal and provincial government mapping project to 
systematically identify and map rare and fragile ecosystems in each area. 
The SEI is intended for use in a variety of land-use planning processes to 
identify remnants of rare and fragile ecosystems (on land) and to 
encourage land-use decisions that will ensure the continued integrity of 
these ecosystems. 
 
Sensitive Ecosystems 
Sensitive ecosystems are areas that may contain rare, threatened and 
fragile ecosystems and support high levels of biodiversity. 
 
Settlement Expansion Areas 
Settlement Expansion Areas are located on the fringe of Municipal Areas. 
They have been identified for either or a combination of the following: (1) 
they contain existing settlements with private water and/or sewer 
servicing that will eventually require the extension of publicly operated 
water and sewer services, coincident with boundary extensions, or 
satisfactory servicing agreements, to address public health and 
environmental issues before they arise; or, (2) they have the potential to 
accommodate future growth subject to boundary extensions and the 
provision of publicly-owned water or sewer services. 
 
Settlement Nodes 
Settlement Nodes reflect the planned settlement areas in Union Bay, 
Saratoga Beach and Mount Washington, as establish through historic 
Local Area Plans. They are areas where there is planned growth to 
accommodate urban forms of development, but they are not contiguous 
with Municipal Areas. 
 
Town Centres 
Town Centres are located within the Core Settlement Areas and are to be 
developed as walkable and complete communities, providing for the 

Referenced 
LAPs 

repealed 
and/or 

replaced 

Page 218 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 141  

broadest range of housing, employment and commercial uses. Town 
Centres should support transit oriented development through the 
establishment of minimum densities, in the range of 100-150 combined 
residents and jobs per hectare with a reduced minimum of 75 combined 
residents and jobs per hectare for ground orientated housing, within the 
OCPs. 
 
Transit oriented development 
Transit oriented development is an approach to land use planning that 
locates high-density, mixed-use development within walking distance 
from frequent transit services. Transit oriented development typically 
incorporates a variety of land uses, including residential, commercial 
(such as, grocery stores and retail) and community amenities (such as 
childcare and community centres). Transit oriented development 
promotes the creation of complete, liveable, and sustainable communities 
by building more homes near transit and services. 
 
Treaty negotiations 
A treaty is a negotiated agreement that will spell out the rights, 
responsibilities and relationships of First Nations and the federal and 
provincial governments. The negotiation process is likely to deal with far-
reaching issues such as land ownership, governance, wildlife and 
environmental management. 
 
Watershed 
An area of land that contributes runoff to a specific delivery point, such as 
the mouth of a river. Large watersheds may be composed of many 
smaller sub-watersheds, each contributing runoff to various streams and 
rivers that ultimately combine at a common delivery point. 
 
Xeriscaping 
Xeriscaping refers to landscaping and gardening in ways that reduce or 
eliminate the need for supplemental irrigation. It is promoted in areas 
that do not have easily accessibly supplies of fresh water and is gaining 
acceptance in other areas as climate patterns shift. 
 
Zero Net Deforestation (ZND) 

Definition 
updated to 
align with 
Province’s 
definition 

Page 219 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 142  

Legislated by the BC government in March 2010, the goal of the Act is to 
achieve ZND by December 31, 2015. The Act sets the ZND goal in 
legislation, defines key terms and sets out the reporting requirements for 
government. Encourages an equal area of trees to be planted for carbon 
storage to offset any forest land that is permanently cleared for another 
use. Measured by area, the amount of afforestation is not less than the 
amount of deforestation. Note that this Zero Net Deforestation Act was 
passed in June 2010, but not in force. 
 
Zero Net Deforestation Act 
Legislated by the BC government in March 2010, the goal of the Act is to 
achieve ZND by December 31, 2015. The Act sets the ZND goal in 
legislation, defines key terms and sets out the reporting requirements for 
government. Note that this Act was passed in June 2010, but not in force. 

Status of 
the Act 

updated 

Page 220 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 143  

  

Page 221 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 144  

  
 Appendices 
 Appendix A: Principles/Policy Objectives 

Matrix 
X 

   
   

   

   

 

Page 222 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 145  

 
 
 
 

Appendix A 
Principles/Policy Objectives Matrix 

 

One minor 
change: K’ómoks 
Treaty ratification 

Page 223 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 146  

Appendix A: Principles/Policy objectives matrix 

Policy Objectives 

 

Growth Management Principles 
 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

H
ou

si
ng

 1A   ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔  ✔     

1B   ✔ ✔ ✔  ✔ ✔  ✔  ✔   

1C   ✔ ✔ ✔  ✔ ✔  ✔  ✔   

1D     ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔     

Ec
os

ys
te

m
s,

 
N

at
ur

al
 

A
re

as
 a

nd
 

Pa
rk

s 
2A ✔ ✔  ✔           

2B ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔  ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔  

2C ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔       ✔  ✔  

Lo
ca

l  
Ec

on
om

ic
 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 3A   ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔     ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ 

3B    ✔   ✔ ✔  ✔ ✔  ✔  

3C   ✔          ✔  

3D     ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔  ✔    ✔ 

Tr
an

sp
or

-
ta

ti
on

 4A   ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔  ✔    ✔ 

4B   ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔  ✔     

4C   ✔  ✔ ✔        ✔ 

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 5A  ✔   ✔ ✔   ✔ ✔     

5B ✔ ✔  ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔     

5C ✔ ✔   ✔          

5D  ✔   ✔ ✔   ✔ ✔     

5E ✔ ✔   ✔ ✔         

Fo
od

 S
ys

te
m

s 

6A   ✔  ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔   

6B   ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔   

6C   ✔   ✔     ✔    

6D   ✔        ✔ ✔   

6E   ✔        ✔    

Pu
bl

ic
 

H
ea

lt
h 

 
an

d 
 

Sa
fe

ty
 7A  ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔  ✔     

7B  ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔  ✔     

7C  ✔ ✔   ✔         

Cl
im

at
e 

Ch
an

ge
 

8A  ✔ ✔ ✔           

8B  ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔  ✔     

8C  ✔ ✔ ✔  ✔         

8D ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔  ✔   ✔  

8E  ✔ ✔ ✔       ✔ ✔ ✔  

8F ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔           

Page 224 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 147  

GOAL 1: HOUSING 

Ensure a diversity of affordable housing options to meet evolving regional 
demographics and needs. 

Objective 1-A: Locate housing close to existing services 

Objective 1-B: Increase affordable housing options 

Objective 1-C: Develop and maintain a diverse, flexible housing stock 

Objective 1-D: Minimize the public costs of housing 

 

 

GOAL 2: ECOSYSTEMS, NATURAL AREAS AND PARKS 

Protect, steward, and enhance the natural environment and ecological 
connections and systems. 

Objective 2-A: Identify and map areas for conservation.  

Objective 2-B: Frame environmental protection and policies around 
the principles of precaution, connectivity and restoration. 

Objective 2-C: Promote environmental best practices in Agricultural 
and Resource Areas. 

 

 

GOAL 3: LOCAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

Achieve a sustainable, resilient, and dynamic local economy that supports 
businesses and the region’s entrepreneurial spirit. 

Objective 3-A: Support local business retention, development and 
investment 

Objective 3-B: Increase regional job base 

Objective 3-C: Support resource-based employment opportunities 

Objective 3-D: Promote designated Town Centres as regional 
employment centres. 

 

 

GOAL 4: TRANSPORTATION 

Develop an accessible, efficient and affordable multi-modal transportation 

Page 225 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 148  

network that connects Core Settlement Areas and designated Town Centres; 
and links the Comox Valley to neighbouring communities and regions. 

Objective 4-A: Increase public transit use. 

Objective 4-B: Improve bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure to 
increase the use of active transportation options. 

Objective 4-C: Develop and maintain an inter-regional transportation 
system that efficiently and safely facilitates the movement of people 
and goods.  

 

 

GOAL 5: INFRASTRUCTURE 

Provide affordable, effective, and efficient services and infrastructure that 
conserves land, water, and energy resources. 

Objective 5-A: Promote water conservation and efficiency throughout 
the Comox Valley.  

Objective 5-B: Protect the quality of water sources. 

Objective 5-C: Stormwater is managed to preserve ecosystem and  

watershed health. 

Objective 5-D: Encourage sewage management approaches and 
technologies that respond to public health needs and maximize 
existing infrastructure. 

Objective 5-E: Reduce regional solid waste and improve landfill 
performance. 

 

 

GOAL 6: FOOD SYSTEMS 

Support and enhance the agricultural and aquaculture sectors; and increase 
local food security. 

Objective 6-A: Protect land for existing and future agriculture and 
associated activities and allow for the growth and expansion of such 
activities.  

Objective 6-B: Protect shoreline areas for existing and future 
aquaculture and associated activities  

Objective 6-C: Improve and expand agricultural irrigation practices 

Page 226 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 149  

and infrastructure 

Objective 6-D: Increase farming activity in the Comox Valley 

Objective 6-E: Raise awareness of the regional importance of the local 
food system 

 

 

GOAL 7: PUBLIC HEALTH AND SAFETY 

Support a high quality of life through the protection and enhancement of 
community health, safety, and well-being.  

Objective 7-A: Increase the number of pedestrians and cyclists in the 
Comox Valley.  

Objective 7-B: Increase public education and awareness around the 
links between population health and land use planning 

Objective 7-C: Improve regional fire safety  

 

 

GOAL 8: CLIMATE CHANGE 

Minimize regional greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and plan for adaptation. 

Objective 8-A: Reduce GHG emissions created by the building sector. 

Objective 8-B: Reduce GHG emissions created by the on-road 
transportation sector  

Objective 8-C: Reduce GHG emissions in the solid waste sector. 

Objective 8-D: Reduce GHG emissions created by deforestation (land 
use change). 

Objective 8-E: Plan for renewable energy generation  

Objective 8-F: Plan for climate change adaptation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 227 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 150  

Growth Management Principles 

 

1. Protect key natural and ecological features throughout the Comox 
Valley. 

2. Take actions to address public health and environmental issues as 
they are identified and where possible, before they arise. 

3. Recognize the distinctiveness of existing communities and ensure 
the needs of both urban and rural areas are met. 

4. Recognize that K’ómoks First Nation ratified their Treaty on March 
8, 2025, and that there should be ongoing collaboration and 
cooperation between the local governments and K’ómoks First 
Nation. 

5. Promote the efficient use of land, provide greater transportation 
choices, reduce public servicing costs and achieve environmental 
benefits through compact growth. 

6. Ensure the efficient use and financial viability of existing and 
planned investment in public infrastructure. 

7. Promote intensification, compact growth and supportive public 
transit services throughout Municipal Areas as the primary means of 
accommodating population and employment growth. 

8. Limit the number of existing and planned Settlement Nodes outside 
of the Municipal Areas and ensure that such nodes are developed in 
a compact and transit-supportive manner. 

9. Identify areas of existing development on the fringes of Municipal 
Areas that should eventually be incorporated through boundary 
extensions and provided with publicly owned water and sewer 
services to address existing public health and environmental issues. 

10. Identify areas for new development on the fringes of Municipal 
Areas that should eventually be incorporated through boundary 
extensions and provided with publicly owned water and sewer 
services to allow for new growth opportunities in a phased and 
orderly manner. 

11. Protect the character of Rural Areas as primarily working 
landscapes, including agricultural and aquaculture areas, so that 
such functions can remain economically viable and grow. 

12. Promote and support growth within Rural Areas, provided that the 
rural character and primary rural functions are maintained. 

Treaty 
ratification 

updated 

Page 228 of 422



 

Schedule ‘A’ Comox Valley Regional Growth Strategy Bylaw No. 120, 2010 Page | 151  

13. Maintain resource areas as primarily working landscapes for 
resource extraction. 

14. Promote and support the overall economic viability of the municipal 
areas so that they can continue to provide primary base for 
residential, commercial and institutional activities.

Page 229 of 422



 

 Page 230 of 422



 

 

 

  
 Maps 
    
    

    

    

Map changes 
include updates to 
ALR and municipal 
boundaries, along 

with their 
corresponding 
designations. 

 

Page 231 of 422



 

 

 

DRAFT 

Page 232 of 422



 

 

 

DRAFT 

Page 233 of 422



 

 

 

DRAFT 

Page 234 of 422



 

 

 

DRAFT 

Page 235 of 422



 

 

 

DRAFT 

Page 236 of 422


